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Corporate Information
LNEIER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. Ning Qifeng (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Yingwu (appointed on 10 January 2024)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Han Xu
Mr. Zhang Lin
Mr. Ding Benxi (removed on 10 January 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. Chen Yan
Mr. He Zhiping
Dr. Teng Bing Sheng
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Dr. Chen Yan (Chairwoman)
Mr. He Zhiping
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Ning Qifeng (Chairman)
Dr. Chen Yan
Dr. Teng Bing Sheng

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Hui Wai Man, Shirley
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COMPANY'S WEBSITE

www.wanda-hotel.com.hk
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MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
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Chairman's Statement

FEE

Dear Shareholders,

We have bid farewell to the energetic year of 2023 and turned a new
page to the hopeful year of 2024. The tourism market in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) has speeded up its recovery in the past
year. Domestic travel and leisure activities are heading for a new stage
of prosperous development. Against this backdrop, with its dedication
in the pursuit of innovation and being practical throughout 2023, Wanda
Hotel Development Company Limited (“the Company”, together with
its subsidiaries “the Group”), achieved its progress in terms of business
performance steadily.

As of 31 December 2023, the Group added 35 new managed hotels
which commenced the operation. The number of operating hotels
managed by the Group has been expanded to 157 with over 33,000
hotel rooms. Moreover, there were over 300 hotels contracted to
be managed by the Group under construction or pending for grand
opening, covering over 200 cities worldwide. In 2023, the Group
recorded revenues and profits attributable to the equity holders of the
parent of HK$983.1 million and HK$165.2 million, respectively (2022:
HK$816.8 million and HK$193.2 million respectively). Our financial
position remains robust and the Group was still in net cash position,
which prepared us well to continue to actively execute our business
growth initiatives.

Regarding new hotels, the Wanda hotel group in Xiaohe New City,
Shanxi, opened in January 2023, is an integrated project designed,
constructed, and managed by the Group. It is also the largest, best-
equipped, and most comprehensive modern service architectural
complex and a new landmark in Taiyuan City, Shanxi Province. With the
rise of destination tourism and urban micro-vacation, Wanda Vista Hotel
in Fuxian Lake and Wanda Jin Hotel in Beijing’s Pinggu District have
also opened. In terms of brand marketing and digitalization, Wanda Club
celebrated its tenth anniversary in May 2023 and initiated a triple renewal
of brand image, interactive experiences, and membership benefits,
with the number of members surpassing ten million. Wanda hotel’s
e-commerce performance reached a new high on Double Eleven Day,
with total sales exceeding RMB300 million, ranking first among domestic
hotel groups on Fliggy for three consecutive years, achieving a three-
peat.
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Looking forward to 2024, it is expected that the recovery of the tourism
and hospitality sector will gradually become stable after a protracted
period of pent-up travel demand has been released. We will continue
to enhance our internal core competencies, deliver excellent products
and services, and identify more growth and breakthrough opportunities.
In the future, the Group will continue to adhere with our core values
of “People-oriented, caring for every staff, warming every customer,
fulfilling our responsibilities to our partners”, adhere to asset-light
development strategy and fully leverage our advantages in integration,
with dedication to be recognized as a valuable asset management
company with its core competency in hotel business. We are confident
in achieving long-termism and sustainable business, strengthening
business growth momentum, and well preparing for medium- and long-
term development, while promoting Chinese culture with national self-
confidence and creating the most influential Chinese branded hotels with
the most distinctive Chinese characteristics.

On behalf of the Group, | would like to express my sincere gratitude to
all shareholders, directors, management teams, employees, business
partners, and all individuals from various sectors who have provided
strong support and contribution. We were steadfast in making progress
and long-term strategies in 2023. In 2024, we will gather momentum
and accomplish our mission. Let us walk and explore the way together in
20241

Ning Qifeng
Chairman

25 March 2024
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Business Review

ZE 750l

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “Year” or “2023”), the

Group’s principal businesses are divided into the following three business

segments:—

Hotel business 1. Hotel operation and management services

2. Hotel design and construction management
services

Property business 3. Investment property leasing

HOTEL BUSINESS

During 2023, the Group’s hotel businesses were operated by Wanda
Hotel Management (HK) Co., Ltd. (“Wanda Hotel Management” together
with its subsidiaries “Wanda Hotel Management Group”). Wanda
Hotel Management Group is a leading hotel services provider in the
PRC and is principally engaged in the business of hotel management
and operation, hotel design, hotel construction management and
related consultancy and other ancillary business, with comprehensive
capabilities in hotel management and operation.

Hotel Operation and Management Services

During 2023, the hotels managed by the Group were operated under
three models, namely:—

1. leased-and-operated hotels;
2. managed hotels; and
3. franchised hotels.

The Group expanded the hotel network under the Group’s management
from 122 hotels with 28,656 rooms as of 31 December 2022 to 157
hotels with over 33,900 rooms as of 31 December 2023. As of 31
December 2023, an additional 312 hotels were contracted to be
managed by the Group but were still under development and had not
commenced operation yet.

6 Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited
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Our hotel brands

Business Review
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FAFIRYEIE mhd

The Group adopts multi-brand strategy which is designed to target AEBKRBLREREUMERRE BN
segments of customers with distinctive preferences and needs. Set forth BREFEER - UTIRAEEBRIEEN
below are the major brands of hotels under which the Group currently FEREmE CEERED)  —

manages by category:—

e Full-service hotel brands — Wanda Reign, Wanda Vista, Wanda o ZIRFHALERKM-BERE BENE
Realm, Wanda Jin, Wanda Vi and Wanda Amber BERE BERE SEBEEAEED
A

o Limited-service hotel brands — Wanda Moments, Wanda Yue and . BRIRBABIEME-—BERE BEIR

Wanda Encore

ERBERN

Hotel Brand Service Features

JBIE an 8 RFBEE

Wanda Reign ° An ultra-luxury hotel brand for celebrities and social elites that delivers ultimate
personalized services and transcends every expectation.

BEmmE e BHELRKBEAL REBZIBIEMCRORT  WITEHmEIE N8R
B 2 5 hE o

Wanda Vista o A luxury hotel brand for distinguished guests who appreciate extraordinary services in
oriental elegance that seamlessly blends with local culture.

BEXE e REHRBELEFENESER USRS EEESMEBENEERS  LE

Wanda Realm

++

BERE

e

Wanda Jin

BizineE

Wanda Vi

BiEmE

Wanda Amber

{E%&ﬁm%}é&%ﬂ’\]%i/ﬁféuu% °

° A premium hotel brand built upon quality service of superb international standards for
business and leisure travelers.

e REBKRITERABEEREZ RERELT SMEFBNEEICRTE I F UL 0
AR S IH AR B/E A o

o A premium and selected service hotel brand built upon boutique design and quality
service offering a balanced life experience for business and leisure travelers.

e REBKITAMNHEEREZ EHERRFEBEHEERS UEETIFEYE
FETHBRNSmEEGIS R

o A premium high-end lifestyle hotel brand offering distinctive design, imaginative and
livable space to travelers pursuing exquisiteness and surprises in life.
o BRE EE,% TRFES BERBmIRKERHZERAR AW EGRT '
B 4458 iR A& 5 TUB S fh ko

° A high-end customized hotel brand creating a warm, comfortable and wonderful
atmosphere for business and leisure travelers.

o AEBHIT REERINIKE RHER O E 1R S B E ik E BEE @A o
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The following table sets forth a breakdown of hotel brands and
operational model of hotels in operation managed by the Group as at 31

Hotel Brand
BIE g

Service Features

RFEE

Wanda Moments

i
ﬁNﬂ;
>HjE

it

Wanda Yue

mizthe

Wanda Encore

BEZR

December 2023:—

*

8

A high-end midscale hotel brand dedicating to offer quality design and select services
for the ultimate comfort of business travelers.

RO ABERERK - ERERLE - BRTABRNBERB M  REBERBHF
= I ER 5TIBE mmhg o

A midscale hotel brand offering intimate services to business travelers who are willing
to experience new trends.

WA DR BRI R RB A 1T MR O IR B IR AE A o

A high-end midscale hotel brand featuring a consistent, safe and cosy experience for
business and leisure travelers.

AEBHT - KAEEBRNUKRERBHELRUN—NEZ2 - 20 -LENFEIHEE D
h& o

RN =F+"B=+—H A
[EmEEERN TR AEREEEEER
BYBIE R  —

Operational Model

mEEN
Leased-and-
Operated Managed Franchised Number of
Hotels Hotels Hotels Hotel Room
fHEM &g REriE

RETHIE BIE BIE EE#H
(’000)
(Fr)

Hotel Brands BIE M
Wanda Reign BiERE - 4 0.9
Wanda Vista BiENE - 18 1 5.6
Wanda Realm BiERE - 43 2 12,7
Wanda Jin EpedinEc - 11 3 4.1
Wanda Yi EiEmEE 1 6 - 1.8
Wanda Moments BiEEE 3 30 - 3.9
Wanda Yue BERE - 22 1 2.7
Others* H - 11 1 2.2
Grand Total e 4 145 8 33.9

Included Wanda Amber and Wanda Encore * OB ETREEERIR
Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited

Annual Report 2023



Managed hotels

As of 31 December 2023, we had 145 managed hotels, accounting
for approximately 92.4% of all of our hotels in operation. Under the
managed hotel model, we license our relevant brand to hotel owners,
manage hotels through the on-site hotel management team who we
appoint, and charge and collect management fees from hotel owners.

For our managed hotels, we offer hotel owners the right to use our brand
name, logo, operating manuals and procedures. These hotels will be
operated in accordance with our brand standard, including converting
the hotel property such that it conforms to the standard design and
layout of the corresponding brand offering under our supervision,
becoming integrated into our central reservation system and hotel
management IT system, and being included in our consumable goods
procurement system. The property owners are responsible for the
costs of developing and operating their hotels, including the costs of
renovating the hotels to meet our standards.

Franchised hotels

As of 31 December 2023, we had eight franchised hotels, accounting for
approximately 5.1% of all of our hotels in operation. Under the franchised
hotel model, we license our relevant brand to hotel owners similar to the
managed hotel model, but we provide training, reservation and support
services to the franchised hotels, collect fees from franchisees and do
not appoint on-site hotel management personnel. In addition, these
hotels will operate in accordance with our brand standards, including
bringing the hotel properties into compliance with the appropriate brand
standards under our supervision.

For our franchised hotels, we offer hotel owners the right to use our
brand name, logo, operating manuals and procedures, and convert the
franchised hotels in accordance with our brand standard similar to our
managed hotels. However, as opposed to appointing hotel managers
to manage the hotels on-site, we provide training to hotel staff and
offer reservation and support services to the franchised hotels. In order
to ensure that services offered by the franchised hotels are of quality
and consistent with other hotels managed by us, the Group carries out
periodic assessment and report on various aspects of the operation of
the franchised hotels.

Business Review

75018
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Leased and operated hotels

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had four leased-and-operated
hotels, accounting for approximately 2.5% of our hotels in operation.
Under the leased-and-operated hotels model, the Group leases hotels
from hotel owners, and manages and operates these hotels with all of
the accompanying expenses borne by the Group.

For our leased-and-operated hotels, we are responsible for recruiting,
training and supervising the hotel managers and employees, paying for
leases and costs associated with construction and renovation of these
hotels, and purchasing all supplies and other required equipment. Our
leased-and-operated hotels are located on leased properties and the
terms of our leases typically range from 15 to 20 years, with an initial 2
to 15-month rent-free period. We generally pay fixed rent on a quarterly
or biannual basis for the first 3 to 5 years of the lease term, after which
we are generally subject to a pre-determined rent increase annually. Our
leases usually allow term extensions by mutual agreement. As of 31
December 2023, none of our leases were expected to expire in one year.

Key performance indicators

Revenue per available room (“RevPAR”) is the non-financial key
performance indicator which the senior management of the Group
reviews frequently. It is a key performance indicator commonly used
in the hospitality industry and is defined as the product of average
occupancy rates and average daily rates per room achieved. Occupancy
rates of our hotels mainly depend on the locations of our hotels, the
product and service offering, the effectiveness of our sales and brand
promotion efforts, our ability to effectively manage hotel reservations, the
performance of managerial staff and other employees of our hotels, as
well as our ability to respond to competitive pressure. We set the room
rates of our hotels primarily based on the location of hotels, room rates
charged by our competitors within the same locality and our relative
brand and product strength in the city or city cluster.

10 Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited
Annual Report 2023
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The following table sets forth our occupancy rate, average daily room

rate, and RevPAR for our hotels for the Year and the year ended 31

December 2022 by service category:—

Business Review
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TREFIHPRBRFENNEEEREE
e T E+ A=+ —HULEFEERNEERN
AEX - IHESHEEAFHAIEEEZEREK
A=

For the Year Ended
31 December

HE
+ZHA=+—HLEE
2023 2022

—E-= BT F
Occupancy rate (%) AEZE(%)
All hotels FrAaEE 55.9% 43.5%
Full-service hotels 2RFEAEE 54.7% 43.0%
Limited-service hotels BIRRFEAIS 62.2% 46.5%
Average daily rate (RMB) THEHEE (AR
All hotels FrBE AL 499 449
Full-service hotels 2R ANE 542 479
Limited-service hotels BRRZE AR 301 276
RevPAR (RMB) FYTHATEBRA (ABE)
All hotels FriBAEIE 279 195
Full-service hotels 2 RFAE 297 206
Limited-service hotels ERRF AE 187 129

BEEERBRARAT 11
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The following table sets forth our occupancy rate, average daily room TREFIHMBREBELSEEANEAFEREE

rate, and RevPAR for our hotels during the Year and the year ended 31 TE T TF+_R=1+—HIFEMNBEEDN
December 2022 by operational model:— AFEE - FHESHEEAFEFHATEEEZEREK
A=
For the Year Ended
31 December
8=
+ZBA=+—HLEE
2023 2022

== BT TF
Occupancy rate (%) AEE(%)
All hotels FREBEIS 55.9% 43.5%
Leased-and-operated hotels HENRKEAR 66.9% 60.3%
Managed hotels BIEAIE 55.8% 42.8%
Franchised hotels REr AR 50.8% 42.4%
Average daily rate (RMB) THEHEE (AR
Al hotels FREBEIS 499 449
Leased-and-operated hotels HENRKEAR 260 242
Managed hotels BIEAIE 513 466
Franchised hotels R ErEEAIE 397 349
RevPAR (RMB) FHETHBAZTERA (AR
Al hotels FRAEBIS 279 195
Leased-and-operated hotels FAERKEAR 174 146
Managed hotels IS 287 199
Franchised hotels R EraEEAIE 202 148

During 2023, the RevPAR increased by approximately 43.1% to RIZZ=HF> FHIUEEEERARZ-ZE
approximately RMB279 from approximately RMB195 in 2022. The ~ ZIZHFEMHARE1957T EFAA43.1%ZELIA
increase in RevPAR was primarily due to the liting of lockdowns and R&27970 - FHAHBEREEW AN EAEE
travel restrictions imposed in the PRC in relation to the COVID-19 EEIE ETE T KRR EAPEARICOVID-19

coronavirus pandemic (the “Pandemic”) towards the end of 2022, which 5 (M5 BN A IRTITIREINE®R
led to a significant increase in the occupancy rate of the hotels managed K% EFEEAENAFTERAFEHNERS
by the Group during the Year. E AP

12 Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited
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The following table sets out our occupancy rate, average daily room rate
and RevPAR for our hotels for 2023 and 2022 respectively by service

category on a quarterly basis:—

Business Review
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TR HMARBERFENZFTER-F

=K

—=——

—_—<——

AEEMFE]HEERYA (—

FBENAERF1IE

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter First Quarter
ENEE E=FE BIFE -5
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
ZEIZHE “TZT"F ZEIZE TE-"F ZEBIZE “EC"F ZEIZE “E°"FE
Occupancy rate (%) AEE(%)
All hotels FrE AR 53.9% 40.6% 63.0% 54.2% 55.7% 40.8% 50.6% 37.6%
Full-service hotels 2IREEE 52.6% 39.8% 61.8% 54.1% 54.4% 42.4% 50.3% 36.6%
Limited-service hotels BREBBRE 59.7% 45.5% 68.9% 55.1% 66.9% 34.0% 53.1% 46.9%
Average daily rate (RMB) F95HEE (ARE)
All hotels FrE AR 470 408 515 491 495 406 514 475
Full-service hotels 2REBESE 515 436 560 516 542 425 551 504
Limited-service hotels BRRBARE 299 265 318 288 31 273 284 244
RevPAR (RMB) FHYTHAZERA
(ARH)
Al hotels P AL 253 166 325 266 275 166 260 178
Full-senvice hotels 2IRBEE 271 173 346 279 292 180 a1 185
Limited-service hotels BRRE AR 178 121 219 159 208 93 151 114
BEBEZERAMRAT 13
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The following table sets out our occupancy rate, average daily room rate,
and RevPAR for our hotels for 2023 and 2022 respectively by operation
model on a quarterly basis:-

TREIRMBRBECEEARFTER-Z
TEFERTECCFAENAER T
SHEEMFHAIHARTEEA | —

Fourth Quarter Third Quarter Second Quarter First Quarter
BMEE B=FE EZFE E-FE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022

ZEC-zZH - "F ZE-Zf “T_"F ZE-ZE “T__F “E-ZE “_T__F
Occupancy rate (%) AEE(%)
All hotels FARL 53.9% 40.6% 63.0% 54.2% 55.7% 40.8% 50.6% 37.6%
Leased-and-operated hotels & B8 & A5 66.2% 54.1% 72.6% 71.6% 71.9% 55.4% 55.6% 60.3%
Managed hotels BEAE 53.6% 40.6% 62.7% 53.7% 55.6% 40.5% 50.4% 37.0%
Franchised hotels B ERE 52.6% 35.8% 63.0% 49.6% 51.6% 42.3% 51.2% 30.5%
Average daily rate RMB) TF#8HERE (ARH)
All hotels FrEARL 470 408 515 491 495 406 514 475
Leased-and-operated hotels A& B4CE HIE 249 227 253 277 270 242 275 214
Managed hotels BEBE 483 437 531 510 516 420 529 498
Franchised hotels RS 398 471 397 369 397 346 398 386
RevPAR (RMB) EHHEZERA

(AE®)

All hotels AL 253 166 325 266 275 166 260 178
Leased-and-operated hotels A& LA EERE 165 123 184 199 194 134 153 129
Managed hotels BEBRE 259 177 333 274 287 170 267 184
Franchised hotels B CEEE 209 168 250 183 205 147 204 17

Hotel design and construction management services

The Group’s hotel design business and construction management
business target the same client base as the hotel management and
operation business. Our hotel design business mainly provides interior
and mechanical, electrical and plumbing design services (including
interior, furnishing, lighting, early and later stage design services,
mechanical and electrical parts design, kitchen and back-of-house
design) and charge design fees with reference to the building area of the
hotels on a per square meter basis, depending on the type of design
service rendered. Our hotel construction management business offers
consultancy and project management services to hotels managed by the
Group to ensure that the projects are completed according to the agreed
specifications in terms of cost, time and quality. The service fees charged
are based on a percentage of the total costs of the relevant project with
certain incentives for achieving cost-savings (against budget) targets.
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PROPERTY BUSINESS

Guilin Project, the PRC

In February 2014, the Company acquired a piece of state-owned land
in Guilin, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC with Wanda
Commercial Properties (Hong Kong) Co. Limited (‘Wanda HK”) in the
form of a joint venture, in which the Company holds 51% and Wanda
HK holds 49%. The project (“Guilin Project”) is located in the central
area of Guilin High-tech Zone, with planned total gross floor area of
approximately 330,000 sg.m., including 153,000 sg.m. of shopping mall
and 177,000 sg.m. of retail, residential and other properties for sale.

All saleable residential and retail properties of the Guilin Project have
been sold. The shopping mall opened in September 2015. With
satisfactory commercial leases and operating conditions, the shopping
mall has become a supreme landmark business centre in Guilin.

OUTLOOK

With the lifting of travel restrictions and pandemic control measures in
the PRC, we expect the domestic tourist market in the PRC to continue
to improve in 2024. The Group will closely monitor the performance of
our business operations. Moreover, the Group will continue to expand
our hotel network and plans to add 42 new hotels in 2024.

The Group will continue to prudently seek profitable investment
opportunities, further expand the Group’s sources of revenue, enhance
the Group’s profitability and maximize return for the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”).
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Revenue

The Group’s revenue rose by approximately 20.4% to approximately
HK$983.1 million for the Year (2022: HK$816.8 million). The following

KEFBRAREE 2 WHE
983,100,000/ 7t (ZZ Z 4 : 816,800,000/

=z

=

Wemm

I

TIEIN#20.4% E X

table below sets forth the revenue breakdown by business segment: — 70) ° FRETIREFRE D ERE DB PRAE - —
For the Year Ended
31 December
HE+-_A=+—HLEE
2023 2022 Changes
=F== —EBCHF BN
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 %
FAET FET FET %
Hotel operation and IS EE R B IR
management services 721,027 536,424 184,603 34.4%
Hotel design and construction SE/ERET RIERSIE
management services BR7 173,035 182,165 (9,130) (5.0%)
Investment properties leasing R E¥¥EHEE 89,006 98,191 (9,185) (9.4%)
Total 4Est 983,068 816,780 166,288 20.4%
Hotel operation and management services — Such revenue 1. BEEEREERE - -—ZWaRNZZ

16

increased by approximately 34.4% to approximately HK$721.0
million in 2023 (2022: HK$536.4 million), primarily due to the
increase in both hotel management services revenue and
hotel operation revenue by approximately 46.7% and 6.7%
to approximately HK$545.1 million and HK$175.9 million
respectively in 2023 (2022: HK$371.6 million and HK$164.8 million
respectively) as occupancy recovered significantly following the
liting of the pandemic-related lockdowns and restrictions in the
PRC by in December 2022.

Hotel design and construction management services —
Such revenue decreased by approximately 5.0% to approximately
HK$173.0 million in 2023 (2022: HK$182.2 million), mainly due to
the slowdown in work progress.

Investment properties leasing — Such revenue decreased by
approximately 9.4% to approximately HK$89 million in 2023 (2022:
HK$98.2 million), mainly due to the lower rental rates for leases
signed during the Year.
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Cost of sales

Cost of sales of the Group rose by approximately 19.1% to
approximately HK$564.0 million in 2023 (2022: HK$473.5 million).
Such increase was primarily due to the increase in the cost of sales of
hotel management services by approximately 49.3% to approximately
HK$246.2 million in 2023 (2022: HK$164.9 million) since 33 new
managed hotels commenced operation during the Year. However, the
cost of investment properties leasing dropped by approximately 16.3%
to approximately HK$33.5 million in 2023 (2022: HK$40.0 million) since
entrusted management services fee paid to Zhuhai Wanda Commercial
Management Group Co., Ltd. dropped as a result of lower bonus service
fee incurred during the Year.

Gross profit and gross profit margin

As a result of the above, both gross profit and gross profit margin of the
Group rose to approximately HK$419.0 million and 42.6% respectively in
2023 (2022: HK$343.3 million and 42% respectively).

Net valuation loss on investment properties

Net valuation loss on investment properties of the Group was
approximately HK$7.8 milion in 2023 (2022: HK$24.5 million). Such
valuation loss was attributed to the valuation loss in shopping mall of the
Guilin Project.
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Segment results

The following table illustrates the segment results of the Group for the
Year and 2022 respectively: —

DERER

TRERAERDINEAEFER—T - —
MIDBRZRAE (—

For the Year Ended 31
December

HE+-A=+—ALEE

2023 2022 Changes
—ZE== - 25
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 %
FAET FET FET %
Hotel operation and BIEEE R EIER
management services 212,765 130,917 81,848 62.5%
Hotel design and construction E/ERETMIEREE
management services BR7 8,429 33,850 (25,421) (75.1%)
Investment properties leasing REYEHRE 47,390 34,591 12,799 37.0%
Total “Est 268,584 199,358 69,226 34.7%

The unit of measurement used for reporting segment results is adjusted
profit before tax.

Hotel operation and management services — The segment profit
rose to approximately HK$212.8 million in 2023 (2022: HK$130.9
million), mainly due to the increase in segment revenue from the Group’s
business of hotel management services driven by improvement in
RevPAR of hotels but offset partially by the escalated general and
administrative overhead of approximately HK$19.7 million in 2023 as a
result of the increased salary and bonus expenses during the Year.

Hotel design and construction management services — The
segment profit decreased sharply by approximately 75.1% to
approximately HK$8.4 million in 2023 (2022: HK$33.9 million), mainly
due to the decrease in segment revenue as above-mentioned and the
increase of both segment cost of sales and general and administrative
expenses by approximately HK$8.4 million and HK$8.1 million
respectively in 2023 as a result of the increase in salary and bonus
expenses during the year.
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Investment properties leasing — The segment profit increased by
approximately 37.0% to approximately HK$47.4 million in 2023 (2022:
HK$34.6 million), mainly due to a lower valuation loss in 2023, as

compared to that in 2022.

Other income and gains, net

The Group’s net other income and gains decreased significantly to

approximately HK$30.3 million in 2023 from approximately HK$128.1

million in 2022, mainly as a result of the following factors:—

the decrease in the bank interest income significantly by
approximately HK$16.1 million since cash and cash equivalents
holding balance dropped during the Year as a result of cash being
used to repay the advance from an intermediate holding company;

the impairment of long-term receivables in relation to the deferred
amount from the disposal of interest in Parcel C LLC (the “Chicago
Project Disposal”), which amounted to HK$35.4 million in 2023
as compared to approximately HK$29.5 million in 2022. Such
impairment was estimated by an independent qualified valuer,
Cushman & Wakefield Limited, after performance of expected
credit loss (‘ECL”) analysis on the long-term receivables according
to HKFRS 9. The ECL analysis has considered the i) increase of
credit risk due to the extension of the maturity date of the long
term receivables and ii) multiple scenarios of possible credit loss by
using cash flow projection and discount rate. For further details of
the Chicago Project Disposal and the repayment terms of the long-
term receivables, please refer to the Company announcements
dated 30 July 2020, 17 August 2020 and 25 November 2020 and
the Company circular dated 29 September 2020;

the increase in the impairment of trade receivables and contract
assets by approximately HK$38.2 million and HK$10.3 million
respectively in 2023 after impairment analysis performed by the
management by reference to the credit risk characteristics of trade
receivables and contract assets as at 31 December 2023;
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iv.  the net exchange loss amounted to approximately HK$2.1 million
in 2023 as compared to net exchange gain of approximately
HK$6.8 million in 2022 as a result of fluctuation in foreign currency
during the Year;

V. the decrease in the interest income on long-term receivables in
relation to Chicago Project Disposal by approximately HK$18.5
million in 2023; and

vi.  the increase in the government grants from approximately
HK$13.7 million to approximately HK$26.5 million.

Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses rose by approximately 21.3% to
approximately HK$139.2 million in 2023 (2022: HK$114.8 million) as a
result of increased salary and bonus expenses following the recovery
of the operating performance. The ratio of selling and administrative
expenses over revenue rose to 14.2% in 2023 (2022: 14.0%).

Finance costs

Finance costs decreased by approximately 34.1% to approximately
HK$22.0 million in 2023 (2022: HK$33.4 million), primarily due to partial
repayment of a loan from an intermediate holding company since year
2022,

Income tax expense

The Group reported income tax expense of approximately HK$89.3
million in 2023 (2022: HK$66.1 million). The income tax expense
increased mainly due to: i) the increase of profit from hotel business; and
ii) a reversal of deferred tax asset provided in previous years in relation to
the impairment allowance provided by the Chicago Project Disposal.

The ratio of income tax expense over profit before tax increased to
approximately 31.8% in 2023 as compared to approximately 22.1% in
2022,
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NEEEN RAAB T ARG
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Profit for the Year and attributable to equity holders of the
Company
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ANFE(SEFI S B D ZE49191,100,0007 75 K
165,200,00078 7T 7 EIBER TR | —

Profit for the Year and attributable to equity holders of the Company
decreased to approximately HK$191.1 million and HK$165.2 million
respectively in 2023, as set forth in the following table:—

For the Year Ended
31 December

HE+-A=1+—HLEE
2023 2022 Changes
—F-= T CF 28
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHET FET FHET
Profit attributable to: T EFESRER
— Owners of the parent —&SR BEHEAA 165,154 193,242 (28,088)
— Non-controlling interests —FEER R 25,896 39,734 (13,8398)
Profit for the year REEZEF 191,050 232,976 (41,926)

Net assets and equity attributable to equity holders of the
parent

The table below sets forth the net assets and equity attributable to
the equity holders of the parent as at 31 December 2023 and 2022

BEFMEMBAREDTA ARGE

2L
=

m

TREVNDIN _E_=FR_E__
+_B=+—HMNEEFENRT AR

respectively: — BAELER  —
As at 31 December
®+ZHA=+—H
2023 2022
—E== BT
HK$’ million HKS$’ million
BE#ET BRATT
Total assets BB E 4,552.6 5,261.2
Total liabilities R =R 1,266.2 2,073.7
Net assets BEFE 3,286.4 3,187.5
Equity attributable to equity holders of the BRERERIFAE ARG ER

parents 2,708.0 2,567.3
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Long-term receivables

As of 31 December 2023, the Group had long-term receivables
of approximately HK$1,879.0 million (As of 31 December 2022:
HK$1,783.9 million). Such long-term receivables primarily represented:—

(i)

the deferred amount of the consideration (the “Deferred Amount”)
of approximately USD203.5 million from the Chicago Project
Disposal, which was completed on 24 November 2020 (the

“Completion Date”); and

the relevant interest incurred on the Deferred Amount.

The Deferred Amount is divided into two tranches. The first tranche of

the Deferred Amount (the “First Tranche Deferred Amount”) amounts to

approximately USD103.5 million with a maturity date of not later than
24 November 2023 (the “Initial Maturity Date”) which can be extended
for two successive one-year periods by the purchaser. The outstanding

amount of the First Tranche Deferred Amount earns interest on a

compound basis and is calculated as below:—

(i)

(v)

22

from Completion Date through and including the day immediately
preceding the first anniversary of Completion Date, at a rate of 8%;

from the first anniversary of Completion Date through and
including the day immediately preceding the second anniversary of
Completion Date, at a rate of 9%;

from the second anniversary of Completion Date through and
including the day immediately preceding the third anniversary of
Completion Date, at a rate of 10%; and

if the Initial Maturity Date of the First Tranche Subordinated Note
is elected to be extended from the third anniversary of Completion
Date through and including the Initial Maturity Date, at a rate of
15%.
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The second tranche of the Deferred Amount (the “Second Tranche

Deferred Amount”) amounts to USD100 million with a maturity date of

not later than the Initial Maturity Date which can also be extended for two

successive one-year periods by the purchaser. The outstanding amount

of the Second Tranche Deferred Amount earns interest on a compound

basis and is calculated as below:—

(i)

(i)

(v)

from Completion Date through and including the day immediately
preceding the first anniversary of Completion Date, at a rate of 3%;

from the first anniversary of Completion Date through and
including the day immediately preceding the second anniversary of
Completion Date, at a rate of 5%;

from the second anniversary of Completion Date through and
including the day immediately preceding the third anniversary of
Completion Date, at a rate of 7%; and

if the Initial Maturity Date of the Second Tranche Subordinated
Note is elected to be extended from the third anniversary of
Completion Date through and including the Initial Maturity Date, at
a rate of 15%.

The Deferred Amount is secured by a mortgage on certain condominium

units of the Chicago Project Disposal. For further details of the Chicago

Project Disposal and the Deferred Amount, please refer to the Company
announcements dated 30 July 2020, 17 August 2020 and 25 November
2020 and the Company circular dated 29 September 2020.
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Liquidity, borrowing and financial resources MEEE BRI ER

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s cash (including restricted bank A CE =+ B=+—H AEETIR
balance) amounted to approximately HK$359.2 million (As at 31 & (’T%*T“FE%HETT 45 8R) #973359,200,000
December 2022: HK$1,080.9 million) and primarily consisted of RMB. Brx (R -_F+ZA=+—H:
The table below sets forth the breakdown of cash by currency:— 1,080,900,000/87T) * FEA AR - TR
REEEEE D 2 RS —

As at 31 December

®+ZHA=+—H
2023 2022
(% to (% to
total cash) total cash)
(hIRE (HIRE
Ha%E%) HEEE%)
Renminbi ("RMB") AR TAR) 87 83
Australian Dollar HIT - 7

United States Dollar (“USD”) ESai(ESn)) 11

Hong Kong Dollar BT 2 1
100 100

As at 31 December 2023, the current ratio of the Group, which is the AR =F+ A=+ —H AEENRH
quotient arrived at by dividing current assets by current liabilities, was L BIRBIEERURBEEFEHE) &
1.16 (As at 31 December 2022: 1.02). 116 (MZBE“F+"A=1+—H:102)°

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s interest-bearing loan amounted RZE_=F+ZH=+—H > ~EENTE
to approximately HK$4.3 million (As at 31 December 2022: HK$11.4 BR#9454,300,000%8 7T (ﬁ(\:“:_ﬁ-f— H

million) and such loan was repayable within one year. =-+—H : 11,400,000787T) * ZERER—F
POfEIR o
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Below table sets out the gearing ratios of the Group:—
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TR EEENEREBLER —

As at 31 December

®w+=ZB=+—H

2023 2022

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FET

Total debts EF5HE%R 4,342 11,404

Less: Total cash and bank balances* JB IR MR TR BR AR RE" 359,169 1,080,921

Net cash IR 3R 354,827 1,069,517

Total equity “ERETS 3,286,433 3,187,483

Total assets B E 4,552,607 5,261,205
Gearing ratios: =N =] s

Net debts over aggregate of net debts and B FEEIGLUEFS FEEB AR Net Cash Net Cash

total equity 2 & HEE R 558

Net debts over total assets (BEI5FRBbRLUAEE E Net Cash Net Cash

REFEE IR HEE

*Including restricted cash
Foreign currency and interest rate exposure

During the Year, the Group’s business was principally conducted in RMB.
The functional currency of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC was
RMB and these subsidiaries do not have significant monetary assets or
liabilities denominated in currencies other than their respective functional
currencies. The Group’s exposure to currency risk during the Year was
primarily through the long-term receivables and the amount payable to
an intermediate holding company that are denominated in USD. The
Group maintains a conservative approach to foreign exchange exposure
management. During the Year, the Group did not use any financial
instruments to hedge against foreign currency exposure and did not
have any hedging instrument outstanding as at 31 December 2023.
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Financial Review

RA 750l A

As at 31 December 2023, the interest-bearing loan of approximately
HK$4.3 million of the Group was on a fixed rate basis. Accordingly, the
Group’s cost of borrowing was not subject to interest rate risks. This is
the Group’s policy to monitor the suitability and cost efficiency of hedging
instruments in order to manage interest rate risks, if any. The Group
will prudently consider entering into currency and interest rate hedging
arrangements to minimise such exposures if and when appropriate.

Pledge of assets

As at 31 December 20283, the Group had no pledge of its assets (as at
31 December 2022: Nil).

Changes in share capital

There are no change in the Company’s share capital during the Year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Details of the contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in note 30 to
the financial statements in this report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
AND ASSOCIATED COMPANY

The Group had no significant investment held, material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies during the Year.

DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

No Director has the right to acquire shares or debentures of the
Company or its subsidiaries.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had around 709 full-time
employees, who were located in the PRC (including Hong Kong) and the
USA.

During the Year, the Group remunerated its employees based on their
performance, experience and the prevailing market salaries. Performance
bonuses were granted on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits
include insurance and medical coverage, and subsidized educational
and training programs.

DIVIDEND

The Directors did not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
Year (2022: Nil).

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

As at the date that these consolidated financial statements were
approved, there is no event after the reporting period which should be
disclosed.

Financial Review
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Directors and Senior Management

EFEkEHREEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Ning Qifeng, aged 58, has been the Chairman since April 2021
and an executive Director since November 2017. Mr. Ning is also a first
vice president of Wanda Cultural Tourism Group and the president of
Wanda Hotel Management Group. Mr. Ning had been a vice president
of DWCM from December 2009 to June 2015 and had been a senior
vice president of DWCM from June 2015 to July 2017. Mr. Ning formerly
also served as a first vice president of DWCM,; a vice president and an
assistant to the president of Dalian Wanda Group; the general manager
of Wanda Hotel Construction Ltd. (BEAEEEZERAE) and
the dean of Wanda Commercial Planning and Research Institute (&
EmEEIREIZERT) . Mr. Ning has extensive experience in property
development and property management (including hotel development
and hotel construction management).

Mr. Ning obtained his bachelor’s degree in engineering from Northwest
Architecture Engineering Institute (FAIEEETEZPT) in July
1986, a master's degree in engineering from Northwest Metallurgical
Construction Institute (FAIEAEEZEZPT) in July 1992 and a Ph.D in
engineering from Tongji University (B AZ) in May 2004,

Mr. Liu Yingwu, aged 49, has been serving as the executive vice
president of Wanda Hotel Management Group and assistant to the
chief president of Wanda Cultural Tourism Group since March 2024.
Mr. Liu has served as an assistant to the senior president of Wanda
Commercial Management Group and president of Wanda Hotel Design
and Research Institute, in charge of the design and construction division
and development center since March 2017. Mr. Liu was an assistant
to the president of Wanda Commercial Management Group and the
dean of Wanda Hotel Design and Research Institute from September
2016 to March 2017 and the vice president of Wanda Hotel Design and
Research Institute from May 2013 to December 2015. Mr. Liu previously
served as the deputy general manager of Wanda Commercial Properties
Co., Ltd. and the deputy general manager of Wanda Xishuangbanna
International Tourism Resort Management Co., Ltd. Mr. Liu has extensive
experience in the field of commercial planning and design (including hotel
design management).

Mr. Liu obtained a bachelor’s degree from Hefei University of Technology
in July 1999 and a master’s degree in business administration from Hefei
University of Technology in July 2021.
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Directors and Senior Management

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Lin, aged 52, has been a non-executive Director since
November 2017. He has also been serving as the director of Dalian
Wanda Group since February 2011. Mr. Zhang has been serving as
the director of Wanda Industry Investment Co., Ltd since January
2021. From October 2020 to May 2022, he served as the president of
Wanda Investment Group. Mr. Zhang had been concurrently acting as
the chairman and a director of Wanda Film Holding Co. Ltd (B &E &
1B EFRAT]) (a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange,
stock code: 002739.S7) from November 2006 to December 2020, and
from July 2022 to January 2024; the chairman and a director of AMC
Entertainment Holdings, Inc. (a company listed on the New York Stock
Exchange, stock code: AMC) from August 2012 to March 2018 and
from December 2019 to July 2021; the chief executive officer of Beijing
Wanda Cultural Industry Group Co., Ltd JtREBEXCEXEEAIR
A7) (“Wanda Culture”) from December 2012 to December 2013, the
president of Wanda Culture from December 2013 to July 2020; and
the chairman and president of Wanda Culture from July 2022 onward;
the chairman of the board of Infront Holding AG from July 2015 to
September 2020, and from September 2022 onward; the chairman of
World Triathlon Corporation from November 2015 to July 2020; and
the chairman of Wanda Sport Group Company Limited (a company
listed on the NASDAQ in the form of American Depositary Receipts)
since November 2018. In addition, Mr. Zhang had also been a non-
executive director of DWCM since December 2009 to 29 January 2016
and from May 2022 onward, he has served as its president. He joined
Dalian Wanda Group in March 2000 and formerly held various positions,
including but not limited to the vice president of Dalian Wanda Group
and the finance director of Dalian Wanda Group and general manager of
project companies in Chengdu, Shenyang and Nanjing respectively. Mr.
Zhang has extensive experience in financial management and operation
management of large property development, property management,
and entertainment corporations, especially in corporate strategy and
investment.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFEkEHREEE

Mr. Zhang graduated from Dongbei University of Finance and Economics
(bR 4EAZ) in July 1994 and obtained a bachelor's degree in
accounting. In January 2012, Mr. Zhang received an Executive Master of
Business Administration degree from Beijing University (A5 TR AZ2) . Mr.
Zhang is a non-practicing member of the Chinese Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a non-practicing member of the China Certified
Tax Agents Association.

Mr. Han Xu, aged 53, has been a non-executive Director since March
2019, has extensive experience in finance and general management.
From April 2023, Mr. Han has been serving as a first vice president of
Dalian Wanda Group, a joint stock company incorporated in the PRC
with limited liability, and a controlling shareholder of the Company and
is responsible for overseeing all financial operations of Dalian Wanda
Group. Prior to that, since his joining of the Dalian Wanda Group in 2002,
Mr. Han served in various roles including general manager of finance
department of DWCM (formerly known as Dalian Wanda Commercial
Properties Co. Ltd.), general manager of the group financial management
center, president assistant, senior president assistant, and vice president
within the Dalian Wanda Group. He holds a Master degree in Business
Administration in Dongbei University of Finance and Economics.
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Directors and Senior Management

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. He Zhiping, aged 60, has been an independent non-executive
Director since March 2018. He studied at the China Textile University
(currently known as Donghua University) in Mechanical Engineering
in 1979 and graduated with a master degree in engineering in 1986.
Since 1987, Mr. He has previously served as the assistant to the general
manager of the United Rail Ltd, Shenzhen Branch of China Nonferrous
Metals Company (FEIBE 2B RIS ABR NEAERAR), the
assistant to the general manager and vice general manager of Hainan
Sanya Huaya Enterprise Group Corporation (B8R =g #Egs (> &£ H
‘AT))and a director of China Great Wall Securities, LLC (E¥izE %A
[RE{E/AE]). He was a non-executive director of AviChina Industry
& Technology Company Limited (a company listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, stock code: 2357) from August 2016 to May 2019.
From December 2019 to December 2022, Mr. He served as a director
and a vice chairman of JA Solar Technology Co., Ltd. (a company listed
on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange, stock code: 002459). He was the
chairman of the board of directors of China Wall King Holding Co., Ltd
(FEZERLEZERAFRAT) from March 2003 to March 2024. Mr.
He also serves social positions such as founding president and executive
president of Hong Kong Federation of Jiangxi Associations, and member
of board of trustees of Donghua University, and chairman of Alumni
Entrepreneur Association (IR & (PR IHE).
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Directors and Senior Management

EFEkEHREEE

Dr. Teng Bing Sheng, aged 53, has been an independent non
executive Director since March 2019. He is experienced in mergers and
acquisitions and strategic management. He has been an independent
non-executive director in Yangtze Optical Fibre and Cable Joint Stock
Limited Company* (BRI BRI ERAR), a company whose
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 6869) since January 2020. He has been an independent non-
executive director in Litian Pictures Holdings Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code: 9958) since May 2020. From January 2023, he has been serving
as an independent non-executive director of Zhejiang Aokang Shoes
Co., Ltd. (a company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 603001)). Prior to that, he was an independent
non-executive director of (i) Shandong Gold Mining Co., Ltd. (LIS &=
FE I IDABPR/AE]), a company whose shares are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 1787) in 2018 and the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600547) in 2003, from 2014 to
2017, (i) ZTE Corporation (FF BB B RAF) , a company whose
shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (stock
code:763) and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000063),
from 2015 to 2018; (i) Aoshikang Technology Co. Ltd. (BB EERHY
A BRAR), company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(stock code: 002913) from November 2018 to November 2021; and
(iv) Haisco Pharmaceutical Group Co., Ltd. (BER B EERKNE
FfR‘A7]), a company whose shares are listed on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange (stock code: 002653) from January 2017 to September 2023.
Dr. Teng served as an assistant professor and then associate professor
of strategic management at The George Washington University from
August 1998 to December 2006. He then joined Cheung Kong Graduate
School of Business (L& %) in January 2007 as an associate
professor and was promoted as a professor in February 2017 and
has been the associate dean there since April 2009. Dr. Teng holds a
doctorate of strategic management degree from City University of New
York.
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Directors and Senior Management

Dr. Chen Yan, aged 62, has been an independent non-executive
Director since March 2019. She has extensive experience in accounting.
From July 2005, Dr. Chen has been a professor in accounting at the
Dongbei University of Finance and Economics (BRILEIAL K ER) . She is
also an evaluation expert in financial accounting of the China Scholarship
Council (BIREEEEZEZEE) and China Postdoctoral Science
Foundation (FEI1E %R EES) since 2015, evaluation expert
of the National Social Science Fund of China (BIZXttRIE ) since
2020 and an internal control specialist and financial advisor at Dalian
Fang Yuan CPA Co., Ltd (KEAHEIGTMEFMERAT) since
2017. From 2014 to 2017, she was involved in the risk assessment
and review of the internal control systems of various research institutes
and organizations for and on behalf of the Dongbei University of
Finance and Economics. She was a deputy director of the Accounting
Department from 2003 to 2007 of the same university. From March
2018 to December 2023, Dr. Chen served as the independent director
of Liaoning SC Technology Co., Limited (GEE=ZIRERMAERER
3l), a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability. She has
served as an independent director of Dalian Hellon Piston Co., Ltd (X
BEREERNDABIREAT), a company listed on National Equities
Exchange and Quotations in Beijing Stock Exchange (stock code:
833455) since July 2022. Since September 2023, she has been serving
as an independent non-executive director of Neusoft Xikang Holdings
Inc. (@ company whose shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (stock code: 9686)). Since December 2023, he has
been serving as an independent director of Yingkou Jinchen Machinery
Co., Ltd. (a company whose shares are listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 603396)). Dr. Chen holds a Doctor of Business
Administration degree in Accounting from the Dongbei University of
Finance and Economics (BRILEF&AZ2) and is a non-practising
member of the Chinese Institute of Certified Public Accountants (7
Es M st E) and a senior member of the Accounting Society
of China (FEE 2 E). She was also a former member of the
American Accounting Association and the Association of Certified Fraud
Examiners, respectively.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Hui Wai Man, Shirley, aged 56, joined the Group in December
2000. She is the company secretary of the Company. She is responsible
for the company secretarial affairs of the Group. Ms. Hui has over 22
years of professional experience in public accounting and corporate
finance. She is a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants, Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, The
Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute of
Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) and The Hong Kong Institute
of Chartered Secretaries. She is also a member of the Society of Chinese
Accountants and Auditors and the Hong Kong Securities Institute.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFEkEHREEE

Mr. Dong Jun, aged 52, has been vice president of Wanda Hotel
Management Group and assistant to president of Wanda Cultural
Tourism Group since January 2018 and is responsible for Full-service
Hotel Division (full-service hotel business). Mr. Dong served as general
manager of the operation department of Wanda Hotel Management
Group from June 2017 to January 2018. Mr. Dong previously served as
the general manager of Wanda Vista Yantai and Wanda Vista Quanzhou
and the owner representative of Hyatt Regency Wanda Jinan, Westin
Wanda Hefei, Le Méridien Wanda Qingdao and Sofitel Wanda Harbin.
He has many years of extensive management experience in hotel
management.

Mr. Dong obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Economics from Shandong
Youth University of Political Science in June 1999 and a Postgraduate
degree in Tourism Management and Service Education from Shanghai
Academy of Social Sciences in July 2001.

Mr. Chen Mengchao, aged 53, has been vice president of Wanda
Hotel Management Group since October 2018 and is responsible for
the operation and management of Lifestyle Hotel Division (limited-service
hotel business). Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Chen was executive
president of Mangrove Tree Resort World, vice president of China
Jinmao Holdings Group Limited, president of Smart Hotel Group and
vice president of Nanjing Jinling Hotel Management Company Limited.
Mr. Chen has extensive experience in hotel operation management.

Mr. Chen obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Clinical Medicine from Nanjing
Medical University in July 1993. In November 2004, he obtained a
Master’s degree from School of Hotel and Tourism Management of The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Yang Bing, Bryant, aged 56, joined the group in May 2017. He is
the vice president of Wanda Hotel Management Group, and responsible
for the financial center, information and supply chain of the Wanda
Hotel Management Group. Mr. Yang has over 25 years of professional
experience in hotel management and corporate financial management.
He obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from Southwestern
University of Finance and Economics in July 1990 and a master’s degree
in business administration from the Kelley School of Business of Indiana
University in the United States in May 2003. He is a member of the
Association of International Accountants.
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Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Wang Xin, 39, has been serving as the vice president of Wanda
Hotel Management Group since May 2023, responsible for the
marketing center, brand management center and e-commerce company
operations. Before joining the Group, Mr. Wang served as marketing
director, brand general manager, vice president and other senior
management positions in China International Advertising Co., Ltd.,
Touch Media, Youku Tudou Group, Vienna Hotel Group, Country Garden
Group. Mr. Wang has extensive experience in brand management,
marketing and Internet industry experience.

Mr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s degree in advertising from Beijing
Technology and Business University in July 2008.
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The Directors are pleased to submit the annual report and the audited
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activities of the Company and the Group are hotel
operation and management services, hotel design and construction
management services and investment property leasing in the PRC during
the Year. The principal activities and other particulars of the subsidiaries
are set out in note 1 to the financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business for the year ended 31 December 2023
is presented in Chairman’s Statement, Business Review and Financial
Review on pages 4 to 5, pages 6 to 15 and pages 16 to 27 respectively.
The Financial Review also includes an analysis of the Group’s
performance during the financial year ended 31 December 2023 in
terms of financial key performance indicators on pages 24 to 25. Likely
future developments in the Group’s business are disclosed in Chairman’s
Statement and Outlook section of Business Review which forms part
of this Directors’ Report on pages 4 to 5 and page 15 respectively. The
particulars of important events affecting the Group that have occurred
since 31 December 2023 (including but not limited to transactions in
relation to subsidiaries) are set out in Financial Review on page 27.

Principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group can be found in
Business Review and note 35 to the financial statements on pages 6 to
15 and pages 266 to 275 respectively, with financial risk management
policies and practices of the Group covered under the aforesaid note 35
to the financial statements.
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The Group is committed to the sound performance of its corporate
social responsibilities and believes that a high standard of performance
is very helpful for maintaining sound relationships between corporate
and society as well as promoting staff confidence. The Group is a
keen supporter of environmental protection and takes the protection
of ecological environment and promotion of sustainable development
as its goal. We have introduced eco-friendly measures in our business
of investment property leasing. For instance, we have reduced our
carbon emission by implementing green building and energy-saving
measures. We have also reduced the potential impact of our business
on the ecological environment through proper waste disposal.
Further discussion of environmental, social and governance matters,
covering the Group’s environmental policies and performance is
set out in Corporate Governance Report and Environmental, Social
and Governance Report on pages 73 to 97 and pages 98 to 132
respectively.

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with rules and
regulations and the impact of non-compliance with such rules and
regulations on the business. The Group has been allocating system and
staff resources to ensure ongoing compliance with rules and regulations
and to maintain cordial working relationships with regulators through
effective communications. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
the Group has complied, to the best of our knowledge, with all relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.

The Company strives to achieve corporate sustainability through
providing quality services to our customers and collaborating with our
suppliers. To enhance customer satisfaction and promote a customer-
oriented culture within the Company, we take ‘Customer First’ as one
of our core values. We value feedback from customers and have also
established a mechanism in handling customer service, support and
complaints. We also proactively collaborate with our suppliers and
contractors to deliver quality and sustainable products and services. We
have developed certain requirements in our standard tender documents,
which include regulatory compliance, labour practices, anti-corruption
and other business ethics.

The Group values its employees and encourages its staff to achieve
a good work-life balance. The Group continued to devote resources
to improve staff benefits with a view to improving staff morale as well
as attracting and retaining talents. We have established fair, open and
comprehensive employment policies to attract talent.
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The applicable discussion and analysis as cross-referenced above shall
form an integral part of this Directors’ Report.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the financial
statements on pages 142 to 145 of this annual report.

DIVIDEND

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 December 2023.

The Company is not aware of any arrangement under which a
shareholder has waived or agreed to waive any dividends.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company seeks to maintain a balance between meeting
Shareholders’ expectations and prudent capital management with a
sustainable, stable and continuing dividend policy. The Company’s
dividend policy aims to strike a balance between allowing Shareholders
to benefit from the Company’s profit and allowing the Company to retain
adequate reserves for business operations and future development.
In proposing any dividend payout, the Company would consider in
accordance with the Bye-Laws of the Company and applicable laws
and regulations, with various factors including (i) the earnings per share
of the Company; (i) the reasonable return in investment of investors and
Shareholders in order to provide incentive to them to continue to support
the Company in its long-term development; (iii) the financial conditions
and business plan of the Company; and (iv) the market sentiment and
circumstances. Compliant with the conditions under the dividend policy,
the Board may propose final dividends, interim dividends or special
dividends distribution as the Board considers appropriate based on the
profitability and capital requirements of the Company. The Company shall
review and reassess the dividend policy and its effectiveness on a regular
basis or when necessary.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers accounted for 50% of the Group’s total sales in
2023 while the sales attributable to the Group’s largest customer was
approximately 30% of the Group’s total sales in 2023.

The aggregate purchases during the year attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers comprised approximately 66% of the Group’s
total purchases while the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest
supplier was approximately 33.9% of the Group’s total purchases.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholder, which
to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued share capital, had any interest in the five largest suppliers or
customers of the Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group for the last
five financial years, as extracted from the audited financial statements, is
set out on pages 278 to 279. This summary does not form part of the
audited financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in investment properties of the Group during
the year are set out in note 15 to the financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Particulars of the major property and property interests of the Group are
shown on page 280 of the annual report.
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RETIREMENT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund scheme in Hong Kong
and certain subsidiaries outside Hong Kong are required to contribute a
certain percentage of their payroll costs to pension schemes operated
by the respective governments. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the pension schemes is to pay the required ongoing
contributions.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 26 to the financial statements.

TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the
Shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity to the financial
statements.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were as follows:

Executive Director:
Mr. Ning Qifeng (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Yingwu (appointed on 10 January 2024)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Han Xu

Mr. Zhang Lin

Mr. Ding Benxi (removed on 10 January 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors (“INED"):
Dr. Chen Yan

Mr. He Zhiping

Dr. Teng Bing Sheng
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In accordance with clause 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, at each
annual general meeting one-third of the Directors for the time being,
or, if their number is not three or a multiple by three, then the number
nearest one-third, shall retire from office by rotation save any Director
holding office as Chairman or Managing Director. The Directors to retire
in every year shall be those who have been longest in office since their
last election but as between persons who became Directors on the
same day shall (unless they otherwise agree between themselves) be
determined by lot. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-election.
The Company at any general meeting at which any Directors retire may
fill the vacated offices.

In accordance with code provision B.2.2 of part 2 in Appendix C1
(formerly known as Appendix 14) of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
(the “Stock Exchange”), all directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy
should be subject to election by Shareholders at the first general meeting
after appointment. Every director, including those appointed for a specific
term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every
three years.

All of the directors of the Company have entered into services contracts
with the Company. The term of appointment of Mr. Ning Qifeng and Mr.
Zhang Lin is 3 years from 17 November 2017 to 16 November 2020; the
term of appointment of Mr. He Zhiping is 3 years from 29 March 2018
to 28 March 2021; the term of appointment of Mr. Han Xu is 3 years
from 14 March 2019 to 13 March 2022; the term of appointment of Dr.
Teng Bing Sheng and Dr. Chen Yan is 3 years from 21 March 2019 to
20 March 2022; the term of appointment of Mr. Liu Yingwu is 3 years
from 10 January 2024 to 9 January 2027; each of which is renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year each commencing from
the date next after the expiry of the then current term, unless terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either
party. None of the above service contracts is not determinable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than
statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors and their
associates in the ordinary shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordnance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange, pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”), were as follows:

(1) Interests in shares of DNCM (Note 1)

EFZES D

R_EBEZ=F+"A=+—H BARERE
BEREIERE) (B REIERE]) $53621F%
ZREMFEZECMArHRNRE LT R
BEFETRFRZVRETH (MREFR))
MAEARE RPN EFRREZHEA
RAERBREARBER (EERBHFRIAER
BISEXVER) Z Ei@Rz Emin T

(1) RAEEEFZREERMHPZE
m (fI5E1)

Approximate
percentage of

the issued

Long position/ Capacity/Nature Interest in share capital

Name of Director Short position of interest shares of DWCM of DWCM

mREEE

RAERE BEEE

MEERE BEITREZ

B4 B e B EmE Rz Rz BA B2

Mr. He Zhiping Long Beneficial owner 150,000,000 0.55%
IS FRE 5= BmEAA
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Interests in underlying shares of DWCM (Note 1) () MAREEEREXSIEARAKRMNE
2 Rew (fdsEt)
Approximate
percentage
Interest in of the issued
Long position/ Capacity/Nature underlying share capital of
Name of director Short position of interest shares of DWCM DWCM
MRKEEE HRESE
EEEE BEEECHT
HEH4A e KE B EEHE HERAR MNP ZEE RAEZEMAE S
(Note 2)
(F45E2)
Mr. Ning Qifeng Long Beneficial owner (Note 3) 36,000,000 0.13%
HHFIEMSE =y Em#EE A (I:E3)
Mr. Zhang Lin Long Beneficial owner (Note 4) 72,000,000 0.27%
RERAEE =y EmEA A (i514)
Mr. Han Xu Long Beneficial owner (Note 5) 36,000,000 0.13%
Bkt wa EmEA A (5E5)
Notes: FI5E
(1) DWCM, being an indirect holding company of the Company, is an (1) REZSFRIAERGEXVE > AR E]
associated company of the Company under Part XV of the SFO. The ZHBERADRNESEDEEIES
calculation is based on the total number of 27,164,085,600 shares BABIZHBRB st EHERIKRZ
in issue as at 31 December 2023. E=F+B=+—HBEETR®
482107,164,085,6008% 117
(2)  The percentage represents the number of underlying shares @ ZeEotiEEaER ZERERMEE
interested divided by the number of DWCM'’s issued shares as at 31 RUREEEBREEEN _Z22=F
December 2023, +ZB=+—BZBZTRMNHE-
(3 Mr. Ning is interested in the underlying shares of DWCM through @ EBREFBEA—EAREEREH
his 7.78% interest as a limited partner of a limited partnership that ERBEAEAERERESIEZARER
beneficially owns those shares in DWCM. 7)) 2 BREUWAER7.78% 5 > 1?
AEBEDESIEEBRAROD T HESRE
o
(4)  Mr. Zhang () beneficially owns 12,000,000 shares in DWCM; and (i) @  RAENEZEEA12,000,0008 KEE
is interested in 60,000,000 shares of DWCM through the underlying EREBERD ; RipEB(FA—BE
shares of DWCM through his 5.14% interest as a limited partner of a e HEnkaAERENE
limited partnership that beneficially owns those shares in DWCM. BEZAERBRD) 2BREWAEEN
5.14%# % > 7260,000,0000% A & & 7=
EEEEREARGO P EE R
(5)  Mr. Han () beneficially owns 26,400,000 shares in DWCM; and (i) (B)  FEBIEENETRBEA26,400,000 KEE

is interested in 9,600,000 shares of DWCM through the underlying
shares of DWCM through his 0.82% interest as a limited partner of a
limited partnership that beneficially owns those shares in DWCM.

EEEBIERD ; RiyEREA—EAR
REPrE  HERREAEREDE
BB ARERMN) ZBREMWAEER
0.82%#E %% » 1°9,600,00008 A 38 & 3= 7S
ESIBMAEMRG P HEE R
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors and chief executive of the Company had any interests or
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV
of the SFO) which have been notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which the Directors and chief executive
of the Company were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or which have been entered in the register maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO; or which have been
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code.

SHARE SCHEME

The Company did not have any effective share scheme during the year
ended and as at 31 December 2023.

DIRECTORS' RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any
of its subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors of
the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate and
neither the Directors nor chief executive, nor any of their spouses or
children under the age of 18, had any right to subscribe for the securities
of the Company, or had exercised any such right.

44  Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited
Annual Report 2023

BREXFIIRBEEN R_ZE_=F+2"A8
= t+—H BEEERAABDEBRTHRAER
ERERHEBMBEE (EERBHFRPE RS
SEXVED) ZAERIRD ~ IBRARR (D S G e T
BREESRAERMIEXVEETRFESDH
BB RAB KRR Z AR A (B
REZERARBDEZTHABRER SR
BRIz ZERNEEFRRBER 2 ED
KB 5 WRER T ARG IRGIF352F5CA
KFABFMEEE M AR ; FR
BRETRENGRAE KRBT 2 E

HRHB
Az{n 5t E|

AABRBE_S_=ZF+-_FA=+—H1t
FEURR-Z_=ZF+"A=+—HUE
AL Z BRADEtE]

%%H&E%HQ@EETEE%ZE
|

FTRE) R AT NEEANBERDNER
ERRBITET LA AR ERATES
ABEBYREAABNEMEMEANERZR
MEEEBERN D TEES  TETHA
BRREZRBRI8HU T FRBEEEF]
BB ATBHF R TEEAILFHER



DISCLOSEABLE INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS OF SHAREHOLDERS UNDER THE SFO

As at 31 December 2023, so far as was known to the Company, the
following persons (other than the Directors and chief executive of the

Company) had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying
shares which would fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant
to section 336 of Part XV of the SFO, or were, directly or indirectly,

interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share

capital carrying rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of

any member of the Group:
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Interest in Approximate
Long shares and percentage of
position/ underlying the issued share
Short Capacity/Nature shares of capital of
Name position of interest the Company the Company
i NS RAEAE
%15 Rz AE A BEITREZ
[P wE KE 51 HExEtE Rz s BEA B2
Wanda Commercial Short Beneficial owner (Note 1) 3,055,043,100 65.04%
Properties
Overseas Limited
(“Wanda Overseas”)
BiEmEME I *xBE BmEa A (isE1)
BRRE (T&ZEB8IN)
Wanda Real Estate Short Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
Investments Limited corporation (Note 2)
BEMERERRAT kB REEGEEZ En
(MizE2)
Wanda HK Short Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
corporation (Note 3)
BESR Y=} NEEGEE 2 i
(M$5E3)
DWCM Group Short Interest in controlled 3,0565,043,100 65.04%
corporation (Note 4)
REBEMEERER B M2 PEREE 2 s

CREEZY
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Interest in Approximate
Long shares and percentage of
position/ underlying the issued share
Short Capacity/Nature shares of capital of
Name position of interest the Company the Company
RAEREF RAERT
B 19 K AERA BRITREZ
LRt - Py 51 HEmtE B inh 2z 2% BB
Dalian Wanda Group Short Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
corporation (Note 5)
REBEER A EREREE 2
(M$zE5)
Dalian Hexing Short Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
Investment Co., Ltd. corporation (Note 6)
(“Dalian Hexing”)
REGEEERRAF *xE REEGIEEZ En
(TRESH)) (MI5E6)
Mr. Wang Jianlin Short Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
corporation (Note 7)
F MRS Ry} MREGEEZ s
(M$5E7)
UBS Group AG Long Interest in controlled 3,055,663,497 65.05%
corporation (Note 8)
FE M2 EREE 2
(F¥E8)
UBS AG Long Beneficial owner 1,200 0.01%
S Bm#EAA
UBS Switzerland AG Long Beneficial owner 619,197 0.01%
S Bm#EA A
Temasek Holdings Long Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
(Private) Limited corporation (Note 9)
S ME2EGEE 2
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Interest in Approximate
Long shares and percentage of
position/ underlying the issued share
Short Capacity/Nature shares of capital of
Name position of interest the Company the Company
RAEREF RAERT
B 19 K AERR BRITREZ
LRt Py 51 HEmtE B in Rz 2 BB 2L
Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd.  Long Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
corporation (Note 9)
5= REREE 2
(M$z39)
Pilatus Investments Long Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
Pte. Ltd. corporation (Note 9)
S NEREGER 2 i
(M$5E9)
Seviora Holdings Long Interest in controlled 3,0565,043,100 65.04%
Pte. Ltd. corporation (Note 9)
EREERIMDABRRE FA ME2EREEZ s
(F45E9)
SeaTown Holdings Long Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
Pte. Ltd. corporation (Note 9)
S REEGEEZ ED
(45E9)
SeaTown Capital Pte. Ltd.  Long Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
corporation (Note 9)
S ME2EREEZ s
(M$539)
SeaTown Investments Long Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
Pte. Ltd. corporation (Note 9)
FA M2 EREEZ

(F¥5£9)
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Interest in Approximate
Long shares and percentage of
position/ underlying the issued share
Short Capacity/Nature shares of capital of
Name position of interest the Company the Company
i NS RZAEAF
B 19 K AERA BRITREZ
LRt - Py 51 HEmtE B inh 2z 2% BB
SeaTown GP Pte. Ltd. Long Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
corporation (Note 9)
5= REREE 2
(M$z39)
SeaTown Private Long Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
Strategies GP Pte. Ltd. corporation (Note 9)
S~ NEEGEE 2 i
(M$539)
SeaTown Holdings Long Interest in controlled 3,0565,043,100 65.04%
International Pte. Ltd. corporation (Note 9)
Bz iR EIFRA A B FE R2EGIEE 2 #im
I YN= (MF5E9)
SeaTown Private Long Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
Strategies GP Il Pte. Ltd. corporation (Note 9)
Fe REEGIEEZ En
(M$zF9)
SeaTown Singapore Long Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
Feeder Fund LP corporation (Note 9)
(“STSFF”)
Fe R2EGEEZ En
(M$z39)
SeaTown Private Credit Long Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
Feeder Fund LP corporation (Note 9)
(“STPCFF”)
Fe R EGEE 2 i
(M$5F9)
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Interest in Approximate
Long shares and percentage of
position/ underlying the issued share
Short Capacity/Nature shares of capital of
Name position of interest the Company the Company
i NS RAEAF
B 19 K AERR BRITREZ
LRt Py 51 HEmtE Rz s BB 2L
SeaTown Private Credit Long Interest in controlled 3,055,043,100 65.04%
(Cayman) Feeder corporation (Note 9)
Fund Il LP (“STPCFFII”)
FBa N2EGEE 2 #im
(M$5F9)
SeaTown Private Credit Long Beneficial owner (Note 9) 3,055,043,100 65.04%
Master Fund (“STPCMF”)
5= EmEA A (f5E9)
SeaTown Private Credit Long Beneficial owner (Note 9) 3,055,043,100 65.04%
Master Fund |l
(“STPCMFII")
S EmEA A (fi519)
Mr. Chen Chang Wei Long Beneficial owner and held 278,098,230 5.92%
(“Mr. Chen”) by controlled corporation
(Note 8)
REESE (TBRELED) Fa BaA A RBEREGEE
#Aa (fizs)
Long Interest of spouse 23,600,000 0.50%
(Notes 8 and 9)
Fa FofBiEm (fi5E8%%9)
Ms. Chan Sheung Ni Long Beneficial owner 23,600,000 0.50%
PR e 2+ Fa BmEAA
Long Interest of spouse (Note 10) 278,098,230 5.92%
5= fofBiEm (fFsE10)
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Interest in Approximate
Long shares and percentage of
position/ underlying the issued share
Short Capacity/Nature shares of capital of
Name position of interest the Company the Company
i /N HREAT
B 17 B AE R BRITREZ
W, g e XE 519 #mME IRz S BAE DL
Ever Good Luck Limited Long Beneficial owner 73,860,230 1.57%
(Note 11)
Ever Good Luck Limited = Em#EE A
(BF5E11)
Long Trustee 204,237,800 4.35%
wa ZEEA

Notes: 5T -

(1) On 11 January 2023, Wanda Overseas has pledged all its 3,055,043,100 N RIZEI=F—A+—H > 8E8)EnK
ordinary shares of the Company in favour of UBS Group AG as security —HHERA (BIESTPCMFESTPCMF 1) @&
agent for the secured parties, in respect of a loan extended to Wanda EXALZERAR AR FTERNERUUBS
Culture Holding Co. Limited extend by a group of leader including STPCMF Group AG (TEAIRIR A IRIFRE) AERA
and STPCMF I Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated HIREFEN2E3,055,043,10008 4~ A 5] &
12 January 2023. BR-FBZ2HEAABBREAZSE=—A8

+ZBNAS-.

(?)  Wanda Real Estate Investments Limited holds more than one-third of 0 BEEMEREERADGEEBRE=9S—8E
the issued shares of Wanda Overseas and is therefore deemed to have BINBETRG AR ARARE (BE
an interest in the shares and underlying shares of the Company in which BINEESHEE L) 2 RS RAERERMD T
Wanda Overseas is interested. AR

(3)  Wanda HK holds more than one-third of the issued shares of Wanda Real Q) BEESAFEBEZSZ—BEMERER
Estate Investments Limited and is therefore deemed to have an interest in [RABBETRY FHEHERANREKAR (B
the shares and underlying shares of the Company in which Wanda Real EMEREERATERATETHEERD)
Estate Investments Limited is deemed to be interested. Mr. Ding Benxi, 2RO RBRERMDPEE D JERITES
being a non-executive Director and Chairman of the Board, was a director REFEIRTABAEEEE T _TFZ
of Wanda HK until 17 February 2020. BttBAaRESEzES-

(4)  DWCM Group holds more than one-third of the issued shares of Wanda @) AREBEREEEEEFABBR=S—5%Z
HK and is therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares and EBEETRG ALERANRARE (BE
underlying shares of the Company in which Wanda HK is deemed to EBWRATEHIEEER) 2 RMDK&ER
be interested. Mr. Ding Benxi, being a Non-executive Director, was an B REE#ER - JIENITEET A HEER
executive director and the chairman of the board of directors of DWCM EIETF A tHAKRERERNXERE
Group until 10 February 2020. Mr. Ning Qifeng, being an Executive Director, EECZHITESRESETIR -NITESE
is a chief vice president of DWCM Group. FEEEAREBEENEEEEE 2 EER

FEES A
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Dalian Wanda Group holds more than one-third of the issued shares of
DWCM Group and is therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company in which DWCM Group is deemed
to be interested. Mr. Ding Benxi, being a Non-executive Director, was a
director of Dalian Wanda Group until September 2020. Mr. Zhang Lin,
being a Non-executive Director, is a director of Dalian Wanda Group.

Dalian Hexing holds more than one-third of the issued shares of Dalian
Wanda Group and is therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company in which Dalian Wanda Group is
deemed to be interested.

Mr. Wang Jianlin holds more than one-third of the issued shares of Dalian
Hexing and is therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company in which Dalian Hexing is deemed to be
interested.

Each of UBS AG and UBS Switzerland AG is wholly owned by UBS Group
AG. Therefore UBS Group AG is deemed to be interested in the shares
of the Company in which each of UBS AG and UBS Switzerland AG is
interested.

STPCMFII is wholly owned by STPCFFII, and STPCFFII is owned as to
65% by Pilatus Investments Pte. Ltd., 25% by Seviora Holdings Pte. Ltd.,
and 10% by SeaTown Investments Pte. Ltd. STPCFFII's general partner
is SeaTown Private Strategies GP Il Pte. Ltd., which is wholly owned by
SeaTown Holdings Pte. Ltd.

STPCMF is wholly owned by STPCFF, and STPCFF is owned as to 66.83%
by STSFF and 11.79% by SeaTown Investments Pte. Ltd. STPCMF’s
general partner is SeaTown Private Strategies GP Pte. Ltd., which is wholly
owned by SeaTown Holdings Pte. Ltd. STSFF is owned as to 73.34% by
Pilatus Investments Pte. Ltd., 26.26% by SeaTown Investments Pte. Ltd.
and 0.4% by SeaTown Holdings International Pte. Ltd. STSFF’s general
partner is SeaTown GP Pte. Ltd., which is wholly owned by SeaTown
Holdings Pte. Ltd. SeaTown Holdings International Pte. Ltd. is wholly
owned by SeaTown Capital Pte. Ltd., which is wholly owned by SeaTown
Holdings Pte. Ltd.

SeaTown Holdings Pte. Ltd. is wholly owned by Seviora Holdings Pte.
Ltd., which is in turn wholly owned by Pilatus Investments Pte. Ltd. Pilatus
Investments Pte. Ltd. is wholly owned by Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd., which
is wholly owned by Temasek Holdings (Private) Limited.

By reason of the aforesaid relationships, Temasek Holdings (Private)
Limited, Tembusu Capital Pte. Ltd., Pilatus Investments Pte. Ltd., Seviora
Holdings Pte. Ltd., SeaTown Holdings Pte. Ltd., SeaTown Capital Pte.
Ltd., SeaTown Investments Pte. Ltd., SeaTown GP Pte. Ltd., SeaTown
Private Strategies GP Pte. Ltd., SeaTown Holdings International Pte. Ltd.,
SeaTown Private Strategies GP Il Pte. Ltd., STSFF, STPCFF and STPCFFII
are deemed to be interested in the shares of the Company which STPCMF
and STPCMFII are interested in.
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As at 31 December 2023, Mr. Chen was deemed to have a long position
of 301,698,230 Shares, of which () 200 Shares were beneficially and legally
owned by him, (i) 204,237,800 Shares were held on trust for him by Ever
Good Luck Limited (“Ever Good”), (i) 73,860,230 Shares were beneficially
owned by Ever Good, and (iv) 23,600,000 Shares were held by his spouse,
Ms. Chan Sheung Ni, as beneficial owner.

Ms. Chan Sheung Ni is the spouse of Mr. Chen.

Ms. Chan Sheung Ni is the spouse of Mr. Chen. Ms. Chan Sheung Ni is
therefore deemed to have an interest in the shares of the Company in
which Mr. Chen is interested.

The entire issued share capital of Ever Good is ultimately owned by Mr.
Chen and Mr. Chen is the sole director of Ever Good. See note (8) in the
section headed “Discloseable interests and short positions of shareholders
under the SFO” in this Directors’ Report.
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FHEver GoodB @ A » M(iv) 23,600,0008% 8%
MHARBRNEL TEFAEREE AR
Ao

BRI L AR ST E Z BLfl o

BRI & T AR 4 Z BB o W L £
AR BN AAT (REETHETERS Em)
ZRRM PR e

Ever GoodZ & B 81T IR 25 Fa BR o 4 R ARV
B> MiESEAEver GoodZ M—EE B
EREREERESSRPERGKRESR
W A — B ) e



CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has conducted the following continuing connected
transactions during the year ended 31 December 2023.

Leasing of premises for children entertainment, playground and
related business (“Kidsland Tenancy Agreement"”)

Pursuant to the Kidsland Tenancy Agreement dated 8 June 2015
(“Guilin
Project Company”) as landlord and Wanda Kidsplace Group Co.

entered into between Guilin Gaoxin Wanda Plaza Co., Ltd.*

Limited*, formerly known as Wanda Kidsland Co. Limited (“Wanda
Kidsland”) as tenant, certain portions of the Guilin Gaoxin Plaza in
Guilin City, the PRC, was leased for a term of five years commencing
from 12 September 2015 to 11 September 2020 for the operation
of children entertainment and playground business and other related
business, including the sale of kids clothing and food and beverage. A
supplemental deed dated 2 August 2019 was entered into by the same
parties to amend the size of the area leased under the Kidsland Tenancy
Agreement.

On 7 September 2020, Guilin Project Company entered into a
new Kidsland Tenancy Agreement with Guilin Gaoxin Wanda Kids
Entertainment Co., Ltd*, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Wanda Kidsland
to renew the existing lease for a further term of 15 years commencing
from 12 September 2020 to 11 September 2035 (both days inclusive).

Guilin Project Company is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company. Since Wanda Kidsland and Guilin Gaoxin Wanda Kids
Entertainment Co., Ltd are indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Wang Jianlin
who is a controlling shareholder of the Company, they are connected
persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap for total rent payable to the Guilin Project Company
under the Kidsland Tenancy Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2023 was RMB1,619,000 and the actual amount incurred was
approximately RMB1,468,000.
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Leasing of premises for operation of cinema and related
business (“Cinema Tenancy Agreement"”)

Pursuant to the Cinema Tenancy Agreement dated 8 September 2015
entered into between Guilin Project Company as landlord and Wanda
Film Holding Co., Ltd* (formerly known as Wanda Cinema Line Holding
Co., Ltd, “Wanda Cinema“) and Nanning Wanda International Movie Mall
Company Limited* as tenant, certain portions of the Guilin Gaoxin Plaza
in Guilin City, the PRC, was leased for a term of 20 years commencing
from 12 September 2015 to 11 September 2035 for the operation
of cinema business and related business, including sale of food and
beverages. Pursuant to a deed of novation between Wanda Cinema,
Nanning Wanda International Movie Mall Company Limited (“‘Nanning
Wanda Cinema”) and Guilin Project Company dated 2 August 2019,
Wanda Cinema agreed to transfer and Nanning Wanda Cinema agreed
to assume all of Wanda Cinema’s rights and obligations in and under
the Cinema Tenancy Agreement for the remaining term of the Cinema
Tenancy Agreement as from 2 August 2019 and Guilin Project Company
agreed to such novation.

Guilin Project Company is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company. Since Wanda Cinema and Nanning Wanda Cinema are
indirectly wholly-owned by Dalian Wanda Group which is a controlling
shareholder of the Company, Wanda Cinema and Nanning Wanda
Cinema are connected persons of the Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual cap of the total rent payable to the Guilin Project Company
under the Cinema Tenancy Agreement for the year ended 31 December
2023 was RMBS3,297,000, and the actual amount incurred was
approximately RMB1,345,000.
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Leasing of premises for children entertainment, playground and
other related business under the brand of “Wanda Kidsplace*
(B#ZEHT)" ("Kidsplace Tenancy Agreement")

Pursuant to the Kidsplace Tenancy Agreement dated 29 June 2018
entered into between Guilin Project Company as landlord and Guilin
Gaoxin Wanda Kids Entertainment Co., Ltd (“Guilin Wanda Kids”) as
tenant, certain portions of the Guilin Gaoxin Plaza in Guilin City, the PRC,
was leased for a term of ten years commencing from 1 July 2018 to 30
June 2028 for the operation of children entertainment and playground
business and other related business, including the sale of kids clothing
and food and beverage, under the brand of “Wanda Kidsplace* (& 3E
BHETE)
by the same parties to amend the size of the area leased under the

. Supplemental deed dated 2 August 2019 was entered into
Kidsplace Tenancy Agreement.

Guilin Project Company is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company. Since Guilin Wanda Kids is indirectly wholly-owned by
Mr. Wang Jianlin who is a controlling shareholder of the Company, Guilin
Wanda Kids is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

The annual cap of the total rent payable to the Guilin Project Company
under the Kidsplace Tenancy Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2023 was RMB92,000, and the actual amount incurred was
approximately RMB84,000.

Leasing of premises for carpark business (“Carpark Tenancy
Agreements")

Pursuant to the carpark tenancy agreement dated 28 June 2019 entered
into between Guilin Project Company as landlord and Guilin Wanda
Shopping Plaza Business Management Co., Ltd (“Wanda Plaza Business
Management”) as tenant, certain carpark premises of the Guilin Gaoxin
Plaza in Guilin City, the PRC, was leased for a term of three years
commencing from 1 July 2019 to 30 June 2022 for the operation of
carpark business.

On 30 June 2022, Guilin Project Company entered into a new carpark
tenancy agreement with Wanda Plaza Business Management to renew
the lease term for three years commencing from 1 July 2022 to 30 June
2025 (both days inclusive).
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Guilin Project Company is an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company. Since Wanda Plaza Business Management is indirectly
wholly-owned by DWCM who is an indirect holding company and
a controlling shareholder of the Company, Wanda Plaza Business
Management is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules.

The annual cap of the total rent payable to the Guilin Project Company
under the Carpark Tenancy Agreements for the year ended 31
December 2023 was RMB5,544,000, and the actual amount incurred
was approximately RMB3,251,000.

Provision of hotel management services to Dalian Wanda Group

Pursuant to the hotel management framework agreement (the “Hotel
Management Framework Agreement”) entered into between the
Company and DWCM Group on 13 November 2018 for a term from
1 January 2019 to 31 December 2038. Under the Hotel Management
Framework Agreement, the corresponding annual caps will expire on
31 December 2021, and as the Company intends to continue the
transactions under the Hotel Management Framework Agreement, on
18 November 2021, the Board resolved to propose to renew the annual
caps for the transactions contemplated under the Hotel Management
Framework Agreement for the three years ending 31 December 2024.

On 18 November 2021, the Company entered into the novation
agreement (the “Novation Agreement”) with DWCM Group and Dalian
Wanda Group, pursuant to which () DWCM Group agreed to novate,
and Dalian Wanda Group agreed to assume, all of DWCM Group’s
rights and obligations in and under the Hotel Management Framework
Agreement from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2038; and (i) the
Company agreed to such change under the Hotel Management
Framework Agreement. Pursuant to the Novation Agreement, Dalian
Wanda Group agreed to be substituted in place of DWCM Group in
respect of the Hotel Management Framework Agreement and the
transactions contemplated thereunder and to be fully bound by the
Hotel Management Framework Agreement as and to the same extent
as if Dalian Wanda Group was a party thereto in place of DCWM Group
from the date of the Hotel Management Framework Agreement. Save
for the aforesaid amendment, all other terms of the Hotel Management
Framework Agreement remain unchanged.
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Pursuant to the Hotel Management Framework Agreement (as amended
by the Novation Agreement), the Dalian Wanda Group may from time to
time engage the Group to provide hotel management services (the “Hotel
Management Services”) which may include, but are not limited to, the
below services for the property projects of Dalian Wanda Group:

- pre-opening support and technical advisory services regarding
specification standards required for hotels being managed
and other coordination services to facilitate the pre-opening
preparation;

- procurement of services and products for operation of hotels;

- carrying out marketing and business development activities and
providing accounting, finance, human resources and information
technology functions;

- setting the prices of guest rooms and other services; and

- other relevant functions and services for the operation of hotels.

Members of the Group and the Dalian Wanda Group Companies
shall enter into separate agreements (“Individual Hotel Management
Agreement(s)”) in relation to the provision of Hotel Management
Services for relevant projects, which shall be subject to the terms
and conditions under the Hotel Management Framework Agreement
and the applicable annual caps. The duration of each Individual
Hotel Management Agreement shall not exceed the term of the Hotel
Management Framework Agreement and the terms of the Individual
Hotel Management Agreements shall be made on normal commercial
terms. DWCM and Dalian Wanda are a controlling shareholder of the
Company, and DWCM Group and Dalian Wanda Group are a connected
person of the Company and the Hotel Management Framework
Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereunder constitute
continuing connected transactions of the Company under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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The service fees payable by the Dalian Wanda Group to the Group

for the Hotel Management Services for each hotel shall be fair and

reasonable and shall be charged on the following basis:

U

(i)

(i)

(iv)

58

management fees comprising a base management fee at a rate
of 2.5% of the gross operating revenue of the relevant hotel and
an incentive management fee at a rate between 6% and 8%
(inclusive) of the gross operating profit of the relevant hotel;

group service fees for the relevant financial, human resources and/
or information technology services provided by the Group charged
at a rate of 2% of the gross operating revenue of the relevant hotel;

pre-opening fees, comprising a hotel pre-opening support fee
of RMB500,000 (or other currency equivalent) for each hotel
and a technical services fee of RMB2 million (or other currency
equivalent) for each hotel; and

6% of the room income for each room booking made via the
official reservation systems of hotels under Wanda Hotel Brands;
5.6% of the of aggregate revenue contributed by each customer
introduced by the regional sale department of hotels of Wanda
Hotel Brands; and 5% of certain spending of any member of
Wanda Club, a club for customers of the hotels of Wanda Hotel
Brands.
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The annual caps of the total amount payable by Dalian Wanda Group
for each of the three years ending 31 December 2024 for the provision
of Hotel Management Services by the Group are approximately
RMB67,624,000, RMB75,923,000 and RMB75,676,000 respectively.

The aggregate amount payable by the Dalian Wanda Group to the
Group for the Hotel Management Services under the Hotel Management
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted
to approximately RMB74,099,000.

For details of the said transaction, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 18 November 2021 and circular dated 9
December 2021.

Leasing of property (including office, storage and parking
space) in the PRC for daily operation needs and provide
property management services for the leased properties (the
“Management Services") by DWCM Group to the Group

On 18 November 2021, as the then existing property leasing framework
agreement entered into on 13 November 2018 was due to expire on 31
December 2021, the Company renewed the property leasing framework
agreement with DWCM Group for a term of three years from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2024 (“Property Leasing Framework Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Property Leasing Framework Agreement entered into
between the Company as lessee and the DWCM Group as lessor,
DWCM Group may from time to time (i) lease property (including office,
storage and parking space) in the PRC to Group for its daily operation
needs and (i) provide Management Services in accordance with the
terms and conditions thereto.
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Management Services to be provided by the DWCM Group will be
specific to the leased property, and may include but are not limited
to the management and maintenance of shared and public facilities
(such as rooftops, corridors, flowerbeds, trees, outdoor pipes, drains,
ponds, car parks, etc.) and traffic and parking management at the
leased property. Members of the Group and DWCM Group shall enter
into separate agreements (“Individual Lease Agreement(s)”) in relation
to the lease of property by DWCM Group to Wanda Hotel Management
Group (depending on the particular property being leased, this may
include Management Services), which shall be subject to the terms
and conditions under the Property Leasing Framework Agreement
and the annual caps thereunder. The duration of each Individual Lease
Agreement shall not exceed the term of the Property Leasing Framework
Agreement and the terms of the Individual Lease Agreements shall be
made on normal commercial terms.

The annual caps in respect of the transactions contemplated under the
Property Leasing Framework Agreement for each of the three years
ending 31 December 2024 are approximately RMB22,372,000 per
annum.

The aggregate amount payable by the Group to the DWCM Group
for the Management Services under the Property Leasing Framework
Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to
approximately RMB14,461,000.

For details of the said transaction, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 18 November 2021.
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Provision of hotel design services to Dalian Wanda Group

On 18 November 2021, as the then existing hotel design framework
agreement entered into on 13 November 2018 was due to expire on
31 December 2021, the Company renewed the hotel design framework
agreement with Dalian Wanda Group for a term of three years from
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2024 (“Hotel Design Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which Dalian Wanda Group and/or its
subsidiaries may from time to time engage the Group to provide hotel
consulting services (the “Hotel Design Services”) which may include,
among others:

- interior, furniture, fixtures and equipment design and consulting
services;

- back-of-house area design review services;

- outdoor direction signage and indoor lighting design consulting
services; and

- kitchen and launderette area design services

for the hotel projects of Dalian Wanda Group. Dalian Wanda Group and/
or its subsidiaries and the Group shall enter into separate agreements
(the “Individual Hotel Design Agreement(s)”) in relation to the provision of
Hotel Design Services for relevant projects, which shall be subject to the
terms and conditions under the Hotel Design Framework Agreement and
the annual caps thereunder. The duration of each Individual Hotel Design
Agreement shall not exceed the term of the Hotel Design Framework
Agreement and the terms of the Individual Hotel Design Agreements
shall be made on normal commercial terms.
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The service fees payable by Dalian Wanda Group to the Group for the
Hotel Design Services under each Individual Hotel Design Agreement
shall be fair and reasonable and shall be determined with reference
to the prevailing market prices by taking into account the quotations
obtained by Dalian Wanda Group from at least two independent third
party suppliers for the provision of equivalent or similar services in their
ordinary course of business and which shall not, from the Group’s
perspective, be less favourable than the rates charged and terms for
equivalent or similar services provided by the Group to independent third
party in hotels of equivalent or similar grading.

The annual caps of the total amount payable by Dalian Wanda Group for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2024 for the provision of
Hotel Design Services by the Group are approximately RMB59,766,000,
RMB17,764,000 and RMB4,065,000 respectively.

The aggregate amount payable by the Dalian Wanda Group to the Group
in respect of the provision of Hotel Design Services under the Hotel
Design Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023
amounted to approximately RMB17,577,000.

Dalian Wanda Group is a controlling shareholder of the Company and
therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

For details of the said transaction, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 18 October 2019 and 18 November 2021, and
circular dated 28 November 2019 and 9 December 2021.
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Provision of hotel construction management services to Dalian
Wanda Group

On 18 November 2021, as the hotel construction management
framework agreement entered into on 18 October 2019 was due
to expire on 31 December 2021, the Company renewed the hotel
construction management framework agreement with Dalian Wanda
Group for a term of three years from 1 January 2022 to 31 December
2024 (“Hotel Construction Management Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which Dalian Wanda Group and/or its subsidiaries may from
time to time engage the Group including Wanda Hotel Management
Group to provide hotel construction management services. For the
avoidance of doubt, such services do not include project design,
construction and supervision work, in respect of which Dalian Wanda
Group should hire relevant professional advisory body(ies) and be
responsible for such expenses. Dalian Wanda Group and/or its
subsidiaries and the Group shall enter into separate agreements (the
“Individual Hotel Construction Management Agreement(s)”) in relation
to the provision of hotel construction management services for relevant
projects, which shall be subject to the terms and conditions under the
Hotel Construction Management Framework Agreement and the annual
caps thereunder. The duration of each Individual Hotel Construction
Management Agreement shall not exceed the term of the Hotel
Construction Management Framework Agreement and the terms of the
Individual Hotel Construction Management Agreements shall be made
on normal commercial terms.

The service fees payable by Dalian Wanda Group to the Group for the
hotel construction management services for each hotel shall be fair and
reasonable and the consultation and hotel construction management
service fees for each project shall be charged according to the project
area and such fee shall not exceed RMB136 per square meter.

The annual caps of the total amount payable by Dalian \Wanda Group for
each of the three years ending 31 December 2024 for the provision of
hotel construction management services by the Group are approximately
RMB26,101,000, RMB14,239,000 and RMB2,431,000 respectively.
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The aggregate amount payable by the Dalian Wanda Group to the Group
in respect of the provision of Hotel Construction Management Services
under the Hotel Construction Management Framework Agreement
for the year ended 31 December 2023 amounted to approximately
RMB5,875,000.

Dalian Wanda Group is a controlling shareholder of the Company and
therefore a connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules.

For details of the said transaction, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 18 November 2021.

Supplying products to Dalian Wanda Group

On 18 November 2021, as the product supply framework agreement
entered into on 30 June 2021 was due to expire on 31 December 2021,
the Company renewed the product supply framework agreement with
Dalian Wanda Group (the “Product Supply Framework Agreement”).
Pursuant to the Product Supply Framework Agreement entered into
between the Company and Dalian Wanda Group, Dalian Wanda Group
and/or its subsidiaries agreed to purchase, and the Group agreed to
supply the specially accustomed gift and food products, including but
not limited to products such as rice dumplings, mooncakes and gift
boxes (the “Product”) during the period from 1 January 2022 to 31
December 2024.

Dalian Wanda Group and/or its subsidiaries shall place specific
orders (“Individual Specific Order(s)”) for each purchase through a
merchandising platform available to the hotels that is managed by the
Group, which shall stipulate, among others, the product types, quantity
and delivery details and be subject to the terms and conditions under the
Product Supply Framework Agreement and the annual cap thereunder.
The duration of each Individual Specific Order shall not exceed the term
of the Product Supply Framework Agreement and the terms of the
Individual Specific Orders shall be made on normal commercial terms.

The purchase prices payable by Dalian Wanda Group to the Group for
the Products for each purchase shall be determined with reference to the
purchase prices for equivalent or similar products offered by the Group
to other independent third parties.
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The annual cap of the transaction amount payable by the Dalian Wanda
Group to the Group under the Product Supply Framework Agreement
for each of the three years ending 31 December 2024 are approximately
RMB22,973,000, RMB22,973,000, and RMB24,357,000 respectively.

The actual transaction amount incurred under the Product Supply
Framework Agreement for the year ended 31 December 2023 was
approximately RMB22,526,000.

For details of the said transaction, please refer to the Company’s
announcement dated 18 November 2021.

Provision of commercial operation services (“Commercial
Operation Services") by Zhuhai Wanda Commercial
Management Group Co., Ltd. ("Zhuhai Wanda") to the Group

As the then existing entrusted management agreement dated 24
August 2021 was due to expire on 30 June 2022, on 30 June 2022,
Guilin Project Company (an indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company), Zhuhai Wanda and Guilin Wanda Shopping Plaza Business
Management Co., Ltd (“Guilin Wanda”) entered in to the Entrusted
Management Agreement for a term of three years from 1 July 2022
to 30 April 2024 (the “Entrusted Management Agreement”). Pursuant
to the Entrusted Management Agreement, Zhuhai Wanda and Guilin
Wanda (“Zhuhai Wanda Group”) shall provide the Commercial Operation
Services in respect of the commercial complex project (“Commercial
Complex Project”) held by Guilin Project Company, which include
commercial management services, property management services and
value-added services.

The management fee payable by the Guilin Project Company for the
Commercial Operation Services provided by Zhuhai Wanda Group will
be based on a pre-determined formula which comprises a basic service
fee and a bonus service fee, both being a certain applicable percentage
of the net operating income generated by the Commercial Complex
Project.
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The net operating income is the total income generated by the
Commercial Complex Project (including rental and rental related income
and other income generated by the Commercial Complex Project)
less deductions agreed upon between the parties in the Entrusted
Management Agreement being costs of operating and managing the
Commercial Complex Project such as fees incurred for maintenance,
cleaning, security guards, renovation, energy, etc.

The abovementioned service fees were determined based on normal
commercial terms after arm’s length negotiation between Guilin Project
Company and Zhuhai Wanda. Guilin Project Company is an indirect non-
wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. Since Zhuhai Wanda Group
are non-wholly owned subsidiaries of DWCM which is a controlling
shareholder of the Company, they are connected persons of the
Company under the Listing Rules.

The annual caps of the total amount payable by Guilin Project Company
to Zhuhai Wanda Group under the Entrusted Management Agreement
for the three years ending 31 December 2024 are RMB27,287,000,
RMB30,989,000 and RMB10,728,000 respectively. The actual amount
incurred for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
RMB19,786,000.

*

English translation is directly translated from Chinese and is for illustrative
purpose only.
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Review by and Confirmation of Independent Non-Executive
Directors (the “INEDs")

The INEDs have reviewed the continuing connected transactions
conducted during the year ended 31 December 2023, and confirmed
that such transactions were entered into:

(1) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(2)  on normal commercial terms or better to the Group; and

(8) according to the terms in the relevant transaction agreements,
which are fair and reasonable, and in the interests of the
Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation by the Auditors

Pursuant to Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Directors engaged
the auditors of the Company to perform certain work on continuing
connected transactions of the Group in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and
with reference to Practice Note 740 Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditors of
the Company have confirmed by way of a letter to the Board that, for the
year ended 31 December 2023:

(1) nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the disclosed continuing connected transactions have not
been approved by the Board;
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(2)  for transactions involving the provision of goods or services by the
Group, nothing has come to their attention that causes them to
believe that the transactions were not, in all material respects, in
accordance with the pricing policies of the Group;

(8)  nothing has come to their attention that causes them to believe
that the transactions were not entered into, in all material respects,
in accordance with the relevant agreements governing such
transactions; and

(4)  with respect to the aggregate amount of each of the continuing
connected transactions set out in this annual report, nothing has
come to their attention that causes them to believe that such
continuing connected transactions have exceeded the annual cap
set and disclosed by the Company.

During the year, the Group has not entered into any other significant
connected transaction or continuing connected transaction which should
be disclosed pursuant to the requirement under the Listing Rules. The
Directors confirmed that the Company has complied with the applicable
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules with regard to the
related party transactions set out in note 32 to the financial statements
which were also connected transactions or continuing connected
transactions.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance to which the
Company, its holding company or any of their respective subsidiaries
was a party, and in which a Director or any entity connected with a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted
at the end of the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2023.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts for management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of any business of the Company were entered into or
existed during the year.
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up by the
Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are reviewed and recommended by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Group’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE
HIGHEST PAID DIRECTORS/EMPLOYEES

Details of emoluments of the Directors and the five highest paid
Directors/employees of the Company are set out in note 9 and 10 to the
financial statements.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

As at 31 December 2023, the interest of Directors and their respective
associates in businesses which compete or are likely to compete, either
directly or indirectly, with business of the Group:
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Name of Director/
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B HMBAMS NE) B RZABP#EZME BZABZER
Mr. Ning Qifeng DWCM Interested in underlying shares Engaging in property
representing 0.13% of the development, property lease,
issued share capital of DWCM property management and
investment holding
BEHIERY REBEMEXER REENAEEENXEIECDE NEVEHRL - VEHE -WEE
1TREA 20.13% 2 A8 RE R (D = EBRIEEER
EEED
Mr. Zhang Lin DWCM Interested in underlying shares Engaging in property
representing 0.27% of the development, property lease,
issued share capital of DWCM property management and
investment holding
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Name of Director/

Nature of interest in

Business of

associate Name of company the company the company
BE HMBAUS YNSIEZE REARPHEHRZEE EYNCIPA $]
Mr. Han Xu DWCM Interested in underlying shares Engaging in property
representing 0.13% of the development, property lease,
issued share capital of DWCM property management and
investment holding
FRB&ELE REBEMEEE REENAERESHEERECE NBVEMZ YEBE - WXEE
TR 20.13% 2 A8 RER (D EREEER
EEED
Mr. He Zhiping DWCM Being a shareholder with 0.55% Engaging in property
interest development, property lease,
property management and
investment holding
AIETERE REBENEEIE EERER > #EH0.55% 1w NEMERE - YEHRE - WEE

As at 31 December 2023, save as disclosed above, none of the
Directors or their respective associates was interested in any business
which competes or is likely to compete either directly or indirectly, with
business of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each INED an annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers
all the INEDs to be independent.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
Laws or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Bye-Laws, subject to the relevant statutes,
every Director of the Company shall be indemnified and secured
harmless by the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges,
losses, damages and expenses which they incur in the execution of their
duty or supposed duty. Such provisions were in force during the course
of the financial year ended 31 December 2023 and remained in force as
of the date of this report.

In addition, the Company has taken out and maintained insurance for
the Directors against liabilities to third parties that may be incurred in the
course of performing their duties as at the date of this report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors of the Company as at the date of this
report, the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under
the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2023 have been reviewed by the audit committee of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed on this report, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into by the Company during the year or subsisted at the end of
the year.

Directors’ Report
EEZTHRES

BRiEER

AT Z ATMAB T E R A EE R A
AT ARBSIR A5G RIS 2 8 55
CBERERRE.

EHEFFZBEIRX

RBEXABZABHMR EARERRET
AABEZEENPITHRE N R EBE A
NZPREFHM BER - WE B BHE KA
S ARAABFHBERSE EERZME
AEE ZERXNBE_Z_=F+_A4
=+ HUEMEBFEARN IREBEFKREH
HAZAB R o

o ARBDEREFFAIENARES HHE
TREMEFBUZE=ZSERETRER
R

RERABFTRE

RARE D RESAT ABENRRE
ASEEFH AATRRE-F =6+
B=+—BLEE—EES EHRIRES

ATFRE
BIZLEG

BE_Z_=—F+"_A=+—HLEFEZR
BUBRRECHARADELEZEGER -

A B RN R

BRAREFMIREEIN REFEENHETEE
Ko ARRB AT UL NFEE A RZH BT

E=3
%k ©

BEEERBRARAT 71
TSR



Directors’ Report
EETHRES

AUDITORS

During the year, Ernst & Young was re-appointed as the Company’s
auditors for the year ended 31 December 2023 at the Company’s
Annual General Meeting held on 24 May 2023 and to hold office until the
conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Ning Qifeng
Executive Director (Chairman)

Hong Kong, 25 March 2024
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Corporate Governance Report

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance with an emphasis on the principles of transparency,
accountability and independence. The Board of Directors of the
Company (the “Board”) believes that good corporate governance is
essential for the effective management, a healthy corporate culture
and balancing of business risk. Furthermore, it is also essential to the
success of the Company and the enhancement of Shareholders’ value.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company has adopted the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG
Code”) during the period from 1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023
as contained in Part 2 of Appendix C1 (formerly known as Appendix 14)
to the Listing Rules. Except for deviation from CG Code provision C.2.1
as explained in the relevant paragraphs on page 77 in this report, the
Company has complied with the code provision set out in the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 December 2023.

The Board will continue to monitor and review the Company’s corporate
governance practices to ensure compliance.

DIRECTORS' SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix C3
(formerly known as Appendix 10) of the Listing Rules as its own code
of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors. Following
specific enquiry by the Company, all Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the required standard as set out in the Model Code
during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board currently comprises seven Directors, including one executive
Director, three non-executive Directors and three independent non-
executive Directors. The Company has maintained three independent
non-executive Directors which represent over one-third of the Board
during the year ended 31 December 2023. The Board’s composition
during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this
report is set out as follows:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Ning Qifeng (Chairman)
Mr. Liu Yingwu (appointed on 10 January 2024)

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Han Xu

Mr. Zhang Lin

Mr. Ding Benxi (removed on 10 January 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors (“INED"):
Dr. Chen Yan

Mr. He Zhiping

Dr. Teng Bing Sheng

All Directors have distinguished themselves in their respective fields of
expertise and have exhibited high standards of personal and professional
ethics and integrity. The brief biographical details of the Directors are set
out in the “Directors and Senior Management” section on pages 28 to
35 There are no financial, business, family or other material relationships
amongst the Directors.

For the financial year ended 31 December 2023, and up to the date of
this report, there was the following change to the membership of the
Board:

An ordinary resolution has been passed at the special general meeting
of the Company held on 10 January 2024 (the “SGM”) regarding the
removal of Mr. Ding Benxi as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company due to the Board has been unable to contact him with
effect from the conclusion of the SGM.
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Corporate Governance Report

BOARD PRACTICE

The Board is collectively and ultimately responsible for how the Company
is managed, its strategic direction and performance. There is a formal
schedule of matters specifically reserved to and delegated by the Board.
The Board has given clear directions to the management team that
certain matters (including the following) must be reserved to the Board:

—  Publication of final and interim results of the Company;
—  Dividend distribution or other distributions;

—  Treasury, accounting and remuneration policies;

—  Review on internal control system and risk management;

—  Changes to major group corporate structure or Board composition
requiring notification by announcement;

—  Notifiable transactions and non-exempted connected transactions/
continuing connected transactions;

—  Proposed transactions requiring Shareholders’ approval;
—  Capital re-structuring and issue of new securities;

— Joint-ventures with outside party involving capital commitment
from the Group of over 5% of the relevant size test of the
Company; and

— Financial assistance to Directors.

Day-to-day operations of the Group and implementation of the Board’s
decisions and strategy are delegated to the Company’s management
team.

The Chairman, assisted by the company secretary, has ensured that the
Board adheres strictly to all rules and requirements for its meetings and
the maintenance of full and proper records. Procedures are established
for every Director to have access to Board papers and related
information, to have the services of the company secretary, and to
seek independent professional advice at the Company’s expense upon
reasonable request.
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The Chairman and all independent non-executive Directors have
annual meeting without presence of other Directors to provide effective
platform for the Chairman to listen independent views on various issues
concerning the Group.

The Board acknowledges its responsibilities for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Company and ensures that they are prepared
in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The Board also ensures the timely publications of such
financial statements.

Each of the Directors ensured that he/she gave sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the Company.

The Board held four meetings during the year ended 31 December
2023, to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and
financial performance of the Group, and to review and approve the
Group’s annual and interim results. At least 14 days’ notice was given for
all regular Board meetings together with the meeting agenda such that
all Directors are given the opportunity to include matters for discussion in
the agenda. All Directors were properly briefed on issues arising at Board
meetings. The Board papers contained adequate information, which
is accurate, clear, complete and reliable, and the Directors were given
reasonable time to review the contents before the meetings. In addition,
one general meeting was held during the year ended 31 December 2023
and attendance of each Director at these meetings is set out as follows:

ITREAEEEYFATESETUEAME
FHENFEER UREFRHEEIARE
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ER BN TEEUSE BEERERgE
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Number of Number of
Board meetings general meetings
attended/held attended/held
EETEERY EERAERE
HE BT HE BT
Executive Director: HMITES .
Mr. Ning Qifeng (Chairman) BHRIELE (F/FE) 4/4 11
Non-executive Directors: JEHITES .
Mr. Ding Benxi (removed as TARBGEE (RZEZMEF

non-executive Director on —B+HEREIENITES)

10 January 2024) 1/4 11
Mr. Zhang Lin R E 4/4 11
Mr. Han Xu Bkt 4/4 1/1
Independent Non-executive Directors: J&IiIJEHITES :

Mr. He Zhiping AEFRE 4/4 11
Dr. Teng Bing Sheng BRR BB & 4/4 11
Dr. Chen Yan PREdIE L 4/4 1/1
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General meeting is one of the channels for communication between
the Board and the Shareholders. The Company’s auditors, were
available to answer questions at the annual general meeting held on
24 May 2023. Other than the general meeting(s), the Shareholders
may also communicate with the Company through the contact
information listed on the Company’s website. Measures for effective
communication between the Board and the Shareholders are described
in the paragraphs under “Communication with Shareholders” and
“Shareholders’ Rights” in this report.

Mr. Ding Benxi was appointed as non-executive Director and Chairman
of the Company on 3 July 2013 and resigned as Chairman on 22 April
2021. Mr. Ning Qifeng was appointed as executive Director on 17
November 2017 and appointed as Chairman on 22 April 2021. Prior
to his appointment as the Chairman of the Company on 22 April 2021,
although the Company has not appointed a chief executive officer, the
duties of the chief executive officer have been performed by Mr. Ning.
With Mr. Ning’s appointment as the Chairman, such practice deviates
from CG Code provision C.2.1. Considering that the Group’s business
has been in line with its clear strategic direction and the fact that Mr.
Ning has demonstrated suitable management and leadership capabilities
along with his thorough understanding of the Group’s business and
strategy since his appointment as an executive Director in 2017, the
Board believes that vesting the role of the Chairman and the duties of
a chief executive officer in Mr. Ning can facilitate the execution of the
Group’s business strategies and boost effectiveness of its operation.
Therefore, the Board considers that the deviation from code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code will not be inappropriate in such circumstance.
In addition, under the supervision of the Board in which Mr. Ding, the
outgoing chairman, will continue to remain as a non-executive Director
and which comprises, two other non-executive Directors and three
independent non-executive Directors, the Board believes that it is
appropriately structured with balance of power to provide sufficient
checks to protect the interests of the Company and the Shareholders.
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NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The non-executive Directors and Independent Non-executive Directors
provide the Group with a wide range of expertise and experience.
Their active participation in the Board and committee meetings brings
independent judgment on issues relating to the Group’s strategy,
performance and management process, taking into account the
interests of all Shareholders. They make a positive contribution to
the development of the Company’s strategy and policies through
independent, constructive and informed comments.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Company had an
executive Director, three non-executive Directors and three independent
non-executive Directors, with the number of independent non-
executive Directors representing over one-third of the Board. One of
the independent non-executive Directors has appropriate accounting or
related financial management expertise under Rule 3.10 of the Listing
Rules. The Board has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence in accordance with
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that all the independent
non-executive Directors are independent.

According to the service contracts, terms of appointment of the above
non-executive Directors are three years, from 3 July 2013 to 2 July 2016
for Mr. Ding Benxi, from 17 November 2017 to 16 November 2020
for Mr. Zhang Lin, and from 14 March 2019 to 13 March 2022 for Mr.
Han Xu. The terms of appointment for all of the above non-executive
Directors are renewable automatically for successive terms of one year
each commencing from the date next after the expiry of the then current
term, unless terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing
served by either the non-executive Director or the Company.
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According to the service contracts, terms of appointment of the
independent non-executive Directors are three years, from 29 March
2018 to 28 March 2021 for Mr. He Zhiping and from 12 March 2019 to
20 March 2022 for Dr. Teng Bing Sheng and Dr. Chen Yan. The terms
of appointment for all independent non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. He Zhiping, Dr. Teng Bing Sheng and Dr. Chen Yan, are renewable
automatically for successive terms of one year each commmencing from
the date next after the expiry of the then current term, unless terminated
by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either the
independent non-executive Director or the Company.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

The Board has established and adopted a written nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) specifying the process and criteria for the selection
and recommendation of candidates for directorship of the Company.

Selection criteria

The Nomination Committee shall, based on those criteria as set out in
the Nomination Policy (such as reputation for integrity, qualifications and
experience, time commitment and contribution to diversity of the Board
according to the Board diversity policy, etc.), identify and recommend
the proposed candidate to the Board for approval of an appointment. In
the case of re-appointment of Director, the Nomination Committee would
take into account factors such as contribution, attendance in meetings
and level of participation from the retiring Directors. Where the candidate
is appointed for the position of independent non-executive Director,
the Nomination Committee will also assess his/her independence with
reference to the requirements set out in the Listing Rules.

TEERRS

RIBERB AN B IFRITES 2 REHRS
H=F IS FEEZEHRE-T—/\F=A
“HhABREEZZT-F=F"+/\HIE>T
BRI RREFETZERIBA"F—N
F-RA+THEEZE__F=HA”"+HILk-
ERBIUIFATES (AETRE BREE
TREREEELT) 2 ERATRERERERER
EKJEE@E—EVﬁ%4¥%ﬁ%$Wﬁ
AEAEBREHA VDR =ZERANEEENT
D& LE ©

BEEZHEREE

EFEERULFEM—ELUEEHI 2RSS
BR (FRBEER)) - BRVIBAATESRRE
AZPERHER R R ZE R

FRIEER|

RELSEGRLURRBURFTEZ 28 (H1E
BE ERRER BARERBEESTR
BETtBRHBEEEMEL TLEENE
S EAERAZETSVEREZ N EMH

HEZE - NENEREEEMS  RLEEE
REBRIEFZEM HFEEERHKRBH

EERR - HEEREADBILIFNITES
ARRZEE TR 2R ETRRFHRZRE
DEHME I -

BEBEZERAMRAR 79
TSR



Corporate Governance Report
TERERRS

Nomination procedures

In appointing a new Director, the Nomination Committee and/or the
Board will first call a meeting of the Nomination Committee and invite
nominations of candidates from Board members for its consideration
prior to the meeting. The Nomination Committee may also put forward
candidates who are not nominated by the Board. The Nomination
Committee shall then make recommendations for the Board’s
consideration and approval. The information, including biography,
independence (for nomination of non-executive or independent non-
executive directors only), proposed remuneration and other information
as required under the applicable laws and regulations will be included
in the circular to Shareholders. A Shareholder may also serve to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong a notice in
writing for his/her intention to propose a resolution to elect a certain
candidate as Director and a notice by the nominated person of his/her
willingness to be elected according to the Bye-Laws of the Company,
without the Board’s recommendation or nomination of the Nomination
Committee other than those candidates as set out in the circular. The
Board shall then consider and have the final decision on all matters
relating to whether to make the recommended candidates to stand for
election at a general meeting. The Nomination Committee shall ensure
the transparency and fairness of the selection procedure.

New Director(s), on appointment, will be given an induction package
containing all key legal and Listing Rules’ requirements as well as
guidelines on the responsibilities and obligations to be observed by a
Director. The package will also include the latest published financial
reports of the Company and the documentation for the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Board. The senior management
will subsequently conduct such briefing as is necessary to give the new
Director(s) more detailed information on the Group’s operations, business
and activities.
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According to Clause 99 of the Bye-Laws of the Company, at each
annual general meeting, one-third of the Directors for the time being, or,
if the number of the Directors is not three or a multiple of three, then the
number nearest one-third, shall retire from office by rotation save any
Director holding office as Chairman or managing Director. The Directors
to retire in every year shall be those who have been longest in office
since their last election but as between persons who became Directors
on the same day shall (unless they otherwise agree between themselves)
be determined by lot. The retiring Directors shall be eligible for re-
election. The Company at any general meeting at which any Directors
retire may fill the vacated offices. Further, any Director appointed to fill
a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board should hold office only
until the next general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election at
the meeting.

According to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code of the Listing Rules,
all Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to
election by Shareholders at the first general meeting after appointment.
Every Director, including those appointed for a specific term, should be
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

During the year, no amount was paid or payable by the Company to
the Directors or any of the 5 highest paid individuals as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.
There was no arrangement under which a Director waived or agree to
waive any remuneration during the year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including a
Remuneration Committee, an Audit Committee and a Nomination
Committee, each of which has its specific written terms of reference,
which are available on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. Copies of minutes of all meetings and resolutions of the
committees, which are kept by the company secretary, are circulated
to all Board members and committee members for comments and
records within a reasonable time after the meeting, and the committees
are required to report back to the Board on their decision and
recommendations where appropriate. The procedures and arrangements
for a Board meeting, as mentioned on pages 75 to 77 in the section
headed “Board Practice” above, have been adopted for the committee
meetings so far as practicable.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee meets at least once a year. One
committee meeting was held in 2023 to, among other things, assess the
performance of the executive Directors, review and discuss the existing
policy and structure for the remuneration of Directors, and the service
contract and remuneration packages of the Directors. The members of
the Remuneration Committee and the attendance of each member at
the committee meeting are set out as follows:

HINEEE
HNEEEEFEELAR—REZ-N_-F
TZHFERT-RFEEEH U EDPERE)

TMERITEE R B RERERRFY

FINEUR B 2048 IR EE S 2 IRFS & 49 B

%@ HMEEG s HEMREREHNFEZE
BEEZBEREIWT

Number of

Committee meetings

attended/held

ZEEEEIH

Committee member ZEEHE HFE BT
Dr. Teng Bing Sheng (Chairman) BOREE T (/) 11
Mr. He Zhiping AIEFLEE 11
Dr. Chen Yan PRef e+ 11

Details of the Directors’ remuneration are set out in note 9 to the financial
statements.

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with
written terms of reference, which was amended and readopted by
the Board with effect from 29 December 2022, in accordance with
the requirements of the CG Code for the purposes of reviewing and
providing supervision over the Company’s remuneration proposals.
The Remuneration Committee currently consists of three members, all
of them are independent non-executive Directors. The Remuneration
Committee is provided with sufficient resources to discharge its duties
and has access to independent professional advice in accordance with
the Company’s policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the Remuneration Committee are:

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior management
remuneration and establish a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy;
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PN ¥ =3I $E Yo el
IF=BE/O¥Re
(i) to review and approve the management’s remuneration proposals i) ZBRESGIUZACDEENRTE 8

with reference to the Board’s corporate goals and objectives;

SWHUEEERE 2 #BHEEE

(i) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration i) WMEFRNTEERSREEBZHMNT

package of individual executive Directors and senior management;

BREEGROER

(v) to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration of V) IFEHTEECFMNOEEZIREE

non-executive Directors;

iy .
0

(v)  to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time V) ZTEEBERABSZM M BN EE

commitment, responsibilities and employment conditions
elsewhere in the group of which the Company is a member

company;

BRI EURAE AR /ME AT ZER
WEMBLZ BRI

(v to review and approve compensation payable to executive V) B IHLERRITEEREREIEES

Directors and senior management for any loss or termination of

their office or appointment;

(Vi) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to Vi)  mEwHbEREETAKEMERRE
dismissal or removal of Directors for misconduct; and

(viii) to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in (i) FEEEImESHEHTABAADEE

deciding his/her own remuneration.

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the annual remuneration of the

HMERRAIR UEBBNESEZRE

35{'

BRI R 2 BB ETHE ; &

als

HAEG 5

ECE =+ "A=+—HIFE L3I

members of the senior management who are not Directors are within the BEEoRBIEERBZFHNFUTEHE

following band:

Number of

individuals
Total annual remuneration band (HK$) FHr4EzasiE (B A
HK$1,000,000 or below 1,000,000 7080 A T 1
HK$2,000,000 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,00078 7t £3,000,00078 75 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,00178 75 24,000,000 75 1
HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,00178 75 2&5,000,0007 75 1
HK$5,000,001 to HK$6,000,000 5,000,00178 7t £6,000,00078 75 1
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee meets at least twice each year. In 2023, the Audit
Committee met twice to, among other things, consider the annual
results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2022
and the interim results of the Group for the 6 months ended 30 June
2023, and discuss with the auditors of the Company on internal control,
risk management, compliance with rules and regulations, auditors’
independence, auditors’ remuneration and the scope of work in relation
to the annual audit. The members of the Audit Committee and the
attendance records of each member at the committee meetings in 2023
are set out as follows:

BZEEY

BIZLZEEEEE LV EHMAGE BZEE
BRIEI=FERTMARGH U EFPE
B ERAEEHE_S_—_F+"A= -I——
BIEVBFEEZ 2 FEERAERHE
TEEAABZTHIENERZHHRES ’fﬁhi:
NEVZHENT RN BB BT
Bl R 3R BBV 1B 08 ~ A% B L 14 ~ 1% B B
REEZBTFHE NS -=F BEZZE
EgREUREREHEZEG R ZIBER
FHUOTF -

Number of

Committee meetings

attended/held

ZEEEEIH

Committee member ZEEWE HFE BT

Dr. Chen Yan (Chairwoman) FREEE L (£/5E) 2/2

Mr. He Zhiping AIEFLEE 2/2

Dr. Teng Bing Sheng BRI B2 8 & 2/2
The Company has established the Audit Committee with written terms of KABBEMIBIZEE R RIFGEE AT

reference, which was amended and re-adopted by the Board with effect
from 1 January 2019, in accordance with the requirements of the CG
Code for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision over the
Group’s financial reporting process and internal controls. As at the date
of this report, the Audit Committee is comprised of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Dr. Chen Yan, Mr. He Zhiping and Dr.
Teng Bing Sheng. A former partner of the Company’s existing auditor
shall be prohibited from acting as a member of the Audit Committee for a
period of two years from the date of the person ceasing to be a partner
of the firm; or to have any financial interest in the firm, whichever is later.

The major roles and functions of the Audit Committee are:

(i) to consider and recommend to the Board on the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditors;

(i)  to review and monitor the external auditors’ independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards;
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to approve the engagement of the external auditors to perform
non-audit services;

to monitor integrity of the Company’s financial statements and
annual report and accounts, half-year report and, if prepared for
publication, quarterly reports, and to review significant financial
reporting judgments contained in them;

to liaise with the Board and senior management and must meet
with the Company’s auditors;

to review the Company'’s financial controls, internal control and risk
management systems;

to discuss the risk management and internal control system with
the management to ensure that the management has performed
its duty to maintain effective internal control and risk management
systems;

to review the Group’s financial and accounting policies and
practices;

to consider major investigation findings on risk management and
internal control matters as delegated by the Board or on its own

initiative, and management’s response to these findings;

to ensure coordination between the internal and external auditors;

to review the external auditors’ management letter;

to ensure the Board will provide a timely response to the issues
raised in the external auditors’ management letter; and

to review reports on the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosures in this report.

The Audit Committee has explicit authority to investigate into any matter

under the scope of its duties and the authority to obtain independent

professional advice. It is given full access to and assistance from

management and sufficient resources to discharge its duties properly.

The Audit Committee meets with the external auditors at least twice

every year.

(i)

)
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(vii)

(xii)
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee shall meet at least once a year. One
committee meeting was held in 2023 to, among other things, review
the composition of the Board, and consider the independence of the
Independent Non-executive Directors and the retirement and re-election
of directors. The members of the Nomination Committee and the
attendance of each member at the committee meeting are set out as
follows:

RREEG

RPEEESFAELAR—RGRZ-RNF
TZHFERT-RFEEEH U EDPERE)
BNEFGZEM  ERBIIIFNTEEZE
TMHUKRESEZREREE-REEESENE
UKREREHFEESEZZIFRHIINT :

Number of

Committee meetings

attended/held

ZEEEEIH

Committee member ZEEHE HFE BT
Mr. Ning Qifeng (Chairman) BEIEEE (F/EF) 11
Dr. Teng Bing Sheng BRI B2 fE 4 1/1
Dr. Chen Yan PRef e+ 11

The Company established the Nomination Committee with written terms
of reference in June 2005, which was amended and re-adopted by the
Board with effect from 1 January 2019. It currently consists of three
members, including a non-executive Director and two independent
non-executive Directors. The Nomination Committee is provided
with sufficient resources to discharge its duties and has access to
independent professional advice in accordance with the Company’s
policy if considered necessary.

The major roles and functions of the Nomination Committee are:

(i) to review the performance of the Board and ensure that the
Board and its committees consist of directors with the appropriate
balance of skills, diversity and knowledge of the Company to
enable it to discharge its duties effectively;

(i)  to assist the Board in succession planning for the Board and senior
management;
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(vi)

(vii)
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to review the structure, size and composition (including the skills,
knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations on any proposed changes to the Board
to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. WWhen reviewing
the structure, size and composition of the Board, the Nomination
Committee shall take into consideration of a number of factors,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, or professional experience in accordance with the
Board diversity policy adopted by the Company from time to time
to achieve Board diversity;

to draw up, review and update, as appropriate, the diversity policy
for the Board’s approval having due regard to the requirements of
the Listing Rules in place from time to time, review and update the
objectives that the Board has set for implementing such policy, and
disclose the policy on diversity or a summary of the policy in the
Company’s corporate governance report;

to develop, review and implement, as appropriate, the policy
for the nomination of Board members, which includes the
criteria, process and procedures for the identification, selection
and nomination of candidates for Directors for the Board’s
approval. Such criteria include but are not limited to the potential
contributions a candidate can bring to the Board in terms of
qualifications, skills, experience, independence and gender
diversity in accordance with the Company’s diversity policy.
The Nomination Committee should disclose in the Company’s
corporate governance report the nomination policy and the
progress made towards achieving the objectives set in the policy;

to identify individuals suitably qualified to become Board members
and select or make recommendations to the Board on the
selection of individuals nominated for directorships;

to assess the independence of independent non-executive
directors having regard to relevant guidelines or requirements of
the Listing Rules in place from time to time and, if a proposed
director will be holding their seventh (or more) listed company
directorship, his/her ability to devote sufficient time to Board
matters;
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(viil

(x)

(xii)

(i)

88

to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment or re-
appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors
and senior management, in particular the chairman and the chief
executive, taking into account all factors which the Nomination
Committee considers appropriate including objective criteria and
potential contributions a candidate can bring with due regard
for the benefits of diversity on the Board, the challenges and
opportunities facing the Group and skills and expertise required
in the future and ensure that senior management succession
planning is discussed at the Board at least once annually;

to keep under review the leadership needs, leadership training and
development programmes of the Group, with a view to ensuring
the continued ability of the Group to function effectively and
compete in the market;

to evaluate the needs for, and monitor the training and
development of Directors;

to develop the procedures for the performance evaluation of the
Board committees:

(@ review and assess the skills, knowledge and experience
required to serve on various Board committees, and make
recommendations on the appointment of members of the
Board committees and the chairman of each committee;

(b) recommend candidates to the Board to fill vacancies or
new positions on the Board committees as necessary or
desirable;

(c) review the feedback in respect of the role and effectiveness
of the Board committees arising from the evaluation
of the Board and/or any Board committees and make
recommendations for any changes;

to do any such things to enable the Nomination Committee to
discharge its powers and functions conferred on it by the Board;
and

to conform to any requirement, direction, and regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board.
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Board Diversity

With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its
sustainable development. All Board appointments will be based on merit,
and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, having due
regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates
of the Board will be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background,
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The
ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board. According to Rule 13.92 of
the Listing Rules, the above Board diversity policy of the Company has
been approved by the Board and adopted by the Nomination Committee
on 23 August 2013 and amended with effect from 1 January 2019 in
compliance with the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee holds meeting at least once a year to
review the diversity of the Board and discuss the measurable objectives,
including knowledge, appropriate professional qualifications, relevant
business background and experience, skills, relevant management
expertise and independence of Directors, and give recommendation
to the Board. During the year, the Nomination Committee takes the
view that the measurable objectives were achieved to a large extent.
It paid particular attention on the cultural and educational background,
professional and technical experience, and skills of the members of
Board and also reviewed the composition between Executive Directors
and Independent Non-executive Directors so as to ensure appropriate
independence within the Board.
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As at the date of this report, the current Board comprises six male
members and one female member. The Company considers that it has
achieved gender diversity by having Board members of both gender
and the Company will endeavor to continue to maintain at least one
female member on the Board. Recognising the importance of gender
diversity, the Nomination Committee will also seize the opportunity to
gradually increase the proportion of female Directors in the Board when
selecting and recommending a new candidate in the event of any new
appointment of director(s). The Company believes that the balance of
gender in the Board would bring more inspiration to the Board and
enhance the development of the Group, thus gender diversity is an
essential factor when selecting suitable candidate as a Director.

The Company is committed to promoting gender diversity not only within
the Board but among its workforce generally. As at the date of this
report, approximately 82% of the Company’s senior workforce (including
the Directors and senior management) is male and approximately 18%
is female. The Board is of the view that the Group has achieved gender
diversity among employees. The details of workforce composition were
disclosed under the Environmental, Social and Governance Report in this
report. The Company targets to avoid a single gender senior workforce
and will timely review the gender diversity of the senior workforce in
accordance with the development of the Company.

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing, with the
support from the Group’s finance department, the financial statements
of the Group and ensure that the financial statements are in accordance
with statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements
of the Group. The Directors also confirm that, to the best of their
knowledge, information and belief, having made all reasonable enquires,
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to
continue as going concern.
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The report of the Company’s external auditors, Ernst & Young, and their KRB)INEZE ML K BN ERM RS
reporting responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group are set REBREEMBRR 2 BREEHNE133
out in the Independent Auditor’'s Report from pages 133 to 141. BESIMNB B IZBENRS -

External Auditors' Independence and Remuneration SPMESRZ BN 2 I L M e B

The Audit Committee is mandated to monitor the independence of the EZEE QR ERERINEZEEN 2Bt
external auditors to ensure the objectivity in the financial statements. MRV BRER2EHE -ZEFHUERAE
Members of the Committee are of the view that the Company’s external NEZINEZEETEBIE - RNER BN
auditors are independent. During the year, the remuneration paid/payable FE A A BIMNEZEET 2 Bl &5 T

to the Company’s external auditors are set out as follows:

Fee paid/payable

Services rendered for the Group A ERER 2 IR Bt EEER

HK$'000

TFHET

Annual audit services FEZERE 1,111
Non-audit services: IEZBARTS:

Review of interim report ERF RS 356

Other services H AR 46
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has overall responsibilities for maintaining sound and effective
risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The
Group’s systems of risk management and internal control includes a
defined management structure with limited authority, and is designed
to achieve business objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorised
use or disposition, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting
records for the provisions of reliable financial information for internal
use or for publication, and ensure compliance with relevant legislation
and regulations. The system is put in place to provide reasonable, but
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems
and achievement of the Group’s objectives. The Board has conducted
review of the Group’s risk management by ongoing monitoring of risks
(including ESG risks), and internal control systems during the year
ended 31 December 2023 including financial, operational controls and
risk management functions, and ensured the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget for
the Group’s accounting and financial reporting functions, Listing Rules
compliance, as well as ESG performance and reporting functions at
least annually. The Board has also reviewed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems and considered them to be
effective and adequate.

In relation to the Board’s risk management and internal control
functions, the Board fulfils its duties by determining the policy for the
corporate governance of the Company by reviewing and monitoring
the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, developing and monitoring the codes of
conduct applicable to employees and the Directors of the Company,
reviewing the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report, and receiving and monitoring the
training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior
management of the Company. Where any significant risks (including
ESG risks) are identified, the Board will evaluate and manage such risks
by considering the severity of the impact of the risk on the Company’s
financial results, the probability that the risk will occur and the imminence
of the risk.
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The Group does not have an internal audit function, but instead shares
and benefits from the internal audit function of its parent, DWCM,
which operates an internal audit function for all of its subsidiaries,
including the Group. The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Company and is
currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an internal
audit function within the Group in light of the efficiency and effectiveness
of the current internal audit arrangement. The situation will be reviewed
from time to time.

The Group has adopted procedures for the handling and dissemination
of inside information in a timely manner and in compliance with the SFO.
The procedures and their effectiveness are subject to review on a regular
basis. Unless the inside information falls within any of the safe harbors
as permitted under the SFO, the Group is required to disseminate such
information through the electronic publication system operated by the
Stock Exchange to the public in a timely manner. All Directors, officers
and relevant employees are required to take reasonable precautions
for preserving the confidentiality of inside information and the relevant
announcement (if applicable) before publication. If the Group believes
that the necessary degree of confidentiality cannot be maintained, the
Group will immediately disclose the information to the public as soon as
reasonably practicable.

Directors' Training

Pursuant to CG Code Provision C.1.4, all Directors should participate
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. The Directors have been given relevant guideline
materials to ensure that they are apprised of the latest changes in
the commercial, legal and regulatory requirements in relation to the
Company’s businesses, and to refresh their knowledge and skills on the
roles, functions and duties of a director of a listed company.

New Directors, on appointment, will be given an induction package
containing all key legal and Listing Rules’ requirements as well as
guidelines on the responsibilities and obligations to be observed by
a director. The package will also include the latest published financial
reports of the Company and the documentation for the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Board.
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The Company also continuously updates Directors on the latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure compliance and enhance their awareness of
good corporate governance practices. Circulars or guidance notes are
also issued to Directors where appropriate to ensure their awareness of
best corporate governance practices.

The Directors are continually updated on the statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate the discharge of their
responsibilities. Continuing briefing and professional development for
Directors will be arranged where necessary. Individual Directors also
participated in the courses relating to the roles, functions and duties of
a listed company director or further enhancement of their professional
development by way of attending training courses or via online aids or
reading relevant materials.

All the Directors (namely, Mr. Ding Benxi, Mr. Zhang Lin, Mr. Han Xu,
Mr. Ning Qifeng, Mr. He Zhiping, Dr. Teng Bing Sheng and Dr. Chen
Yan) have participated in relevant trainings and have provided the
relevant records to the Company. The Directors have developed and
updated their knowledge and skills through participation in the training
programmes, which in turn ensures that they could make suitable
contribution to the Board.

Company Secretary's Training

Pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, the Company Secretary
must take no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training in each
financial year. The Company Secretary provided her training records to
the Company indicating more than 15 hours of relevant professional
development by means of attending in-house briefings, attending
seminars and reading relevant guideline materials for the financial year
ended 31 December 2023.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognizes the importance of good and effective
communication with its Shareholders. Information in relation to the
Group is disseminated to Shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim reports, annual reports,
announcements, notices and circulars, which are published to the
website of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s own website.
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The Company’s annual general meeting (the “AGM”) is a valuable
forum for the Board to communicate directly with the Shareholders.
The Chairman actively seeks to participate at the AGM and personally
chair the AGM to answer any questions from the Shareholders. A
separate resolution is proposed by the Chairman in respect of each
issue to be considered at the AGM. An AGM circular is distributed to
all Shareholders at least 21 days prior to the AGM, setting out details
of each propose resolution, voting procedures (including procedures
for demanding and conducting a poll) and other relevant information.
The Chairman explains the procedures for demanding and conducting
a poll again at the beginning of the AGM, and (except where a poll
is demanded) reveals how many proxies for and against have been
received in respect of each resolution.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

Set out below is a summary of certain rights of the Shareholders as
required to be disclosed pursuant to the CG Code.

Convening an Special General Meeting and Procedures for
Putting Forward Proposals by Shareholders at General Meeting

Shareholders may request the Company to convene a general meeting
according to the provision as set out in the Company’s Bye-Laws and
the Companies Act of Bermuda. A copy of the Company’s Bye-Laws
is available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the Company’s
website.

Shareholders holding not less than one-twentieth (5%) of the total voting
rights of the Company, or not less than 100 Shareholders, can put
forward a proposal at a general meeting of the Company pursuant to
and in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda. The requisition
specifying the proposal, duly signed by the requisitionists, together with
a statement with respect to the matter referred to in the proposal, must
be deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office with a
sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses.
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The procedure for Shareholders to nominate a person for election as a
Director is also available on the Company’s website. Subject to the Bye-
Laws of the Company, any Shareholder wishing to nominate an individual
for election as a Director of the Company at the AGM shall, no later
than 7 days prior to the relevant general meeting, submit a completed
form of nomination to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong, and in default the form of nomination submitted shall be
treated as invalid. Any such form of nomination shall be accompanied
by a biographical profile of each proposed nominee and a written
statement from the proposed nominee consenting to be nominated
and, if nominated and elected, consenting to serve as a Director of
the Company. The biographical profile of each proposed nominee shall
include at least the following information: () full name, age and address
of the proposed nomineg; (i) past and present directorships (if any) and
employment of the proposed nomineeg; (i) the information as required to
be include in the announcement of the Company under Rule 13.51(2) of
the Listing Rules.

Enquiries from Shareholders to the Board

In order to ensure effective communication between the Shareholders
and the Board, the Company adopted the shareholders communication
procedures on 28 February 2012. According to the shareholders
communication procedures, the Board is responsible for maintaining
an on-going dialogue with the Shareholders and in particular, and
using AGMs or other general meetings to communicate with them
and encourage their participation. The chairman of the Board should
attend the AGM. He should also invite the independent non-executive
Directors and the chairpersons of the Audit, Remuneration, Nomination
and any other Committees (as appropriate) to attend. In their absence,
the chairman should invite another member of the committee or failing
this his duly appointed delegate, to attend. These persons should be
available to answer questions at the AGM.

The chairperson of the independent board committee (if any) should also
be available to answer questions at any general meeting to approve a
connected transaction or any other transaction that requires independent
shareholders’ approval.
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Shareholders may at any time send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board in writing, whose contact details are as follows:

The Board of Directors

Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited
Unit 3007, 30th Floor

Two Exchange Square

8 Connaught Place

Central, Hong Kong

The Board and/or relevant board committees of the Company will
consider the enquiries and concerns raised by the Shareholders and
reply as appropriate.

The Board has conducted a review of the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders communication procedures. Having
considered the diverse channels of communication in place, the Board
is satisfied that effective shareholders communication procedures have
been properly implemented throughout the year ended 31 December
2023.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

A special resolution has been passed at the annual general meeting of
the Company held on 24 May 2023 to adopt the amended and restated
bye-laws of the Company to ensure compliance with the applicable laws
of Bermuda and Listing Rules. For details of the amendments, please
refer to the Company’s circular dated 27 April 2023.

Save for the aforementioned amendments, there were no significant
changes in the Company'’s constitutional documents during the Year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE ENHANCEMENT

Enhancing corporate governance is not simply a matter of applying
and complying with the CG Code but about promoting and developing
an ethical and healthy corporate culture. We will continue to review
and, where appropriate, improve our current practices on the basis of
our experience, regulatory changes and developments. Any views and
suggestions from our Shareholders are also welcome.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

Reporting Scope and Boundary

This Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (the
“Report”) of Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited (the
“Company”) presents the Group’s initiatives and performance in
ESG aspects between 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 (the
“Reporting Period”), which is consistent with our financial year. Unless
otherwise specified, the data, policy documents and statements
mentioned in this Report cover business operated by the Company
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), namely the Group’s hotel services
business, the Guilin project (i.e. Guilin Gaoxin Wanda Plaza, the “Plaza”)
and four leased-and-operated hotels, namely Wanda Moments Hotel
Qingpu, Shanghai, Wanda Moments Hotel, Nanchang West Railway
Station, Wanda Moments Hotel Yinzhou, Ningbo and Wanda Yi Hotel,
Wauxi City (collectively referred to as “the Hotels”).

Reporting Standards

The Group prepares the Report in compliance with the relevant
requirements as stipulated in Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) as set out in Appendix C2 (formerly
known as Appendix 27) of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
(the “Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”). We have appointed an independent consulting firm
to offer professional advice for preparing the Report.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES wERL

In the preparation of the Report, the Group has complied with all KEBTREARENEER  BETESGHES|
“comply or explain” provisions set out in the ESG Guide and adhered FRELBIPTA IEPRLRTE ) 1830 B ESG
to the four reporting principles as stated in the ESG Guide, namely el RENEEZEE 216 FEHE—EET
materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency. TEREEA] -

e Materiality: Stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment . BEEY  ETENESHEREEMT

were conducted to identify and prioritize material ESG issues in our i MR BB R EERNE
business operations. KESGiERE ©

e Quantitative: Quantitative metrics are disclosed in this Report to . 2 ARECHBESLE1R ) LIECER
keep track of and evaluate our ESG performance. B s FAPIBIESGRIR

e Balance: This Report provides an unbiased assessment on the . T AR ERIBEMNIFERMEESG

Group’s ESG performance by highlighting both our achievements BIEFENRRRREESCENAE A
and areas for improvement on ESG management. EaHh AR EFERIESGRIR

e Consistency: Unless otherwise specified, consistent . —RE  BRIES BRI AR ETRN—
methodologies are adopted for year-on-year comparisons of the BB A AR A EENESGRIFHE A FiE
Group’s ESG performance. 1TEEER o
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BOARD APPROVAL

The Report has been approved by the board of directors (the “Board”)
before publication.

OUR APPROACH TO SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

For the sake of sustainable development, the Group takes a proactive
approach to manage its ESG issues. As a responsible corporate in the
society, we also devote ourselves to promoting a harmonious society
through continuous contribution and considering our environment,
employees, business partners, customers and the wider community in
our operations.

BOARD'S STATEMENT

The Group has formulated robust and stable ESG governance practices.
The Board is responsible for developing ESG-related initiatives,
managing and monitoring ESG-related risks as well as maintaining
the effectiveness of the Group’s ESG strategies. The management of
regional operations is designated to supervise the daily implementation
of ESG practices, report to the Board as appropriate on a timely basis as
well as ensure compliance with all applicable ESG laws and regulations.
ESG matters are evaluated and prioritized through an annual materiality
assessment. The Board approves the result of the assessment which
is incorporated into the Group’s strategies and plans. The Board
recognises the importance of ESG-related goals and targets set for the
Group’s long-term success. ESG-related targets have been set at the
operational level and the performance against these targets is reviewed
and evaluated regularly. Overall ESG performance is reviewed by the
Board at least on an annual basis through the approval of this Report.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

The Group takes an active role in promoting diversity among
stakeholders, including employees, shareholders, investors, suppliers,
customers, tenants and community partners in our business locations.
Sustainable relationship with stakeholders is one of our top priorities.
Therefore, we value their opinions and expectations, and consider their
feedback to promote future improvements in the Group.

We communicated and engaged with stakeholders by organising daily
communication, meetings at all business level and regular ESG related
engagement during the Reporting Period.

MATERIALITY ANALYSIS

Unless fundamental changes are discovered in the Group’s business,
an extensive engagement on ESG-related issues is organised every five
years with a view to ensure that feedback from stakeholders is conveyed
effectively to our management and the Board. Key stakeholders
including management staff, shareholders and investors, customers,
suppliers and community partners were invited to participate in online
surveys and phone interviews to provide their suggestions and rank the
relevant significance of the ESG issues to them and the Group. A total of
21 ESG issues were regarded as relevant to our business, of which 11 of
them are regarded as material.
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IRIR « HERERRS

After confirmation with senior management of the Group, the results are RAEENSREIEERRE  BRGERER

used as a guide in the preparation of the Report. SRR ERW IS o
Key Areas Material ESG Issues Identified
TEHE B A E KESGE 2
Operating Practices ° Customer Data Privacy
EEIE6 EREFREL
o Product and Service Quality
Em&RHE =
° Customer Satisfaction
BEEARE
o Compliance
=r
o Intellectual Property Rights
RN AR
o Customer Health and Safety
BEREREEZ S
o Supply Chain Management
HEEEIE
Employment and Labour Practices ° Training and Development
BIERS TER el R
° Child Labour
ET
o Employment Relations and Retention
&R A & BES

o Employee Rights, Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Non-discrimination
EEEN THERE L0 bETIER
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Key Areas Other ESG Issues considered
TEHR B2Z B HMESGEE
Community ° Community Investment
& HERKRE
Environmental Protection ° Energy
IRIGIRE AEJR
° Greenhouse Gas (GHG) Emissions
R E R AR
o Waste Management
EEEY)EIE
o Water Conservation
Efizk
° Green Building
° Climate Change
RIREE

Operating Practices
SEER)

Employment and Labour Practices

BERFIER

o Anti-corruption
R&5

° Occupational Health and Safety
WEREEZS

o Forced or Compulsory Labour
RIBE AT H
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIE - HEKRERKRS

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

The Group endeavours to protect the environment and reduce
the impacts of our operations on the environment. In view of the
unprecedented challenges posed by climate change, we strive to
advocate sustainable development and manage important environmental
issues in our operations, ranging from appropriate management of
resource and waste to promoting green buildings. To demonstrate our
commitment to minimizing environmental pollution, we incorporate
resource conservation and waste management measures into our daily
operations, as well as formulate environmental targets in the Hotels and
the Plaza managed and operated by the Group. We adhere to relevant
local environmental regulations, including the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China ((FFZEN IR IZ (RE4))
and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environment Pollution Caused by Solid Wastes ((FZ A &
FIE[E e F Y5 215 57,6 % ) . During the Reporting Period, no non-
compliance cases regarding environmental protection were found.

Climate Change

As part of the community, we do not live without caring for the impact
of climate change. The Group manages the issue with respect to
the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFD), which outlines four components: Governance,
Strategy, Risk Management and Metrics and Targets.

According to the World Business Council for Sustainable Development
(“WBCSD”), our governance should be primarily driven by the Board,
which set a clear strategy to achieve eco-efficiency and provide desirable
goods and services while reducing environmental impact and resource
intensity. This pushes us to consider the climate factor when making
business decisions.

The Group recognises the climate-related issues which have affected/
may affect our business. During the Reporting Period, we continued to
identify and assess these climate-related risks.

Acute physical risks such as the increased severity and frequency of
extreme weather events including typhoons and storms may cause
business interruption, increase insurance premium and raise the
possibility of health and safety incidents. In addition, chronic physical
risks from long-term climate change, including increases in average
temperatures, may increase operating and maintenance costs.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

When we consider transition risks, the tightening of climate policies
and regulatory requirements may imply higher capital investment and
otherwise non-compliance costs.

In light of these climate-related risks, the Group has implemented various
mitigation and adaption measures. We have property insurance and
public liability insurance to protect our interests and reduce potential
financial loss. In addition, we have formulated operational procedures
to provide clear guidelines on what our employees should do to protect
themselves, the customers’ and the Group’s assets and properties under
extreme weather events such as storms and typhoons.

The Group also recognises that climate change can have significant
impacts on our business of hotel management and operations. Our
Wanda Hotel Design and Research Institute takes climate change into
account in its hotel design and management process. For the Hotels
located in areas vulnerable to extreme weather events, we seek to
identify and assess possible risks through research and field studies on
suitable mitigation and adaptation measures.

Qur controlling shareholder, Dalian Wanda Group, has developed the
“Wanda Group Green Building and Energy Conservation Workplan”,
which provides guidelines on setting energy saving targets. As its
subsidiary, we refer to the guidelines to set energy saving targets for the
hotels managed and operated by the Group.

Emissions Generated

The Group implements robust environmental systems at each of our
business line operations to ensure that all environmental aspects are
controlled according to regulatory standards. Emissions of air pollutants,
such as particulate matters, nitrogen oxides and sulphur dioxides, are
not considered significant in the Group’s operations. Therefore, no
relevant data is disclosed accordingly. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has encountered no incident of non-compliance with applicable
laws and regulations related to air emissions discharges.

In light of the growing concerns over air pollution and climate change,
the Group has established a GHG emissions target, which aims to
reduce the GHG emissions intensity by the year ending 31 December
2026 (“2026") by at least 2% as compared with the level in the year
ended 31 December 2023.
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During the Reporting Period, the total GHG emission increased by 4.5%

RSB AEREREINEREFIEM

as compared to the previous year as the data in previous year is affected 45% TSR EFHEZRIEFERMB -
by the epidemic.
Total GHG Emissions and Intensity Unit 2023 2022
BERBAHREREZE v S —EZC
Total GHG emissions' Tonnes (carbon dioxide 7,330 7,013
BERBATKRE equivalent)

AW (CH]ERES)
Total GHG emissions (Scope 1) Tonnes (carbon dioxide equivalent) 159 112
BERBBREENE (FEN) 2 (CEERES)
Total GHG emissions (Scope 2) Tonnes (carbon dioxide equivalent) 7,171 6,901
RERBEREENE (#E2) 2 (CEERES)
Total GHG emission intensity
BERBARERE
Offices and Plaza Tonnes (carbon dioxide 0.09 0.08
ERYNE S equivalent/square meter)

NHE (ZEEREEFHK)
Hotels Tonnes (carbon dioxide 0.01 0.02
ZEAE equivalent/room night)

AW (CRIEREE E)
Note(s): Mzt .

1.

GHG emission data is presented in terms of carbon dioxide equivalent
and are based on, but not limited to, The Greenhouse Gas Protocol:
A Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard issued by the World
Resources Institute and WBCSD, How to prepare an ESG Report —
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPls issued by the
Hong Kong Stock Exchange, “Global Warming Potential Values” from the
IPCC Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) in 2021, Notice on Carrying out
Work in Reporting and Management of Greenhouse Gas Emissions of
Enterprises in the Power Generation Industry from 2023 to 2025 ({EF5*
WMAF2023—2025F B ITH L ¥ B T REHNKE EEE T EHY
#BA)) issued by the Ministry of Ecological Environment of the PRC and
Carbon emission figure published by Hong Kong Electric Investments
Limited.

The data includes GHG emissions from seven offices in Hong Kong
and Mainland China (during the Report Period, a new Zhuhai office was
opened), Gullin Gaoxi Wanda Plaza and the Hotels.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

USING RESOURCES EFFICIENTLY

Measures to Reduce Energy Consumption

The Group has established an energy conservation target, which aims
to reduce the energy consumption intensity by 2026 by at least 2% as
compared with the level in 2023.

In order to improve our energy efficiency, we encourage our staff to
switch off lights for 1.5 hours during lunch breaks every working day and
switch off electrical appliances including lighting and air-conditioners that
are not in use during non-office hours. We also conduct cleaning and
inspection on the air-conditioners regularly to optimise energy efficiency.
We purchase energy saving appliances with Grade 1 energy labels in
offices. To further improve energy efficiency, we introduce intelligent
building management systems to monitor the electricity consumption
of lighting systems in most of our offices. Although the direct emissions
generated by the Group are low, we encourage our staff to commute
by public transport as much as possible to further minimise carbon
footprint.

For the Plaza, we installed an electric sunshade to prevent direct
sun rays from entering the room through the ceiling and windows to
maintain indoor temperature during the daytime and reduce the energy
consumption caused by air-conditioners. Dome skylights provide natural
daylight for indoor areas to minimise the use of lighting.

For the Hotels, emphasis was placed on the use of renewable energy
in the design process, e.g. the use of air-cooled heat pumps to
provide a source of hot water for the Hotels. We require Hotels to
carry out daily inspections and reports to ensure that their equipment
is working properly. During the period of low occupancy rate, guests
are concentrated on certain floors, while energy-saving and power-
off measures are adopted on the closed floors to reduce the energy
consumption of the air-conditioning, lighting and the 24-hour power
supply of the guest rooms. Spotlights and incandescent lights are
replaced by energy-saving lights such as LED lights. We also turn off
unnecessary and idling lights. The temperature of the hot water system
is adjusted according to seasonal differences. The exterior lighting of
the Hotels is also controlled and adjusted with reference to seasonal
variation to maximise energy efficiency. Filters of the air conditions are
regularly cleaned and replaced to optimise energy efficiency. In 2023,
we have completed some renovation measures to reduce energy
consumption. For Wanda Moments Hotel, Nanchang, solar energy
has been enabled since June 2023. It greatly reduces the energy
consumption of hot water supply in the hotel. For Wanda Yi Hotel, Wuxi,
the replacement of LED lights per room has been completed. Hence it
saves a lot of energy.

IRIE - HEKRERKRS
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IRIE - HEKRERKRS

Electricity remains our main source of GHG emissions. During the

Reporting Period, the total energy consumption increased by 11.3% as
compared to the previous year as the data in previous year is affected by

BAKRARKMIEEREIHHNIZRR 0
WEHRE ERBEEREFIEMI1.3%  T)

MR EFHBERRIBTEMR -

the epidemic.

Energy Consumption and Intensity Unit 2023 2022
REREEREE B —EI=F —E-C
Total direct energy consumption-natural gas Cubic meter 70,711 51,985
HERFREEE-—RAR IHK

Offices and Plaza Cubic meter 0 0
MRERES RV

Hotels Cubic meter 70,711 51,985
ZERIE A A

Total indirect energy consumption-electricity kWh 12,572,621 11,435,061
MiEREREEE—BN TRE

Offices and Plaza kWh 7,465,963 6,823,355
MAERES TR

Hotels kWh 5,106,658 4,611,706
ZEBIE TREF

Total energy consumption?® GJ 48,089 43,190
RERAEFERS =

Offices and Plaza GJ 26,877 24,564
MARERES Bl

Hotels GJ 21,212 18,626
ZEBIE B

Total energy consumption intensity

HRERHFERE

Offices and Plaza GJ/square meter 0.60 0.54
MAERES H5EFHK

Hotels GJ/room night 0.09 0.09
ZEBIE Bl Yl

Note(s): Mzt .

3. Total energy consumption comes from natural gas and purchased 3. EEREEERBRNAAKREEE I ER

electricity. The Energy conversion coefficient is in accordance with the
Energy Statistics Manual (Appendix 3, units and equivalent conversion)
issued by the International Energy Agency. Natural gas: 40 MJ/m?, 1 GJ =

277.778 KWh.

4. The data includes energy consumption from seven offices in Hong Kong
and Mainland China (during the Report Period, a new Zhuhai office was

opened), Gullin Gaoxi Wanda Plaza and the Hotels.
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Measures to Reduce Water Consumption

The Hotels, Plaza and office operations of the Group require the use of
water resources. All the drinking water and toilet flushing water of the
Group are provided by municipal water supplies. There are no issues in
sourcing water.

The Group recognises that water resources management is one of
the material aspects of preserving the natural environment. The Group
establish a water conservation target, which aims to reduce the water
consumption intensity by 2026 by at least 2% as compared with the
level in 2023.

To achieve its water consumption target, the Group actively adopts
water-saving measures to reduce its water consumptions. We request
our staffs in hotel management units to turn off water taps after use and
we replace with water-saving taps. Moreover, we install water-saving
appliances such as shower heads and smart toilets. The hotel rooms
are equipped with smart toilets, which reduce water consumption by
30% as compared with ordinary toilets. The Hotels use water-saving
shower heads, which can save about 8 tons of water on average every
month as compared with traditional shower heads. In addition, we
arrange staff to regularly check if there are any leakage of pipelines and
rectify the problems promptly. The Hotels have set individual monthly
water conservation targets to motivate water reduction initiatives. With
the joint efforts of staff at all levels and the ongoing monitoring of the
management, the total water consumption during the Reporting Period
has decreased by 6.0% as compared to the previous year.

IRIR « (LB RERHS

7K FE

FEBFMEENZFEE BHERMAERE
EAKE R AEEPTA A KR RIK 2R
B ™ B K 7 KEEE A KR £ 3 AR A R

o

FEBEHIKEREENFRESAREN

THEZ— AEERTEHKEZE 5EN
TEIARFHREKEERER-_ZS =N
KR ER1E2% ©

RBERZEKER  AEEEBRIEK S
LURILD HFEKE - RFIBIBIEEEEF BN
MWETEEAKERRRFRN I EIHRE
KIUKBESR © b Sh » A REEIKEE - I
MAEREREEER BEERAERESRR
B—R BRAELE Al D 30%BIFE K E - A% F
BE R ENAOMATEER ) LEERMA RS
AT R A NSRRI K IS RPIEE
L ETREEERE R WAIKEZ -
ZEBEEDRIRILEHEKER  LUETE
KEEH e ERMETINHRAS HEERENF
BEET  REMBANGEKEREFERLD
6.0%°

Total Water Consumption and Intensity Unit 2023° 2022
HEKEREE ==Rir} =8 g
Total water consumption Cubic meter 197,052 209,563
ek E K

Offices and Plaza Cubic meter 106,989 127,153
WAZE R E S 775K

Hotels Cubic meter 90,063 82,410
A A K

Total water consumption intensity

HIEKEBE

Offices and Plaza Cubic meter/square meter 2.38 2.84
WANZE R E S M HKSFFHK

Hotels Cubic meter/room night 0.39 0.39
ZEAE YHK B

Note: Mzt .

5. The data includes water consumption from seven offices in Hong Kong 5. HIEBE T RMEEERFE M B

and Mainland China (during the Report Period, a new Zhuhai office was
opened), Gullin Gaoxi Wanda Plaza and the Hotels.
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IRIE - HEKRERKRS

Managing Waste Responsibly

The Group recognises the impacts of waste generation from our
business and the importance of sustainable waste management. The
operation of the Group’s business does not produce significant amounts
of hazardous waste and require the use of the packaging material,
therefore the relevant data is not recorded. During the Reporting
Period, the Group has encountered no incident of non-compliance with
applicable laws and regulations related to hazardous and non-hazardous
waste disposal and handling.

To achieve its waste reduction target, we have established a three-
tiered approach in our operations to minimise waste generation. We
prioritise waste avoidance over waste reduction and recycling. Waste
disposal is considered the final unavoidable solution and qualified waste
management companies have been appointed to handle our waste in an
appropriate manner.

To avoid wastepaper generation, the Group encourages employees
to minimise the use of paper and process document through online
systems. We advocate green office and paper-free working environment
in other business units including hotel management operations by
reusing wastepaper and adopting double-side printing. We also
encourage the use of own cups in order to minimise the use of
disposable paper cups.

The Hotels have established waste management strategies to minimise
waste generation while maintaining service excellence. We strictly
implement garbage classification as well as a variety of recycling and
reuse measures for reusable or recyclable waste and kitchen waste.
Such measures include:

° We promote kitchen waste recycling and reduce the use of
disposable plastics.

° We reuse cartons generated during the hotel’'s stock
replenishment for stock storage.
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. We reuse used toothpaste, toothbrushes and soap for cleaning. . HMBFE FRIFMEE(ESZETAR
IREA -

. We recycle, backwash and reuse hotel guest slippers. . MR RERERERASERE
RS o

. We have signed an agreement with relevant government . HME BB BRSPS EEF hAE
departments on recycling of waste grease. [l 735 ©

During the Reporting Period, approximately 28 tonnes of non-hazardous RER SRR BAIEEL28 AN R EERE
waste was generated, while 1,783 kg of paper, 324 kg of plastics and Y 2R EDRBEIRBEBE1,783 2 T4tk 324
13,476 kg of kitchen waste was recycled respectively. N RAB4T6A T BT R

The Group has established a waste reduction target, which aims to KEEDREREBEER SENR S /RFH]
reduce the non-hazardous waste intensity by 2026 by at least 2% as BEREEEVEER S =FNKERD

compared with the level in 2023. B®{E2%°
Total Waste Generation and Intensity Unit 2023° 2022
BEEVMEEREE EfU —E = e
Total non-hazardous waste generation Tonnes 28 23
FREEREEEYEE YN
Offices and Plaza Tonnes 3 3
MRERES YN
Hotels Tonnes 25 20
ZERE UNL]
Total non-hazardous waste generation

intensity
FAREEBREEEMEETE
Offices and Plaza kg/square meter 0.63 0.72
WMAERES YN PN
Hotels kg/room night 0.11 0.09
ZEBE NI~
Note: BaE -
6. The data includes waste generation from seven offices in Hong Kong 6. HIEEETHRMETARTE R B

and Mainland China (during the Report Period, a new Zhuhai office was

opened) and the Hotels.
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IRIE - HEKRERKRS

Promoting Green Buildings

The Group is committed to minimising our carbon footprint while
maximising resources efficiency in our properties and hotel management
operations. We facilitate decarbonisation in our operations by
implementing green buildings characteristics in design and construction.
Guilin Gaoxin Wanda Plaza is an iconic green building project of the
Group. The building integrates the intelligent building management
system, “Huiyun Smart Management System”, which was developed by
our parent company DWCM.

Such system can combine energy consumption, fire alarm, security,
operation and equipment management systems into one platform
which can be monitored centrally. Consequently, Guilin Gaoxin Wanda
Plaza can operate safely, greenly and smartly. This enhances the energy
efficiency of the building while maintaining quality service to customers.
We have been awarded the “1-star” standard certification of the China
Green Building Label, which recognised our effort to create excellent
green building.

The green building features of Guilin Gaoxin Wanda Plaza are
summarised in the following table:

Green Building Features Functions

HmEBEERGG THAEE

HEEREREE

FERERYERBAEEEEEE R mR
RACBYEEF > IRELA R R B o TR PSR A%
BREEAFERAERGNERT  EETEE
REIAK - EMS B ERES A AERR
MR ERERE ZREES T RMASAT
ANEREBFEEMENEEREEERT—
EEEECEEERK -

IR FBERBERHFE HER RE - EE
hRBEEERRAEAE—ETALEPEZE-
Et > EMEHMBEERESFUBRZE IR
RERECEE WEBEEARAREARTIRM
BERFBHER A8 T BIRE IR o Fff
ERTEGERRENT—2) REDE  2RAK
PEREESHKERRASENE-

EMSHMBERSNGEREF BN T
B

Energy conservation device-electric sunshade
EiE R B —BEFEBGR

Prevents direct sun rays from entering the room to reduce energy
consumption caused by air-conditioners.

EEBCBREEFNEER MR EREMRBISEREFE

Natural lighting design-dome skylights

BT HRF—EEXE lightings.

Provides natural daylight for indoor areas to minimise the use of

HERM TS RBBARACLUR D IR RFRIEA

Water saving system-rainwater collection system

EIKRE—FRAKIRERR
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Collects and reuses rainwater for landscaping.
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WALK ALONG WITH EMPLOYEES

The Group values our employees in sustainable business development
and success. We have established policies such as Employee
Handbook, which sets out detailed requirements for the recruitment,
assessment, promotion and training of employees. To attract and retain
talents, we offer competitive remuneration package and benefits. We
always strive to provide our employees with equal career development
opportunities and maintain a zero-tolerant attitude to any forms of
discrimination. In addition to providing a healthy and safe working
environment, we also advocate work-life balance. We continuously invest
in our employees by supporting them to attend a range of trainings to
hone their skills and knowledge, thereby strengthening our workforce.
Our employment management practices adhere to employment-related
laws and regulations. We establish a series of equitable, transparent and
comprehensive employment policies in compliance with the Employment
Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong) in Hong Kong, as
well as the Labor Law of the People’s Republic of China ((F7Z A &
HIEI%8);% ) and the Labor Contract Law of the People’s Republic of
China ((FZEN EZAE% 8= /64 )). During the Reporting Period,
the Group did not identify any major violations related to the labour and
dismissal rule and legislation.
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As at 31 December 2023, the Group had 709 employees.

N _E_=F+_A=+—H>K~EEE709
RS-

Employee Distribution’

BTN

As of 31 December 2023

HEZZZ

Number of employees by age group

BRERANESNESHE

=F#+-A=+—H

Number of employees by gender

BB SNEEHRE

Aged 30 or below
30T

Aged above 50
5058 A £

139
52
Aged 41-50 Aged 31-40
A ZE505% 31Z405%
203 315
Number of employees by a location Number of employees by employees type
rESSHEEHME RESENEDPHNEEHE
ang Kong Part Time
a8 s
7 \ (i
) Full Time
Mainland =
China £
il Efzp:ul 709
702
Note: Vir=
7. The data includes the Group’s hotel service business in Mainland China 7. BRea T AEER R E AR RS ES

(@ new Zhuhai office was opened during the Report Period), one office in

Hong Kong and the Hotels.

114 Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited
Annual Report 2023

(RREMEIIE THEBPWAE) ~—ER
EEOMAERZEBE-



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Labour Standards

In compliance with the Employment of Children Regulations (Chapter
57B of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Labor Law of the People’s
Republic of China ((FZEN RN E)4)), and the Provisions
on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour (ZLE1EHZET#E)), our
employment policy strictly prohibits the employment of child and forced
labour in our business operations. We conduct background checks on
every job applicant. If any child labour or forced labour is discovered, the
management will take follow-up actions based on the interests of the
relevant individuals.

Any form of discrimination, harassment or bullying is not tolerated in
the Group. We have established a variety of channels for employee
communication, including dedicated email, telephone, QR code
and the President’s mailbox. The confidentiality of whistleblower’s
information is strictly protected and any form of retaliation is prohibited.
We extend our commitment to our suppliers by requiring all business
partners to take measures to avoid and eliminate any form of forced,
bonded or compulsory labour, or human trafficking. The rights and
freedoms of every individual are protected as no worker is asked to
surrender identification documents nor lodge deposits as a condition of
employment.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has encountered no incident of
non-compliance with applicable laws and regulations related to anti-child
and anti-forced labour practices at all operating regions.
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Talents Acquisition and Retention

The Group values people as our greatest asset. We attract talents
through diversified recruitment channels, including the Company’s official
website, major recruitment portals, online and offline job fairs, etc.,
to match candidates with suitable positions according to their skills
and interests. In addition to the online platform and offline recruitment
channels, we also actively promote the internal talent recommendation
mechanism, encouraging employees to recommend talents according
to the Company’s needs. At the same time, we are actively recruiting
on campuses to attract fresh graduates through cooperation between
enterprises and colleges, such as the establishment of “Wanda
Classes”. We dedicate to create a diverse and inclusive workplace for
our employees and support them along their career paths with care and
equal opportunity.

Signing with Guizhou University on cooperation
between enterprises and colleges
BEENAREFIRESIFIREG
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‘Wanda Classes’ awarded for 2023 global human
resources think tank human resources industry
‘GHR Human Resources Best Practice’
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To ensure talents are retained, our employees are rewarded with
competitive remuneration package after considering their performance,
experience and market salary level. The payment bonus depends on the
financial performance of the Group and the employee performance. We
also provide our employees with a wide range of benefits including social
insurance, personal accident insurance, medical insurance, retirement
plans, education subsidy, annual health check, medical welfare and free
working meals or meal allowances. In addition, we are committed to
promoting an inclusive workplace. For example, we provide maternity or
paternity leave to eligible employees in compliance with local laws and
regulations. Housing allowance is granted to employees and expatriates
whose have different work locations before and after employment. We
also offer meal subsidies and special arrangements for ethnic minority
employees. For the Hotels, we have introduced and implemented Full
Cycle Benefit Policy ((£/BR#87/§&% )), which provides benefits in
various areas such as age, special care and health.

A structured and clear promotion path is believed to be vital in talents
retention and recognition of their contributions. The Group conducts
performance appraisal for our employees on an annual basis. We
also provide appeal channels to maintain a fair review process. In
addition to external recruitment, we recommend employees to be
promoted internally when there are vacancies in order to recognise their
contributions to the Group and increase their career mobility.

The Group seek to cultivate a culture of healthy work-life balance.
All working hours comply with national laws and benchmark industry
standards, and overtime work is voluntary. The Group assists staff to
balance commitments outside of work by offering a range of leaves,
which include annual, marriage, maternity, paternity and compassionate.

IRIE - HEKRERKRS
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The Group emphasises on maintaining close relationship with employees
and ensuring their wellbeing. Therefore, we organise a range of team-
building activities including birthday parties, team gatherings and
festival celebrations. We have launched Employee Reward Recognition
Policy ((8 T2ZE)53 5 #41)) to reward employees directly in terms of
team recognition, service recognition and performance, and HR Brand
Standard - Employee Experience ((A 1 EJRBIEIZHE-E TF2E)) to
retain core staff and improve management standards. We also provide
our employees with free meals, coffee, occasional tea breaks, extra half-
day holidays, festive activities and gifts and free annual medical check-
ups to help them balance work and life. The Group has also arranged
recreational events during the Reporting Period, such as Lunar New Year
gathering, afternoon tea, cooking activities, night run and anniversary
food festival. We have also arranged regular meetings with employees to
listen to employees’ opinions.

The Company held employee birthday parties to enhance
employees’ sense of belonging.

TATEMETEBEG RS ETRERK -
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The Company celebrated Lunar New Year with our employees.
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Employees Turnover Rate by Category Unit
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By Gender
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Male
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By Age Group
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Aged above 50
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8. The data includes the Group’s hotel service business in Mainland China
(a new Zhuhai office was opened during the Report Period), one office in

Hong Kong and the Hotels.
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Non-Discrimination and Diversity

The Group’s core value is ‘People-oriented’. We are committed to
supporting and promoting gender equality in the workplace and
ensuring that all employees are able to realise their personal values
on the Group’s diverse platform. Employees will not be discriminated
against on the basis of age, gender, physical or mental health, marital
status, family status, race, colour, nationality, religion, political affiliation
or sexual orientation. We have taken account of diversity and inclusion
in our employment policy to build a respectful workplace, where equal
opportunities with regard to recruitment and promotion are given to
staff with disabilities. Necessary accommodations to work environment
are also carried out to meet their needs. At office in Hong Kong, all
personnel staff receive training related to non-discriminatory practices.
The Group strives to ensure a safe and secure workplace with zero-
tolerance to any form of abuse and/or sexual harassment in the
workplace. Staff grievance and disciplinary procedures of the Group
have been established to ensure that all submitted cases are treated with
confidentiality and fairness.

Training and Development

The Group values the importance of employee’ job-related skills and
knowledge. We provide our employees with a variety of training and
development opportunities so that they can thrive in their career paths.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has delivered a total of 5,215
hours of training for employees, with an average of 7.4 hours per
employee.

To promote the professional development of our employees, we have
arranged a series of trainings for all employees whilst there also are
trainings tailored for different ranks and positions to better accommodate
their personal and team-specific goals. For example, we have launched
‘Multi-talented Staff’, ‘Kickstart Plan’, ‘Pilot Plan’, ‘Voyage Plan’ and
‘KunPeng Plan’ to equip both our employees and managers with
skills to advance to higher positions. For financial roles, we provide
training on total budget management and financial knowledge etc. As
for roles concerning operational management, we provide training on
sales negotiation, branding, complaints handling procedures as well
as marketing promotion for hotel management units to enhance their
understanding of brand management. For engineering staff, we provide
training such as energy saving of central air conditioning, construction
regulations and the use of heating, ventilation and air conditioning during
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summer times. For all staff, we provide work-related injury training for
all employees of the front-line operation department to enhance the
employees’ awareness of the work-related injury insurance and related
regulations. We provide ‘New employee induction programme’ to enable
new staff to quickly integrate into the working environment.

To motivate our employees to pursue career development, our
employees may reimburse training expenses including course fees
and related expenses. Our employees are also paid during on-the-job
training. For example, we have supported our employees financially to
attend training related to accounting and updated Listing Rules hosted
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (HKICPA)
and the Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (HKCGI). Our Board
members and full-time employees in Hong Kong receive training on
business management provided by the Group’s company secretary.
We also signed a Memorandum of Understanding with the School of
Hotel and Tourism Management of Hong Kong Polytechnic University
on strategic cooperation in talent. In the future, both parties will work
together to promote the development and construction of talent and the
industry.
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The Hotels regularly conducts fire training for frontline employees to enhance employees’ safety awareness.

ZEBECHAAGE TETENEIN MRS ETHRERH -

Average Training Hours Completed per Employee®

BRESTMRINN TR

Average training hours per employee Average training hours per employee
by employee category

by gender
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9. The data includes the Group’s hotel service business in Mainland China 9. FIEE T T ANEE N R E AR HEE RS ER
(a new Zhuhai office was opened during the Report Period), one office in (PR EEAEMIE THRERAE) ~—BR
Hong Kong and the Hotels.
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Percentage of employees trained by category Unit 2023 2022
BRENDEETNZIETIT S B ZEI=gF0 B
By employees type

HiESER

Top management % 100.0 94.4
SREEANE Epagss

Middle management % 100.0 85.3
FIREIEAR Bt

General staff % 99.6 95.3
—MET Bt

By gender

EERE o

Female % 99.7 91.6
7% B

Male % 99.7 93.6
B4 Bt

Note: Kzt .

10. The data includes the Group’s hotel service business in Mainland China 10. FIRE T T ANEE N P EAHEERFEER

(a new Zhuhai Office was opened during the Report Period), one office in
Hong Kong and the Hotels.

Taking Care of Employees’ Health and Safety

The health and safety of our employees are an indispensable part of our
business. The Group strictly complies with the Occupational Safety and
Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the legal
requirements on occupational health and safety stipulated in the Labor
Law of the People’s Republic of China ((FZEN LA E%)).
For our hotel business, the hotel management team have established
Safety Mandatory Provision ((Z2 7 #41%X)) which outlines the
responsibilities of safety personnel, daily safety measures, and safety
related policies. All employees are required to strictly comply to lower the
inherent occupational health and safety risks.

The Group arranges safety programmes and training for its employees
during induction and conducts monthly safety training for all employees,
sharing relevant case studies to further enhance their health and safety
awareness.
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The Group did not have any serious work-related injuries and did not

FEERKRSHBRTLEELEEAERETS

have lost day due to work injury during the Reporting Period. There was REATEEATEH# A= EERFEEL
no record of work-related fatality in the past three reporting years. BAERI TR
Unit 2023 2022 2021
B —EI=gn ZEZZC —E-—%F
Number of work-related fatalities Number 0 0 0
R TERIEMIETHIAE AEL
Rate of work-related fatalities % 0 0 0
AT {ERAAMSETAIEEER Epalss
Lost days due to work injury Days 0 0 0
RATHEBETIERH PN
Note: Kzt .
11, The data includes the Group’s hotel service business in Mainland China 11. FIEE B T AEE R R E A HEE RS ER

(a new Zhuhai office was opened during the Report Period), one office in
Hong Kong and the Hotels.

RESPONSIBLE OPERATIONS

A safe, sustainable and responsible operational culture is crucial to the
delivery of our high-quality products in an efficient manner. The Group
strongly believes that high ethical standard and close relationship
with our customers and suppliers support the Group’s continuous
improvement. We highly respect the intellectual property rights of third
parties. Thus, our internal policies are reviewed on a regular basis to
avoid any infringement on intellectual property activities and ensure our
compliances with relevant regulations and laws. During the Reporting
Period, we are not aware of any non-compliance relating to health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and
services provided.
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Maintaining Ethical Conduct

The Group upholds integrity in the workplace and adopts a zero-
tolerance attitude towards corruption by implementing a range of anti-
corruption policies and strategies, which prohibit the provision and
acceptance of bribes. Our members and employees must obey such
policies and measures, as well as behave in accordance with the
requirements. The Group regularly reviews our business practices to
ensure compliance obligations. During the Reporting Period, more than
20 audit items of various types were conducted, focusing on areas such
as sales and revenue credit management, engineering procurement,
material cost control, contract seal management, operational quality
and asset management, and a total of more than 30 non-compliant
cooperative suppliers were terminated.

At Wanda Hotels, we uphold integrity, fairness, inclusion and respect
in all our operations. We tolerate no misconducts including bribery,
extortion, fraud and money laundering. A number of measures, such
as Corporate Integrity Management Rules ((/\EBEZ 5 &R
JE)), have been in place to ensure our compliance with relevant laws
and regulations such as the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter
201 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Anti-money Laundering Law
of the People’'s Republic of China ((FHZEN B ZEAME Kk 7%#E%)). The
Company’s internal control department has set up an e-mail address
for complaints and reports. We have included the “Prohibition of
Commercial Bribery” clause in all signed contracts, stipulating that
suppliers and other cooperative entities are prohibited from bribing
the Group and its employees and at the same time clearly settling out
the complaint and reporting channels in the contracts. The Group has
zero tolerance for employee and partners who violate the rules and
regulations, and once found guilty, they are subject to various levels
of punishment, such as disciplinary action, termination of employment
contract, termination of cooperation and inclusion on the blacklist. In the
case of serious misconduct and breaches of the law, we will refer them
to the judicial authorities.

The Group maintains zero-tolerance stance for corruption. Trainings are
provided for our employees on anti-corruption to ensure that they fully
understand the Group’s expectation on ethical standards and to mitigate
possible corruption risks. The company secretary provides regular
training on corporate governance to the Directors and the management
of the Group to strengthen their ability for supervision and monitoring.
Regarding our hotel operations, we provide either online or offline anti-
corruption training to our staff.

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not violate any anti-
corruption laws and regulations that had a significant impact on the
operation of the Group, and the Group and its employees were not
involved in any concluded lawsuits regarding corruption.
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Managing Our Supply Chain

Our relationships with our suppliers are the keystone for our high-quality
products and services. During the Reporting Period, 582 suppliers from
the Mainland China were engaged.

Engaging Our Supplier

We have the Tender and Procurement Policy in place to standardise and
provide detailed guideline on suppliers and subcontractors tendering
and procurement procedures. We have provided guidelines for staff
involving in procurement activities to take into account cost, time, quality
and continuity of supply as well as suppliers’ compliance with laws,
regulations and other prescribed standards concerning product/service
quality/legal regulations for safety, business ethics, labour practices, the
environment, anti-corruption, data protection and intellectual property,
among other issues, when selecting and engaging our suppliers. We
clearly communicate our expectation with our suppliers and define in
contracts. For instance, contracts are attached with the “Partnership
with Integrity Agreement”. Suppliers are subject to initial selection,
audit and open bidding processes before being included in our list of
suppliers.

Hotels must assume the responsibility of protecting the environment.
Paying attention to environmental protection can enhance the Hotel's
brand image and social responsibility. The use of environmentally friendly
materials can save energy during the operation process, reduce the
consumption of raw materials and avoid the addition and use of many
chemical substances. It can ensure the safety of our valuable guests and
improve comfort of accommodation.

On the other hand, we introduce effective supply chain management. It
is necessary to optimize the procurement process to improve efficiency,
establish long-term supply relationships with suppliers to control costs,
and hence reduce waste of resources.
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Identifying Social and Environmental Risks

We are aware that our sourcing activities are associated with risks,
including environmental and social risk that pose negative consequences
to the natural environment and our stakeholders such as our employees,
customers and neighbouring communities. In order to minimise these
risks, supplier assessments which involve site visits and questionnaires
are conducted when selecting new suppliers and regularly thereafter, We
will consider terminating the partnership if the supplier fails to meet the
Group’s standards and if no corrective actions are taken. For the Hotels,
major suppliers are chosen by Wanda Hotel Management Group for
better management and reduce risks. The procurement team conducts
monthly market research and annual supplier assessment to evaluate
social and environmental risks along the supply chain. For offices and
the Plaza, suppliers, contractors and service providers’ performance is
closely monitored to ensure that they meet the legal requirement and the
Group’s standard on areas including but not limited to labour rights and
occupational health and safety.

Promoting Environmentally Preferable Products and Services

The Group encourages our procurement team to prioritise products
which have lower impact on the environment, including products
that have low embodied carbon, sourced locally, produced with
renewable energy, durable and repairable, contained materials with high
recyclability, minimised the use of virgin material in products, minimised
energy and/or water consumption, minimised or eliminated packaging
and replaced disposable/single-use items with reusable or recyclable
ones. For instance, the Hotels are gradually introducing the use of large
shared bottles for hotel toiletries and renewable/biodegradable materials
for guest products. We will continue to follow the principle of green and
environmental protection in updating and replacing our products. We will
launch a “Green Action” for guest room bedding and towelling by placing
green cards in guest rooms to encourage guests to replace towelling
and bedding when necessary.
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Enhancing Services

Addressing customers’ feedback properly is our major way of improving
our service quality. At the Plaza, we have established a customer
complaint hotline for our customers to make inquiries and voice their
opinions. To keep a record of their overall satisfaction of our services
provided, formal customer satisfaction surveys are conducted twice
a year. We do our best to reduce possible complaints at all costs by
constantly improving our complaints handling procedures. Our operation
department is responsible for reviewing all customers’ complaints very
carefully. Once complaints are accepted, they will be directed to relevant
departments for further handling to ensure the compliance with internal
policies. To further maximise our customers’ satisfaction, all complaints
are expected to be responded within 24 hours and have to be handled
in a professional manner. We also arrange monthly meeting with our
tenants to address their needs and provide special training to the teams
who are responsible for serving our tenants.

For the Hotels, we established a central call centre in March 2023 to
provide 365 days * 12 hours uninterrupted customer service. The call
centre covers a wide range of areas, including membership enquiries,
hotel enquiries, customer complaints, bookings, and online enquiries.
The call centre team receives regular online training on a weekly and
monthly basis to continuously improve the quality of service based
on market changes and customer feedback. Customers’ reviews and
ratings on online travel agency (OTA) platforms such as Huiping and
Ctrip remains our major tools for service quality evaluation. Through
genuine customer feedbacks, we can understand customers’ needs,
enhance customer satisfaction and build loyalty, ultimately promote our
brand image. We have set an aggressive target of achieving 4.8 out of
a 5-point scale on all of these OTA platforms. To motivate our better
service quality, employees’ performance pay is linked to such target.
Internal guidelines including Hotel Service and Quality Standard (B
JEARFS BB 12 ) and Hotel Employees Appearance and Service
Attitude Standards ((GB/E S T & & 4R 25 E 122 ) have been
established to stipulate our requirement on appearance, behaviour,
service attitude, operation knowledge and problem-solving skills. To
evaluate our service quality, we actively seek feedback from the guests
after check-in and check-out by telephone calls. Moreover, mystery
guests are also engaged. There are mainly three types of mystery
guests. They include frequent guests, guests who rated low on OTA
platforms and professional third-party mystery guests. We conduct daily
evaluation meeting to discuss and follow up on the customers’ scoring
lower than 4.8 points and formulate improvement plans accordingly. A
monthly meeting is also held to evaluate the implementation of these
improvement plans and review monthly targets on different service
quality indicators.
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Recall procedures are not material to the Group’s operation. There were
no recalls concerning the provision and use of the Group’s products that
have a significant impact on our operations and no recall due to safety
and health reasons for the Reporting Period.

On 28 November 2023, Wanda Yi Wuxi Hotel, Wuxi, received Fashion
List Awards of China Hotel. The award was established to recognize
hotels that are beloved by their guests for their outstanding performance
and exceptional stay experience.

Maintaining Health and Safety

The Group has always prioritised the health and safety of our guests. We
have well-established policies including but not limited to hygiene and
disinfection, fire safety and food safety.

To ensure the health and safety of hotel guests, we have established
Wanda Hotel Management Policy to ensure that the Hotels have fully
complied with relevant laws and regulations including but not limited
to the Fire Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ((#2
NBEHHE %)) . We have established a set of legal, scientific
and effective safety measures in terms of organisational configuration,
safety systems, safety tools and safety risk transfer, covering all
stages of design, construction, preparation and operation. We have
established a dedicated safety supervision department, which is
responsible for providing safety service guidance and auditing work
for the properties managed by the Group. Based on relevant national
regulations and more than 30 years of experience in safety management,
the department provides various safety services, including but not
limited to the establishment and revision of safety systems, safety
meetings (once a month), safety training (once a quarter), safety tools
settings and services, safety inspection and evaluation, and safety
assessment. In accordance with national laws and regulations and the
company’s experience in safety management, we have compiled Safety
Management Operating Rules for Different Industries, which include, but
are not limited to: the configuration of safety organisations in different
companies, fire safety requirements, electrical safety requirements,
security safety requirements, special equipment safety requirements,
anti-pouring and anti-falling safety requirements, operational safety
requirements and emergency response requirements. In order to do a
better job of safety and security services, we have our own intellectual
property rights of the safety management information system to achieve
various types of safety matters to remind and supervise the work.
Through the safety training information system, we also provide online
learning and testing for property staff, outsourced service companies
and employees, so as to meet the demand for safety training for all
positions in the hotel. Equipped with an intelligent fire safety monitoring
system that transmits property fire safety information to the 24-
hour remote safety monitoring centre at the Group headquarters,
achieving dual safety monitoring between the local companies and the
headquarters. The scope of monitoring includes fire alarm information,
fire maintenance information, fire water pressure information and other
important data related to the fire safety of the local companies.
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We implement the Food Safety Law of the Peoples Republic of China
(HEANEBHEME RS ZE4)) and all relevant health regulations and
standards, and establish and implement a food safety management
system in accordance with ISO 22000 Food Safety Management
Systems — Requirements for Any Organization in the Food Chain ((&
RHE S AEAABRIE K ) and Food Safety Management System
— Requirements for Catering Services ((ZErZZK))and Code of
Practice for Food Safety in Catering Services ((ZEVAR7S Bip L2 1E1E
#280)) and other standards and specifications. In addition, we cooperate
with professional third party companies to provide guidance and training
on food hygiene and safety for our hotel catering staff, including FSMS
Food Safety Training Contract, FSMS Food Safety Certification Contract,
Food Safety Management System (ISO 22000 / FSSC 22000 / HACCP),
management system internal auditor series, specialised training on
food additives, food safety training for catering/food manufacturing
enterprises, food nutrition labelling training, food regulations training,
supplier audit training, food hygiene assessment, etc. At the same time,
we work with third party companies to control food hygiene and safety
hazards and risks to ensure that every customer’s meal is safe.

Safeguarding Privacy

It is our responsibility to protect customers’ data privacy. The privacy
and confidentiality requirements of our internal policies ensure the
compliance with relevant local regulations, in particular, the Personal
Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the
Cybersecurity Law of the People’s Republic of China ({2 A 215
A4S 2254 ), the Data Security Law of the People’s Republic of China
(HEN B E 1L 2% )), the Personal Information Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China ((FHZ A EZHIETEN 158 17
5&%)) and the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Protection
of Consumer Rights and Interests((FPZEN FERFIEH Z & #m 1RE
J#£)). Al employees are required to strictly follow the requirements when
collecting, holding and using, disclosing and transferring customers’
confidential data.
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For the Hotels, we cooperate with third parties for privacy protection
capabilities such as Green Cloud, Wanyue Club and Yunj to prevent
leakage of customers information. All new employees are required to
attend privacy protection training. In compliance with the requirements
of the Ministry of Public Security of the PRC, we have ceased the use of
face recognition technology on customers in our designated systems.

For the Hotels, the use of room cards is strictly required to ensure that
only specific authorized persons can enter the room floor and specific
areas to enhance security.

Intellectual Property Rights Protection

The Group adopts a multi-brand strategy which is designed to target
sets of customers with distinctive preferences and needs. All of our hotel
brands have completed trademark registration and we have authorised
the use of registered trademarks by the hotels under our management.
The fonts and images used are sourced centrally by the headquarters
from third party copyright organisations to build a copyright library for
use by the hotels in their daily marketing and advertising. We conduct
at least once for staff training session every year on intellectual property
protection, explaining cases of intellectual property infringement and
helping hotel staff to build up their awareness of copyright. In addition,
the Group’s legal department work with reputable law firms to establish
an intellectual property intellectual property monitoring system. This
system will oversee hotel trademarks held both domestically and
overseas, and provide prompt feedback in case of trademark disputes,
registration scrambling, and other intellectual property risks, and also
monitor and deal with hotels that illegally use its trademarks in domestic
and overseas markets to protect its rights and brand image. We ensure
that all patent applications and management are compliant to legal
standards and procedures, as well as prevent the infringement of other
intellectual property rights.
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CARING FOR THE COMMUNITY

To send a message to the society about the threat of climate change,
the Group across the country actively participated in the World Wide
Fund for Nature’s “Earth Hour” global environmental protection action
on 22 April 2023. During “Earth Hour,” our hotels across the country
participated in a variety of public welfare environmental protection
activities, including turning off unnecessary lights inside and outside the
hotels.

For the Hotels, we have launched a programme for members to donate
points to children’s charities. Wanyue Club members can donate the
equivalent value of their points to the China Charity Federation’s “Wanda
Children’s Charity Project” through the online member mall, encouraging
more diversified ways to help children in need.

The Group believes that supporting the local communities and those in
need can positively influence the development of sustainable cities. We
actively engage in impactful community investment activities targeting
the underprivileged groups in regions where we operate. During the
Reporting Period, our Wanda Children’s Charity partnered with a third-
party charity, Starry Night Charity, to launch the Mobile Book Box
and Children’s Book Donation projects. The two programmes have
supported more than 20 rural primary schools, benefiting nearly 10,000
students and providing 15,048 quality books. In addition, we have
recorded a total of 3,093 hours dedicated to volunteering activities which
include participation in volunteering work in local societies.
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Independent Auditor's Report

e
EY:-

To the shareholders of

Ernst & Young

27/F, One Taikoo Place
979 King’s Road
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

AN —E2T1E

Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Wanda Hotel
Development Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 142 to 277, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2023, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity
and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSASs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Audiitor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how
our audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly,
our audit included the performance of procedures designed to
respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters
below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matters

BB EE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRI ESMFARERRESEHR

Fair value of investrment properties

REYEZ A nEE

As at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of investment
properties, which were stated at fair value, was approximately
HK$1,379.4 million. Management engaged an independent
professionally qualified valuer to support its determination of the fair
value of the investment properties. The valuation of the investment
properties is highly dependent on estimates and assumptions,
such as prevailing monthly market rents, prevaiing market prices,
the reversionary vield, capitalisation rates, occupancy rates and
market knowledge. The use of different estimates and assumptions
could result in significantly different fair values.

The disclosures about investment properties are included in note
2.4 “Material accounting policies”, note 3 “Significant accounting
judgements and estimates” and note 15 “Investment properties” to
the consolidated financial statements.
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Our audit procedures included, among others, assessing
the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the
independent valuer; reviewing the valuation report and
having discussions with management and the valuer to
obtain an understanding of and assess the relevance
and appropriateness of the valuation basis, methodology
used and underlying assumptions applied; and obtaining
and verifying the underlying data including comparable
market transactions used by the valuer. We also involved
our internal valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating
the assumptions and methodologies used and assessing
the reasonableness of data used in the valuation report,
by comparing the prevailing monthly market rents,
prevailing market prices, reversionary yield, capitalisation
rates, occupancy rates with comparative cases in active
markets.

Moreover, we assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matters

BB EE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRI ESMFARERRESEHR

Impairment assessment of tradle receivables, contract assets and long-term receivables

ESIEWIE  GAEE R R AR B E ST

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had gross carrying amounts
before any impairment losses of trade receivables, contract assets
and long-term receivables of approximately HK$352.0 million,
HK$127.5 million and HK$1,963.5 milion, respectively, for which
the impairment provisions were HK$163.0 million, HK$29.7 milion

and HK$84.5 milion, respectively.

Significant management judgements and estimates were involved
in determining the amount of expected credit losses (“ECL”)
for these receivables as at the end of the reporting period for

impairment assessment.
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Our audit procedures included, amongst others, evaluating
the appropriateness of the expected credit loss provisioning
methodology used by the Group; obtaining an understanding
of management judgements involved in assessing the
creditability of debtors and discussing with management
about the status of significant overdue individual debtors’
balances and any disputes between the parties involved;
reviewing management’s provision matrix and checking the
calculation of ECLs made for the debtors of trade receivables
and contract assets; assessing the key assumptions used
in cash flow forecast and discount rate applicable to the
debtor of the long-term receivables; we also assessed the
competence, capabilites and objectivity of the independent
valuer and involved our internal valuation specialists to
assist us in evaluating the ECL of the long-term receivables
on methodology used and certain key assumptions and
estimates made by management. Furthermore, we obtained
direct external confirmations on the sample basis from
the debtors and reviewed the timeliness of subsequent
settlements from the debtors after the end of the reporting
period.

RANBHEFEE ETeR) it SEEPERN
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Key audit matters

BB EE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BRI ESMFARERRESEHR

Given the materiality of these receivables and judgemental nature
of the recoverability assessment, we considered this a key audit
matter.

The disclosures about the impairment of trade receivables, contract
assets and long-term receivables are included in note 2.4 “Material
accounting policies”, note 3 “Significant accounting judgements
and estimates”, note 19 “Trade and bils receivables”, note 20
“Contract assets” and note 21 “Prepayments, other receivables
and other assets” to the consolidated financial statements.

ENZSRBRIENE RN LU AR EIME &R H ETEE
HFIRBILD—ERARESER

EREZERTE e EERRPBWRIERENINE
R G ETHRERN2.4 TERGETEER M8 TERE
STH BT R E 5ty ~ MisE10 T8 SRR IB R FEUR Z 4% ~ i 5%
20 MT& B E) KM =21 ITEIHE EthEl T ER S
o

Moreover, we assessed the adequacy of the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.

ItEoh > FFIEHEREM B RENBERENTE S
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the Annual
Report, other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

QOur opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work
we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor's Report

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually
or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit.
We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor's Report

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh
the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yee Chung Man.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

25 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

o AL
fﬁﬂ?l:l Him

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HiZE —_Z _=F+_HA=+—HIEFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB 7THR)

2023 2022
—E=F B HF
Notes $°000 $°000
M sE T Tt
Revenue W= 5 983,068 816,780
Cost of sales THE A (564,047) (473,474)
Gross profit EH 419,021 343,306
Other income and gains, net EMUBRA W FEE 6 30,264 128,139
Net valuation loss on investment KREYEMERIEFRE
properties 15 (7,780) (24,549)
Selling expenses HERZ (15,493) (18,112)
Administrative expenses TEBESZ (123,669) (96,640)
Finance costs FEE A A 8 (21,976) (33,353)
Share of (losses)/profits of joint ElL &= (518 EF
ventures (33) 240
Profit before tax PRI AR A 280,334 299,031
Income tax expense FriSinm 11 (89,284) (66,055)
Profit for the year REEHF 191,050 232,976
Attributable to: UTHIEEMN
Owners of the parent [SYNCIEZ PN 13 165,154 193,242
Non-controlling interests JEPERE 25,896 39,734
191,050 232,976
Earnings per share attributable to 25 ERIFE AW
ordinary equity holders of the SRERN (BW)
parent (HK cents)
Basic and diluted BARRKE#E 3.5 4.1
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

FEEEWAR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 i ZE —_Z_=F+_HA=+—HIEFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)  (LUETTHR)

2023 2022
—E=F —ECF
$°000 $'000
T T
Profit for the year REERF 191,050 232,976
Other comprehensive loss HthZmEE18
Other comprehensive loss that HigAM I EM o Bt ABmkZ
may be reclassified to profit or loss Hth2mEmE1E .
in subsequent periods:
Exchange differences on translation MERINEF  ERERR
of foreign operations (31,034) (211,579)
Other comprehensive loss FEEHMBEEE NRKRIE)
for the year, net of tax (31,034) (211,579)
Total comprehensive income for the year ZxEE2EURALEEE 160,016 21,397
Attributable to: TR IEREL
Owners of the parent BRBEE A 140,670 32,927
Non-controlling interests JEERR T 19,346 (11,530)
160,016 21,397

BEAEERAMRAR 143
TSR



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

EEMBIRIR

At 31 December 2028 W ZZ - =F+_H=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB 7THR)

2023 2022
—E-= BT TF
Notes $°000 $'000
5T T Tt
Non-current assets ERENEE
Property, plant and equipment LEN =Y 14 143,356 147,140
Investment properties KEYE 15 1,379,375 1,407,212
Right-of-use assets TREESE 16(a) 291,082 323,441
Intangible assets mLEE 17 18,082 10,088
Investments in joint ventures REBhEZRE 856 230
Long-term receivables REAEWFIE 01 1,878,971 1,783,037
Deferred tax assets IRILIRIEE B 18 79,376 79,064
Total non-current assets EREBEELEE 3,791,098 3,751,112
Current assets TRENEE
Inventories =5 434 207
Trade and bills receivables B ERTIE R EREE 19 189,110 214,665
Contract assets BHEE 20 97,818 100,157
Prepayments, other receivables FEfI =B M E IR IE
and other assets KRHEMEE 21 110,381 112,733
Income tax recoverable AU EIPFER 4,597 1,410
Restricted bank balance ZPRHIRIT 45 8% 22 13,021 13,210
Cash and cash equivalents BEKRIFREEEY 22 346,148 1,067,711
Total current assets MENEEMRE 761,509 1,510,093
Current liabilities mENAaE
Trade payables, other payables B RERIE S Hth I =IE
and accruals K et & 23 413,506 1,303,500
Contract liabilities BHAaRE 24 109,998 62,401
Receipts in advance U FRIE 9,842 7,360
Loans from an intermediate —RBPEER AR ER
holding company 25 4,342 11,404
Lease liabilities HEaE 16(b) 25,566 31,808
Income tax payables ISR 91,205 60,091
Total current liabilities mENBEEE 654,459 1,476,564
Net current assets RENBEEFE 107,050 33,529
Total assets less current liabilities 2& ER RS E 3,898,148 3,784,641
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

EEMBIRIR

At 31 December 2023 WZ_ZE_=F+"H=+—H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) (LGB 7THR)

2023 2022
—E-= /o
Notes $°000 $'000
5T T Tt
Non-current liabilities JERENEE
Contract liabilities EHEE 24 107,771 65,835
Lease liabilities HEaE 16(b) 329,626 356,189
Deferred tax liabilities EERIEE R 18 174,318 175,134
Total non-current liabilities ERBEFEEE 611,715 597,158
NET ASSETS BEFE 3,286,433 3,187,483
Equity 1
Equity attributable to owners BAGIHEE ANELER
of the parent
Share capital f& s 26 469,735 469,735
Retained earnings R R m A 842,276 678,436
Other reserves HhEE 27 1,396,007 1,419,177
2,708,018 2,567,348
Non-controlling interests JEVERE S 578,415 620,135
TOTAL EQUITY D 3,286,433 3,187,483
Ning Qifeng Han Xu
EHIE 28
Executive Director Non-executive Director
HITEE FEHITEE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

RERESEER

Year ended 31 December 2028 HE_Z _=F+_FA=+—HIFE
(FBAEEEIN » HLLBTHIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Attributable to owners of the parent

SYNSIEE PN/
Non-
Share Share Share  Exchange  Statutory Merger  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total  interests equity
FFER
BAR RDEE ROEE ERXERE AEHE  AfEE  R2EF st s iR
$'000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T T T T T T
(note 26)  (note27)  (note 27)  (note27)  (note 27)  (note 27)
(fwskee)  (Mtster)  (fster)  (ister)  (Wster)  (Wskor)
As at 1 January 2022 RZZE__&#—HA—H 469,735 1,947,082 218,809 38,420 86,765  (738401) 512,011 2,534,421 1313200 3,847,621
Profit for the year AEEEF - - - - - - 193242 193242 39,734 232,976
Other comprehensive income AEEHMZ2ERA
for the year:
Exchange differences related to HBNERERZ
foreign operations ERELR - - - (160,315 - - - (160315)  (51,264) (211,579)
Total comprehensive income FEEREBALR
for the year - - - (160,315) - - 193,242 32,9271 (11,530) 21,397
Appropriation to statutory reserve fund EEE AT HES - - - - 26817 - (26817 - - -
Share capital reduction of a subsidiary —FS B A B #IRAHIH - - - - - - - - (487,205)  (487,225)
Dividends paid to a non-controling B JEERBRERE
shareholder - - - - - - - - (194310)  (194,310)
As at 31 December 2022 RIBZZEFZA=1+—H 469735 1,947,082 218,809  (121,895) 113,582  (738,401) 678,436 2,567,348 620,135 3,187,483
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
e REEER

Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_T _=F+_F=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5 A=885h » ¥LEETHITR)

Attributable to owners of the parent

BARREA ARG
Non-
Share Share Share Exchange Statutory Merger  Retained controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
JEER

BE  RGEE ROEE ELHE AERE  AHEE  REER @ [ SO L 3

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $°000 $'000 $'000

T T T T T T T T Tr Tr
(note 26)  (note 27)  (note 27) (note 27) (note 27)  (note 27)
(Misk26)  (Mfsk27)  (Miker)  (Mater)  (Mster)  (Mfster)

As at 1 January 2023 RZZE_=F—HF—H 469,735 1,947,082 218,809  (121,895) 113,582  (738,401) 678,436 2,567,348 620,135 3,187,483
Profit for the year REE R - - - - - - 165154 165154 25896 191,050
Other comprehensive income AEEEMZEBRA

for the year:

Exchange differences related to HENERBRZ

foreign operations ERER - - - (24484 - - - (24484 (6,550) (31,034

Total comprehensive income AEEREBALR

for the year - - - (24,484) - - 165,154 140,670 19,346 160,016
Appropriation to statutory reserve fund EEE AT HES - - - - 1,314 - (1,314) - - -
Dividends paid to a non-controling B FEZERRERE

shareholder - - - - - - - - (61,066)  (61,066)
At 31 December 2023 W-E-=HE+-B=+—0 460735 1,947,082 218809 (146379 114896* (738401)° 842,276 2708018 578415 3,286,433

These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated other reserves of * ZERERP ORGEMBRRKRAIIRN
$1,396,007,000 (2022: $1,419,177,000) in the consolidated statement of ??AE{‘&1E%1%1 396,007,0007t (ZZ "4 ©
financial position. ,419,177,0007T) ©
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

n\7r A Eﬁ;ﬁ;ﬁg

Year ended 31 December 2023 &iE —Z - =F+_A=+—HI-FE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (2B AEEBESN » HHLEBTHIR)

2023 2022
—E”= g F
Notes $°000 $000
B 5E Fr Tt
Cash flows from operating activites K& EEFBZREFE
Profit before tax: PRI AR - 280,334 299,031
Adjustments for: BRI
Finance costs EE= %N 8 21,976 33,353
Other interest income from BARBES ABRRZ
financial assets at fair value TRBEZ TS WA
through profit or loss - (8,375)
Interest income on a long-term receivables & EAFEWFUIEZ A S A 6 (100,810) (119,323)
Bank interest income HRITH WA 6 (5,672) (21,726)
Gain on disposal of items of property, LEYE -BERXEER
plant and equipment el & - 8
Depreciation of property, plant and ME- -BERRBINE
equipment 7 16,823 14,173
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREBEEINE 7 31,392 32,928
Amortisation of intangible assets B BERH 7 2,922 1,650
Impairment of trade receivables, other B 5 EUEIE S =8
receivables and long-term receivables REHEWTIERE 6 86,810 39,546
Impairment of contract assets BHEERE 6 16,612 6,279
Net valuation loss on investment B EGERRTEE
properties 7 7,780 24,549
358,167 302,093
(Increase)/Decrease in inventories FE Em wEl (227) 1,629
Decrease/(Increase) in joint ventures HFEMERLD,/ (BN 33 (230)
Increase in trade and bills receivables B S EWGIE R FEUR 51 0 (25,415) (68,537)
Increase in prepayments and other FE{I TRIB K EL At FE IR IE 1 0
receivables (26,692) (32,727)
Increase in contract assets BHEELE (15,588) (48,718)
Increase/(Decrease) in receipts in advance  TEULFRIEIL N, CRi’l) 2,552 (4,077)
Decrease in trade payables, other payables £ 5 FEHFUIE « EMFERT HIER
and accruals EstERRLD (226,210) (48,746)
Increase in contract liabilities AHEEE 91,092 23,960
Increase in restricted bank balance ZIRBIRITAEERIE M - (13,210)
Cash generated from operations RETHRBZRE 157,712 111,437
Taxes paid BRIE (59,653) (79,915)
Net cash flows from operating activities &2 ZBFE 2 RS HEBEE 98,059 31,522
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
:|\7FIZIEE$;)Z‘I_T§

Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_T _=F+_F=+—HIFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (&5 A=885h » ¥LEETHITR)

2023 2022
—EZ= -
Notes $°000 $'000
FisE Fr Tt
Net cash flows from operating activities &2 ZB IS 2 & HEBEE 98,059 31,522
Cash flows from investing activites  REEBFBZRERE
Purchases of items of property, BEYVE BENREEBB
plant and equipment (14,889) (8,745)
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME -BERREEEZ
property, plant and equipment PRSTIE 12 28
Additions to intangible assets REBFEE (10,364) (4,841)
Bank interest received BWERTHIE 5,672 21,726
Interest income from financial assets BAREBESABRKRZ
at fair value through profit or loss TRIEEZMERA - 8,375
Capital contribution to a joint venture maEhETE (662) -
Decrease/(Increase) in time deposits with ~ E|EIR BB =EH 2 CHEZR
maturity of more than three months B (E) 67,170 (67,170)
Net cash from/(used in) investing BREZHFRE FiA) 2
activities RERH 46,939 (50,627)
Cash flows from financing activities  BEEZBELEZRERE
Repayment of loans to an intermediate BE—EREERAR
holding company 29(b) (7,062) (861,596)
Repayment of interests to an intermediate &3 & — B P EER AT &
holding company 29(b) (76,213) (194,765)
Decrease in amounts due to an FE — R PR A B RUE
intermediate holding company D 29(b) (585,606) (121,075)
Dividends paid to a non-controlling B —RIEEREREES
shareholder (61,066) (194,310
Capital withdrawn by a non-controlling —ZIEERRERE
shareholder - (487,225)
Principal portion of lease payments HEMMzEEE M
and interest paid BFE 29(b) (52,237) (32,182)
Net cash flows used in financing MEZBMAZHEREREE
activities (782,184) (1,891,153)
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents RE&RIREZEYR EE (637,186) (1,910,258)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning ~ E#ZRERBLEEY
of year 1,000,541 3,008,545
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net FER &8 2 2,4 » 858 (17,207) (97,746)
Cash and cash equivalents FRZRERAEEED
at end of year 346,148 1,000,541
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
:|\TE|£E$;)Z‘I_T§

Year ended 31 December 2023 &iE —Z - =F+_A=+—HI-FE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (2B AEEBESN » HHLEBTHIR)

2023 2022
—EZ= TECCF
Notes $°000 $000
B 5E T T
Analysis of balances of cash and RERREEEMERIN
cash equivalents
Cash and bank balances HERIBTER 346,148 1,000,541
Time deposits TEHER 22 - 67,170
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in FIRNEFRRRZEE K
the statement of financial position HEEEY 22 346,148 1,067,711
Less: time deposits with maturity of more 8 : REEARKZIHHBB =181
than three months when acquired ZEHER 22 - (67,170)
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in F|SERRIREFERZHER
the statement of cash flows RELEM 346,148 1,000,541
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1.

Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited (the “Company”) is a
limited liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered
office of the Company is located at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31
Victoria Street, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda.

The Company and its subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “Group”) are principally engaged in hotel operation and
management, hotel design and construction management services
and investment properties leasing in the People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC”) and overseas during the year.

In the opinion of the Company’s directors (the “Directors”),
the immediate holding company of the Company is Wanda
Commercial Properties Overseas Limited (“Wanda Overseas”), a
company established in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), and
the ultimate holding company of the Company is Dalian Hexing
Investment Company Limited, a company established in the PRC.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

1.

NSIVSESE =TS

BEAEEREBRRDE ((KRF) A
REREZMAILIZBRAE R
RElZ M E R Victoria Place,
5th Floor, 31 Victoria Street, Hamilton
HM10,Bermuda °

FRARBEKRENBAT U THE

REE) TENFEARKNE (T4
Bl) RoSsMERBIEEEREE BE
Rt R EERBHREYFEE

FrRREE (EF) VR FRBZE
BERARDSBEBREMEBINERL
8 (BEBN)  —RRNEBRERES
(HBEREE)) HILZAF ; AR
ZRERERABB/REGERERRA
8] —fR BRI Z AT

B ARER
ARBEEZWMBAT ZFFIBUT

Percentage of equity

Place of attributable to the
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Company
registration and registered share ZAATEGEEZF AL Principal
Name business capital Direct Indirect activities
3 1A BRTLER

&iE B REE M BTN B i TEXRH
Wanda Properties Investment British Virgin US$53,050,000 51% - Investment
Limited Islands holding
BEEELERRLHE EERUES 53,050,000% 7T LEER
Wanda Commercial Properties Hong Kong HK$409,900,000 - 51% Investment
Investment Limited holding
BENEMERERRAR B 409,900,000 7T LEER
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RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1.

(BR5 AR » BHLUBTIIR)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

N RERER @

MEBABER @

AP EEZWMBAT ZFBUT
()

(Continued)
Percentage of equity
Place of attributable to the
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Company
registration and registered share ZAATEGEZT L Principal
Name business capital Direct Indirect activities
B3 A BRTLER

2y B kEEME i B s TEER

Guilin Gaoxin Wanda Plaza PRC US$53,672,000 - 51% Property
Co., Ltd.*(note i) leasing

EMEMBERSARAT FE 58,672,0005 75 MERE
(P &ED)

Wanda Americas Real Estate Hong Kong $1 60% - Investment
Investment Co., Ltd. holding
(“Wanda Americas RE”)

BEZINERERRAR (MBE 54 17T REER
EMHE])

Wanda Chicago Real Estate LLC ~ United States of US$212,200,633 - 60% Investment

America (“USA”) holding
EHNBERE 212,200,633% 7T REER
(T%E)

Wanda Hotel Management Hong Kong US$1 100% - Hotel
(Hong Kong) Co. Limited management

BEERALEE &S BRAT BN ES HIEEE

Wanda Hotel Management PRC US$10,000,000 - 100% Hotel
(Shanghai) Co., Ltd.* (note i) management

BEBEEE (LB BRAR R 10,000,000 7T S EE
(f5Ei)

Wanda Hotel Management PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100% Hotel
(Zhuhai) Co., Ltd.* management

BEALEE S BRAT HE AR %10,000,0007T BIEEIE
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. REKREEER @
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EATEN @
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: FABEBMBAT ZFBENT
(Continued) (&)

Percentage of equity

Place of attributable to the
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Company
registration and registered share ZAATEGEZT L Principal
Name business capital Direct Indirect activities
I, BRITEER
Eay i B RERME TN B#E A TEXRH
Horgos Wanda Engineering PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Construction
Construction Management consulting
Consulting Company Limited*
EMRTBREIREREIERLAE e A #10,000,0007T B AR
fRAE)
Wanda Engineering Management PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Construction
Consulting Co. Limited” consulting
BEIREEZABRAE HE A K #550,000,0007T B AR
Wanda Hotel Design and PRC RMB50,000,000 - 100%  Construction
Research Institute Co., Ltd* consulting
BERAERFHARERAT HE A #550,000,0007T B AR
Beijing Wanhuajian Decoration PRC RMB30,000,000 - 100%  Construction
Engineering Co., Ltd.” consulting
TRBEREHIRERLAE el AR #30,000,0007T B RER
Wanda Moment Shanghai Hotel PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100% Hotel
Management Co., Ltd.* operation
tEENEREEAEEERR HE AR 10,000,0007T BIEEE
NG
Wanda Moment Nanchang Hotel PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100% Hotel
Management Co., Ltd.* operation
HEREFEHEEEARAT HE A B #10,000,0007T BIEEE
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

1.

154 Wanda Hotel Development Company Limited

(BR5 AR » BHLUBTIIR)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

N RERER @

MEBABER &

KRB ETEMBABZFBTUT ¢

(#)

(Continued)
Percentage of equity
Place of attributable to the
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Company
registration and registered share ZAATEGEZT L Principal
Name business capital Direct Indirect activities
B3 A BRTLER
2y B kEEME i B s TEER
Wanda Moment Ningbo Hotel PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100% Hotel
Management Co., Ltd.* operation
BRENEREEBEEEER HE  AER#%10,000,00070 BIEEE
NG
Wanda Jin Wuxi International PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100% Hotel
Hotel Co., Ltd.* operation
EHBERERFBEESRAD HE A #10,000,0007T BIEEE
Wanda Moment Changzhi Hotel PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100% Hotel
Management Co., Ltd.* operation
RABEFEREEEARAT HE A K #10,000,0007T BIEEE
Shanghai Wantao Trading PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Sale of goods
Co., Ltd.*
LEEABEERAT ol A #10,000,0007T EmiHE
Xiamen Wandefu Catering PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Sale of goods
Management Co., Ltd.*
EFBREEENREERRAE el A #10,000,0007T EmiHE
Beijing Jingdefu Catering PRC RMB10,000,000 - 100% Catering
Management Company Limited*
ERRERENEEARLT el A #10,000,0007T B
Baise Wandefu Catering PRC RMB5,000,000 - 100% Catering
Management Co., Ltd.*
BEBRERENEEARAT HE AE15,000,0007T B
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.

(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

(FR5AEERAS > BHLBTIIR)

N RERER @

MEBABER &

KRB ETEMBABZFBTUT ¢

(Continued) (&)
Percentage of equity
Place of attributable to the
incorporation/ Issued ordinary/ Company
registration and registered share ZAATEGEZT L Principal
Name business capital Direct Indirect activities
B3 AT BRTEER
%18 TR EE M SRR A Ei# 5k TEEH
Taizhou Jingdefu Catering PRC RMB5,000,000 - 100% Catering
Management Co., Ltd.”
ENRERENEEERAT HE AR #5,000,00075 - 100% B
Shanxi Jiajin Manpower PRC RMB5,000,000 - 100% Hotel staff
Co., Ltd.* provision
services
LARRSBIKERRAT I AR 15,000,0007T - 100% BIE 5
TKERT
* For identification purpose only
Note: Mgk -
i These entities are wholly-foreign-owned enterprises established ZEEBRARBRBIAER L ZIINE
under PRC law. BERE-

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the

year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the Group.

To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

EERR LHAREIMNE

NEZIF

HAEBEAFEZREAEATENGEE

EEEEFEZEARLD

EEABY

EEMMB AR ZFERERBEN T

Eo
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”)
and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”), and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They
have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties which have been measured
at fair value. These financial statements are presented in
Hong Kong dollars (“$”) and all values are rounded to the
nearest thousand (“$’000”) except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2023. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control
is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
the investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the
current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting
rights results in control. When the Company has less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@ the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that
such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

RAFS R MY EE

(FR5AEERAS > BHLBTIIR)

2. FEHE @

2.1

A REEE (1)
RERE (@)
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes
to one or more of the three elements of control described
above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises
the related assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-
controlling interest and the exchange fluctuation reserve;
and recognises the fair value of any investment retained
and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as would
be required if the Group had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures

The Group has adopted the following new and revised

HKFRSs for the first time for the current year’s financial

statements.

HKFRS 17
Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice

Statement 2
Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendments to HKAS 12

Insurance Contracts
Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction

International Tax Reform — Plillar
Two Model Rules

2. FEHE @

2.2

GEBERAIREZ 28

AEBERTFEHHREER
BT IME] REESTE B
WEER

EEMBRESENR TR RELA
EREHERBINR  BHHENE

EEMBRSENES
BHE (BT F)
EBEERIBoN Bi s IESE
(Capy
BRCHENRGE  HE-THELY
(315 EERARER
EERE
BRGHENBISE  AFRUNE-
(315 FXEARR
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs

that are applicable to the Group are described below:

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather
than their significant accounting policies. Accounting
policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s
financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to
influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of
those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements
provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
The Group has disclosed the material accounting
policy information in note 2 to the financial statements.
The amendments did not have any impact on the
measurement, recognition or presentation of any items
in the Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. Since
the Group’s approach and policy align with the
amendments, the amendments had no impact on the
Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

()

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related
to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction narrow the scope of the initial recognition
exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies
to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and
decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities are
required to recognise a deferred tax asset (provided
that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these
transactions.

Upon the application of the amendments, the Group
has determined the temporary differences arising from
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately,
which have been reflected in the reconciliation
disclosed in note 18 to the financial statements.
However, they did not have any material impact on
the overall deferred tax balances presented in the
consolidated statement of financial position as the
related deferred tax balances qualified for offsetting
under HKAS 12.

RAFS R MY EE

(FR5AEERAS > BHLBTIIR)
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(Continued)

©)

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform
— Pillar Two Model Rules introduce a mandatory
temporary exception from the recognition and
disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published
by the Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development. The amendments also introduce
disclosure requirements for the affected entities to help
users of the financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes,
including the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar
Two income taxes separately in the periods when
Pillar Two legislation is effective and the disclosure of
known or reasonably estimable information of their
exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which
the legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but
not yet in effect. The Group has not yet applied the
temporary exception during the current year because
the entities comprising the Group are operating in
jurisdictions in which the Pillar Two tax law has not yet
been enacted or substantively enacted. The Group will
disclose known or reasonably estimable information
related to its exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in the
consolidated financial statements by the time when the
Pillar Two tax law has been enacted or substantively
enacted and will disclose separately the current tax
expense or income related to Pillar Two income taxes
when it is in effect.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following revised HKFRSs,
that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these
revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its

Associate or Joint Venture®

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback’

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as

Current or Non-current (the
2020 Amendments”)" 4

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with

Covenants (the 2022
Amendments’)"*

Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements'

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2024

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025

No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022
Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a
Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause
was revised to align the corresponding wording with no
change in conclusion

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected
to be applicable to the Group is described below.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (Continuea)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or contribution
of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a
gain or loss resulting from a downstream transaction when
the sale or contribution of assets constitutes a business.
For a transaction involving assets that do not constitute a
business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent
of the unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint
venture. The amendments are to be applied prospectively.
The previous mandatory effective date of amendments to
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that
a seller-lessee uses in measuring the lease liability arising
in a sale and leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-
lessee does not recognise any amount of the gain or loss
that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively to sale
and leaseback transactions entered into after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 (i.e., 1 January 2019). Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (Continuea)

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current, including
what is meant by a right to defer settlement and that a
right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement.
The amendments also clarify that a liability can be settled
in its own equity instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself accounted for as an
equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact
its classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify
that, among covenants of a liability arising from a loan
arrangement, only those with which an entity must comply
on or before the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures
are required for non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within 12 months
after the reporting period. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with early application permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply
simultaneously the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The
Group is currently assessing the impact of the amendments
and whether existing loan agreements may require revision.
Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong Financial

Reporting Standards (Continuea)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements and require
additional disclosure of such arrangements. The disclosure
requirements in the amendments are intended to assist
users of financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities,
cash flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application
of the amendments is permitted. The amendments provide
certain transition reliefs regarding comparative information,
quantitative information as at the beginning of the annual
reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall
assess whether a currency is exchangeable into another
currency and how it shall estimate a spot exchange rate
at a measurement date when exchangeability is lacking.
The amendments require disclosures of information that
enable users of financial statements to understand the
impact of a currency not being exchangeable. Earlier
application is permitted. When applying the amendments,
an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall
be recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of
retained profits or to the cumulative amount of translation
differences accumulated in a separate component of equity,
where appropriate, at the date of initial application. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GETEER @
24 BAGHIE

2.4 Material accounting policies

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value at
the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that
would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based
on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or
a liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available
to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based
on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques for which the

lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GETEER @

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EBRGHER @

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, contract assets, deferred tax assets, financial
assets, investment properties and non-current assets/
a disposal group classified as held for sale), the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable
amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s
value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is
determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion
of the carrying amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a
headquarters building) is allocated to an individual cash-
generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-
generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment
loss is charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it arises in those expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is any indication that previously
recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable
amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment
loss of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there
has been a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an amount
higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@ the party is a person or a close member of that

person’s family and that person

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel
of the Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(FR5AEERAS > BHLBTIIR)

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(®)

the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

U)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

(vi)

(vil)

(viil

the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of employees of either the Group or
an entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. When an item of property,
plant and equipment is classified as held for sale or when
it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is
not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale”. The
cost of an item of property, plant and equipment comprises
its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of
bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit
or loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to
its residual value over its estimated useful life. The estimated
residual values and useful lives for this purpose are as
follows:

2. FEHE @
24 BEARGEHEBER @)

ME BB R AR E

(&

TENRAMG I ERAFHUE
ORI R B R IR E
ZRAEEBREE - BULMEKA
ZESRERPIERFHNT

Leasehold improvements TREYZEEE
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 1R 1 ~ 22 B K 5515
Motor vehicles RE

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated
on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and
the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Useful lives Residual values
BIEFEHA BE
Over shorter of the lease Nil
terms and economic life =
MRS B S 2 BUIAAME
3-10 years 0-10%
3E104F
5 years 0-10%
5%
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Construction in progress represents renovation works in
progress and software under development and is stated at
cost less any impairment losses, and is not depreciated. It is
reclassified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment or intangible assets when completed and ready
for use. Intangible assets that is not yet available for use are
assessed for impairment annually.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings held
to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction
costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the statement of profit
or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the statement of profit
or loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GETEER @

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EBRGHER @

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are
assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful
economic life and assessed for impairment whenever there
is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.
The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an
intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least at
each financial year end.

Computer software

Purchased software are stated at cost less any impairment
losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives of 10 years.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and
leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease
liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets
representing the right to use the underlying assets.
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RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains
a lease component and non-lease component(s), the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate non-lease
component(s) and to account for the lease component
and the associated non-lease component(s) (e.g., property
management services for leases of properties) as a single

lease component.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date
the underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-
use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:

Office 2 to 6 years
Hotel buildings 15 to 20 years
Machinery 2 to 3 years
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is

calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GFTEER @
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EBRGHER @
Leases (Continued) HE @

FERFEZEBA (B)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities b) HEEE

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the
lease commencement date because the interest rate
implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After
the commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition,
the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured
if there is a modification, a change in the lease term,
a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index
or rate) or a change in assessment of an option to
purchase the underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are presented separately
from other liabilities in the statement of financial
position.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of offices,
warehouses, staff dormitory and parking lot (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not contain
a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of office equipment and parking
lot that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease

inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of its
leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GETEER @

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EBRGHER @

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor (Continued)

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates
the consideration in the contract to each component on
a relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms
and is included in revenue in the statement of profit or loss
due to its operating nature. Contingent rents are recognised
as revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee
are accounted for as finance leases.

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is
classified as a finance lease or operating lease with reference
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease. If the
head lease is a short-term lease to which the Group applies
the on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group
classifies the sublease as an operating lease.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group’s business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS
15 in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue
recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that
are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GETEER @

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EBRGHER @

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, seling the financial assets, or both. Financial
assets classified and measured at amortised cost are
held within a business model with the objective to hold
financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which
are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the period generally established by regulation
or convention in the marketplace are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or
sell the asset.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are subject
to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss when the asset is derecognised,
modified or impaired.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried
in the statement of financial position at fair value with net
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or
loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from the asset, or has assumed an obligation
to pay the received cash flows in full without material
delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but
has transferred control of the assets.
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (Continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of
the asset, the Group continues to recognise the transferred
asset to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement.
In that case, the Group also recognises an associated
liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations
that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to
repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit
losses (‘ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value
through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance with
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects
to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original
effective interest rate. The expected cash flows will include
cash flows from the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancements that are integral to the contractual terms.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit
losses that result from default events that are possible within
the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is
required for credit losses expected over the remaining life
of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a
lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment,
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information. The
Group considers that there has been a significant increase
in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external information
indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any
credit enhancements held by the Group.

A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive

income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject

to impairment under the general approach and they are

classified within the following stages for measurement of

ECLs except for trade receivables and contract assets which

apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -

Stage2 -

Stage 3 -

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance
is measured at an amount equal to 12-month
ECLs

Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial
assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not purchased
or originated credit-impaired) and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade and bills receivables and contract assets that
do not contain a significant financing component or when
the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under
the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based
on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic environment.

For trade receivables and contract assets that contain a
significant financing component and lease receivables,
the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, lease liabilities and interest-bearing
loans from an intermediate holding company.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GETEER @

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EBRGHER @

Financial liabilities (Continueaq)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends
on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other
payables, and borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, lease
liabilities, and interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses
are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that
are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continueaq)

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse
the holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor
fails to make a payment when due in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is
recognised initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the issuance
of the guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of:
(i) the ECL allowance determined in accordance with the
policy as set out in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (i)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, the
cumulative amount of income recognised.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the
terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such
an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of
the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GETEER @

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EBRGHER @

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the
net amount is reported in the statement of financial position
if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on
a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial
position comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-
term highly liquid deposits with a maturity of generally
within three months that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes
in value and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at
banks, and short-term deposits as defined above, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate
asset, but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.
The expense relating to a provision is presented in the
statement of profit or loss net of any reimbursement.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Provisions (Continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end
of the reporting period of the future expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes, except
that deferred tax is not recognised for the Pillar Two income
taxes.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

° when the deferred tax liability arises from goodwill
or the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does
not give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences; and

° in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and a joint venture,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that
the temporary differences will not reverse in the
foreseeable future.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused tax
credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are
recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and
unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not
a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

° in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and a joint
venture, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable
profit will be available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at
the end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent
that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax
asset to be recovered.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GETEER @

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EBRGHER @

Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply to the period when the asset
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or
to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously,
in each future period in which significant amounts of
deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income
on a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for
which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or
services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated to which
the Group will be entitled in exchange for transferring
the goods or services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and
constrained until it is highly probable that a significant
revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty
with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing
the transfer of goods or services to the customer for more
than one year, revenue is measured at the present value of
the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate
that would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract inception.
When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the Group with a significant financial benefit for
more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the customer and
the transfer of the promised goods or services is one year
or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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Notes to Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

@

Hotel management services

Hotel management services mainly include the
following:

The day-to-day management services, and the
different kinds of management service fees are
generally calculated as certain percentages of the
total revenues, room revenue or operation profit of
those hotels under management. Such management
service fees are due and payable on a monthly basis as
services are provided and revenue is recognised over
time as services are rendered.

Central reservation system usage fees, other system
maintenance and other support fees are typically
billed and collected monthly along with the base
management service fees mentioned above, and
revenue is generally recognised over time as services
are provided.

Pre-opening services, which include providing services
(e.g., installing IT information systems, providing
standardisation hotel management system and central
reservation system, providing access to purchase
platform, helping to obtain operational qualification,
and helping to recruit and train employees) to the hotel
owners to assist in preparing for the hotel opening.
These fees are typically collected upfront and are
recognised as revenue over the whole management
contract period.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

©®)

(©

(@)

Hotel design and construction management services

Revenue is recognised in the accounting period in
which the services are rendered because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits
provided by the Group.

Hotel operation income

Revenue from room sales and other ancillary guest
services is recognised over time on a daily basis, and
revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the
point in time when control of the goods is transferred
to customers.

Loyalty program management service fee

Revenue from the loyalty program management service
fee is generated from the services provided in relation
to the loyalty program. The program reward members
with points for each stay at the hotels or certain other
consumption at the hotels, which are then redeemable
for free hotel nights and other goods and services.
The Group defers the cash amount received from
participating hotels as the future redemption obligation,
and such points that will eventually be redeemed as
revenue when they are used or on the expiry date.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GETEER @

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EBRGHER @

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income in
the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

Contract assets

If the Group performs by transferring goods or services
to a customer before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the contract terms, a contract asset is
recognised for the earned consideration that is conditional.
Contract assets are subject to impairment assessment,
details of which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets. They are reclassified to trade
receivables when the right to the consideration becomes
unconditional.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received
or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer
before the Group transfers the related goods or services.
Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue when the
Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of
the related goods or services to the customer).
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong
(the "MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those employees
who are eligible to participate in MPF Scheme. Contributions
are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic
salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of
the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF

Scheme.

The Group’s subsidiaries outside Hong Kong are required
to contribute certain percentage of their payroll costs to
pension schemes operated by the respective governments.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the pension
schemes is to pay the required ongoing contributions.
Contributions under the schemes are charged to the
statement of profit or loss as they become payable in

accordance with the rules of the pension schemes.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 2. GETEER @

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EBRGHER @

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.
Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the
financial statements.

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars, which is the Company’s functional currency. Each
entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each
entity are measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the Group
are initially recorded using their respective functional currency
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of monetary
items are recognised in the statement of profit or loss with
the exception of monetary items that are designated as
part of the hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign
operation. These are recognised in other comprehensive
income until the net investment is disposed of, at which
time the cumulative amount is reclassified to the statement
of profit or loss. Tax charges and credits attributable to
exchange differences on those monetary items are also
recorded in other comprehensive income.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation
of a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on change
in fair value of the item (i.e., translation difference on the
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or the statement of profit or loss
is also recognised in other comprehensive income or the
statement of profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of
the related asset, expense or income on the derecognition
of a non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating
to an advance consideration, the date of initial transaction
is the date on which the Group initially recognises the non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the
advance consideration. If there are multiple payments or
receipts in advance, the Group determines the transaction
date for each payment or receipt of the advance
consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of
the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these entities
are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates that approximate to those
prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
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Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
reserve, except to the extent that the differences are
attributable to non-controlling interests. On disposal of a
foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated
into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the
dates of the cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of
overseas companies which arise throughout the year are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant effect
on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:
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Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)
Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based
on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrangements,
such as the lease term not constituting a major part of the
economic life of the commercial property and the present value of
the minimum lease payments not amounting to substantially all the
fair value of the commercial property, that it retains substantially all
the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these
properties which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as
operating leases.

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of
contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension
and termination options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether or not to exercise the option to renew or
terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Group
reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event or change
in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate the
lease (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements to
the leased asset).
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below:

In the absence of current prices in an active market for similar
properties, the Group considers information from a variety of
sources, including:

(@) current prices in an active market for properties of a different
nature, condition or location, adjusted to reflect those
differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties on less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the dates of the transactions that occurred
at those prices; and

(c) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable estimates
of future cash flows, supported by the terms of any existing
lease and other contracts and (when possible) by external
evidence such as current market rents for similar properties
in the same location and condition, and using discount rates
that reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty in
the amount and timing of the cash flows.

The carrying amount of investment properties as at 31 December
2023 was $1,379,375,000 (2022: $1,407,212,000). Further
details, including the key assumptions used for fair value
measurement, are stated in note 15 to the financial statements.

3.

ERGsHHE R G @
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MR EaiER ;
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables and
contract assets

Management evaluates the credit risk characteristics of individual
trade receivables and contract assets when its credit risk identified
deteriorates significantly, otherwise the Group uses a provision
matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables and contract assets
collectively. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions (i.e.,
gross domestic product) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults, the
historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the
forward-looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group’s
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer’s actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group’s trade receivables and contract assets is disclosed in note
19 and note 20 to the financial statements, respectively.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Provision for expected credit losses on the long-term
receivables

Management evaluates the credit risk characteristics of the long-
term receivables. When its credit risk increased significantly since
initial recognition, the impairment was determined by management
using cash flow projections specific to the receivables and
applying discount rates which reflects credit risks of the debtor.
Management need estimate the expected future cash flows of
the debtor to settle the outstanding balance due to the Group
and choose appropriate discount rates in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. The net carrying amount of the
long-term receivables in the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 December 2023 was $1,878,971,000 (2022:
$1,783,937,000), further details of which are set out in note 21 to
the financial statements.

PRC corporate income tax (“CIT")

The Group is subject to CIT in Mainland China. As a result of the
fact that certain matters relating to CIT have not been confirmed by
the local tax bureau, objective estimates and judgement based on
currently enacted tax laws, regulations and other related policies
are required in determining the CIT provision to be made. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts
originally recorded, the differences will have an impact on the CIT
expense and CIT provisions in the period in which the differences
are realised.
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3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets (including the right-of-
use assets) at the end of each reporting period. Non-financial
assets are tested for impairment when there are indicators that
the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment
exists when the carrying value of an asset or a cash-generating
unit exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of its fair
value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The calculation
of the fair value less costs of disposal is based on available data
from binding sales transactions in an arm’s length transaction of
similar assets or observable market prices less incremental costs
for disposing of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are
undertaken, management must estimate the expected future cash
flows from the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash
flows.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences and unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable
that future taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and tax losses can be utilised.
Significant management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon
the likely timing and level of future taxable profits together with
future tax planning strategies. Further details are given in note 18
to the financial statements.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BB AN » HILUETTHR)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group’s operating businesses
are structured and managed separately according to the nature
of their operations and the products and services they provide.
Each of the Group’s operating segments represents a strategic
business unit that offers products and services which are subject
to risks and returns different from those of the other operating
segments. The Group has three reportable operating segments
and particulars of the Group’s reportable operating segments are
summarised as follows:

(@)  hotel operation and management services;
(b)  hotel design and construction management services; and

(c) leasing of investment properties held by the Group for long-
term investment.

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit,
which is measured by adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted
profit before tax is measured consistently with the Group’s profit
before tax except that non-lease-related finance costs, other
income and gains, net as well as corporate and other unallocated
expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, income tax
recoverable, restricted bank balance, cash and cash equivalents
and corporate and other unallocated assets as these assets are
managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude deferred tax liabilities, loans from an
intermediate holding company, income tax payable and corporate
and other unallocated liabilities as these liabilities are managed on
a group basis.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. REDEHER @
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_ZT_=-—HF+°"HA=+—HL
FE
Hotel
Hotel design and
operation and construction Investment
management  management properties
services services leasing Total
BIERE
BEEER k% REME
EERE EERE HE st
$°000 $°000 $'000 $'000
T T T T
Segment revenue: (note 5) SEIRE - (H55)
Sales to external customers HEFINIE R 721,027 173,035 89,006 983,068
Segment profit S ERER 212,765 8,429 47,390 268,584
Reconcilation: Ea) N
Other income and gains, net (note 6) ~ ELtIA K Mz » 7528 (15E6) 30,264
Finance costs (other than intereston BB A (AE&EF BRI
lease liabilties) (note 8) GE) (289)
Corporate and other unallocated NEREMF IR
expenses (18,225)
Profit before tax PRIRED R R 280,334
Segment assets NBEE 629,273 223,398 1,395,758 2,248,429
Reconcilation: iR
Corporate and other unallocated assets AT KREMANEEE 2,304,178
Total assets mEE 4,552,607
Segment liabilities =Lt 787,151 72,346 49,591 909,088
Reconciliation: iR
Corporate and other unallocated liabiliies ‘AF) R E Mk E & 1E 357,086
Total liabilities S =N 1,266,174
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. KEREER @
(Continued)
Other segment information HthoIpskl
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE_ESE_=f+”-H=+—HL
FE
Hotel
Hotel design and
operation and construction Investment
management  management properties
services services leasing Total
BIERE
BIEEER k% REME
EERH% BERS e 4t
$000 $°000 $'000 $000
T T T T
Impairment losses recognised in the EREaREIZHESS
statement of profit or loss, net: 258 . (zto)
(note 6)
~ Segment assets —-PHEE 23,903 43,970 148 68,021
- Unallocated assets —RKNBREE 35,401
103,422
Depreciation and amortisation (note 7) 32 R #8 (§i5E7)
- Segment assets —-DHEE 49,002 683 1 49,686
- Unallocated assets —kNEEE 1,451
51,137
Capital expenditure* BAS
- Segment assets —-DHEE 24,896 357 - 25,253
- Unallocated assets ~KPEEE -
25,253
* Capital expenditure consists of additions of intangible assets, * BEARASTHEEREETESE - WX K
property, plant and equipment and construction in progress. EREEURERIR .
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4. KEDEER @&
(Continued)
Year ended 31 December 2022 BgFE_—_=_-_—#+-_A=+—81t
FE
Hotel
Hotel design and
operation and construction Investment
management management properties
services services leasing Total
BIEHE
BIEEER REF REME
BERH BERH e ok
$000 $000 $000 $'000
T Fr T T
Segment revenue: (note 5) AEE © (HE5)
Sales to external customers HETIEER 536,424 182,165 98,191 816,780
Segment profit SRR 130,917 33,850 34,591 199,358
Reconciliation: Eor 3
Other income and gains, net (note 6) B A R s 2 7588 (fff516) 128,139
Finance costs (other than intereston ~ BEERA (FREBER BRIN
lease liabilities) (note 8) (FffzE8) (9,535)
Corporate and other unallocated N REMA RS
expenses (18,931)
Profit before tax FRiREER 299,081
Segment assets NHEE 638,642 238,061 1,427,116 2,303,819
Reconcilation: Er 3
Corporate and other unallocated assets AR KEHMANEEE 2,957,386
Total assets HEE 5,261,205
Segment liabilities paki=1E 885,709 151,454 42,165 1,079,328
Reconcillation: H:
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities ‘A Z) R E ik HE & E 994,394
Total liabilities maf 2,073,722
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, KEDEER @
(Continued)
Other segment information HthoIpskl
Year ended 31 December 2022 HE_S-__—_F#+-"HB=+—81
FE
Hotel
Hotel design and
operation and construction Investment
management management properties
services services leasing Total
BIERE
BEEER RER BENE
EERH EERH e st
$'000 $000 $'000 $'000
T T T Fr
Impairment losses recognised in the EREaRERZHESS
statement of profit or loss, net: ()
(note 6)
— Segment assets -NEEE 1,308 14,865 127 16,300
- Unallocated assets ~KPEEE 29,525
45,825
Depreciation and amortisation (note 7)  #EE K48 (5E7)
- Segment assets —-HHEE 46,570 430 142 47,142
- Unallocated assets —-RPEEE 1,609
48,751
Capital expenditure* BAS
- Segment assets —-DHEE 12,610 975 - 13,585
- Unallocated assets —-XPEBE 1
13,586
* Capital expenditure consists of additions of intangible assets, * BASHEEREEFESE - WX K
property, plant and equipment, construction in progress and ERERE - ITRTRELBEE YLK

leasehold improvements.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4, KEDEER @
(Continued)
Geographical information WEEE
The following table sets out information about the geographical TREVEBNAERRBINEELZ
locations of (i) the Group’s revenue from external customers and WRKEWAERZIERBEE (FEHE
(i) the Group’s non-current assets (excluding deferred tax assets) IRIERIEE E) (HEEIERFBBE)) 2
(“specified non-current assets”). The geographical location of WIBNEER - KBIBEAZNEZ
revenue from external customers is based on the locations at HIEBEVRIEFFIREHEFEEY
which the services were provided or the properties were leased. E R E ISTEIEREEH
The geographical location of the specified non-current assets is BNENEREEZ2ERMUE GIEEE
based on the physical locations of the assets, in the case of fixed EMS) RESRZEEMEME
assets, and the locations of the operations to which they are
allocated.
Segment revenue from Specified
external customers non-current assets
RESNEE R Z 2 ERUREE BEEREBEE
2023 2022 2023 2022
Bz g ZEZ=ZH T fF
$’000 $'000 $°000 $°000
T Tt Tt Tt
The PRC (including Hong Kong) A El (B131&% ) 978,390 813,698 1,857,977 1,888,111
Overseas ESTUN 4,678 3,082 1,853,745 1,783,937

983,068 816,780 3,711,722 3,672,048
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Information about major customers

During the year, the Group made sales to certain groups of major
customers, which are known to be under common control, the
revenue from which individually contributed to more than 10% of
the Group’s total revenue. The analysis is as follows:

REDEPER

EHEERRZEH

FR-AEERETEEERER (B
MZHERES) ETHE  REZFE
P B a8 BlE A~ e B AR Rz 110% ©
DHTWT

2023 2022

TET=HF =BT T4

$°000 $°000

Fx Tz

Customer A ZRA 294,759 183,527
Customer B ZFEB 141,265 116,267
436,024 299,794
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(BR5 AR » BHLUBTIIR)

L
5. REVENUE 5. Yz
An analysis of revenue is as follows: W@ AT -
2023 2022
—E-= BT F
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
Revenue from contracts with KEEFRSHNZ NG
customers

Hotel management services JEEEIER 545,102 371,624

Hotel design and construction BT R EREERE
management services 173,035 182,165
Hotel operation income BIEEEWA 175,925 164,800
894,062 718,589

Revenue from other sources HithzkiE 2z W
Gross rental income from investment REREYELERE
properties operating leases: AW ALREE :

Variable rent S EIHE 4,426 3,950
Base rent EAMEE 84,580 94,241
89,006 98,191
983,068 816,780
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L
5. REVENUE (continued) 5 W&
() Disaggregated revenue information for revenue from () REEFRPEHNZWEZWE
contracts with customers SIFER
2023 2022
—E”= —EICH
$’000 $'000
FT Tt
Recognised at a point in time 17 5 {2 By ) B P 52
Hotel operation income from sales of KB EmIHE « IRHENIRFE K
goods, catering services and others Hith 7 B/EEEWRA 109,043 102,267
Recognised over time S — B BF ) PO e 220
Hotel operation income from rooms REERZBEEERA 66,882 62,533
Hotel management service revenue AR EIERE WS 545,102 371,624
Hotel design and construction BT R EREERE
management services 173,035 182,165
Revenue from contracts with REEREHZIKE
customers 894,062 718,589
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L
5. REVENUE (continued) 5. Wam @

() Disaggregated revenue information for revenue from () REEFRPEHNZWEZWE
contracts with customers (Continued) PIFRER @
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TREBFINARSHABFTARS
recognised in the current reporting period that were included By aErEBFHEBER
in the contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting BABXFMERZEER NG S
period and recognised from performance obligations satisfied %8 -

in previous periods:

2023 2022
—EZ= B F
$’000 $'000
T T
Revenue recognised that was included st ARSHEI Z & EFEZ
in contract liabilities at the BRI ¢
beginning of the reporting period:
Sale of goods EmiieE 4,280 335
Loyalty programme management BRI EIERE 21,388 18,144
services
Hotel management services BIEEIERS 19,413 14,891
Hotel design and construction BT R EREERE 12,125 8,686
management services
Others HAth 977 632
58,183 42,688
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5. REVENUE (Continued)

(i) Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Hotel management services, hotel design and
construction management services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services
are rendered and payment is generally due within 90 days
from the date of billing.

Hotel operation income

The performance obligation is satisfied as services are
rendered or goods are delivered and payment is generally
received in advance.

Loyalty programme management services

The performance obligation is satisfied as members’ points

are used or expire, and the payment from hotels who
participate in the loyalty program is received in advance.

5. Wi @

(i)

BHEE

ERAEREBOSEZE/EA
LI

BIEEERT AR RE
HEERE

AR ERHRSE R—RINER
HARESt L+ B A B R E L
BHEEN — R EZEMN -
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— RS WERIE BB S
EEER -
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5. REVENUE (Continued)
(i) Performance obligations (Continued)
Loyalty programme management services (Continued)

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied)
of hotel management services, hotel design and construction
management services and loyalty programme management
services as at 31 December 2023 and 2022 are as follows:

(i)

5. Wi @

BHNEE @
B BB EART ()

RIEZ=FRZZTITF+Z
B=+—H 9EZBEEER
B BIERTREREEREU
KREHFHEERB G TEN
BE CGREERIIBD REEN)

ZRGBEEBREUT .

2023 2022

== —ETTF

$°000 $'000

Tt Tt

Amounts expected to be recognised ~ FARARFESR AW m 2 £ X8

as revenue:

Within one year —FERN 191,386 194,899

After one year BiE—F 154,782 176,079

346,168 370,978
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6. OTHER INCOME AND GAINS, NET 6. H AR F5E
An analysis of the Group’s other income and gains, net is as AERBZ EMUA KW SFEED TN
follows: ™
2023 2022
—EZ=F TEICE
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Bank interest income IR1TR EWA 5,672 21,726
Interest income on long-term receivables £ EAFEWFIE Z I EUT A 100,810 119,323
Other interest income from financial assets A AEEFABRIRZ SRMEE
at fair value through profit or loss ZHF BUWA - 8,375
Exchange (loss)/gain, net R (518 I P48 (2,072) 6,753
(Impairment)/reversal of impairment of SMEEHNEE (BB RE
financial and contract assets, net: e {CIRDE2 -
— Impairment of trade receivables —ESEWEIERE (f:E19)
(note 19) (48,344) (10,114)
— (Impairment)/reversal of impairment of ~ —EMFEURFRIE CRl{E) 8 (8 &
other receivables (note 21(b)) B (MFsE21(b)) (3,065) 93
— Impairment of contract assets —&aNEERE (f1EE20)
(note 20) (16,612) (6,279)
— Impairment of long-term receivables —REAFEWGRIERIE
(note 21(0)) (HtzE21(c)) (35,401) (29,525)
Other income due to breach of contracts A& R EAMESE 2 EMUTA
by customers 127 1,505
Government grants BT B 26,499 13,680
Others HAth 2,650 2,602
30,264 128,139
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7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. BRMRDEF]
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): AEEZBFRRANRMN L E&MER GEA)

THIEE®RER

2023 2022

Notes $°000 $°000

B 5E T T

Cost of goods sold EEEmE 93,220 92,196

Cost of services provided* P (R ARFE 2 Al A~ 437,292 341,276

Direct operating expenses (including BRERFHE 2 I EWEELE 2
repairs and maintenance) arising HELESRY (BEEER

from rental-earning investment RE)
properties 33,535 40,002
564,047 473,474
Depreciation of property, plant and Y12 BB KR EITE
equipment 14 16,823 14,173
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEEE 16(a) 31,392 32,928
Amortisation of intangible assets | B E#H 17 2,922 1,650
Lease payments not included in the stEHESERITHEFAZ
measurement of lease liabilities HEMR 16(c) 6,546 6,829
Decrease in fair value of investment & BYEE N A BERELD
properties 15 7,780 24,549
Auditor’s remuneration Z BN &
— Annual audit services —FEZEART 1,111 1,169
— Non-audit services —IERZBRTS 402 525
Employee benefit expense* BERMHEZ
(excluding directors’ remuneration) (- E3EEE % # )
— Salaries, wages and other —Fe s IEREMER
benefits 78,353 63,316
— Contributions to defined — A EREICRIRETEIE
contribution retirement plans H 2 Hf® 6,447 6,083
84,800 69,399
* Cost of services provided includes employee benefit expense of - FriRitiRBE 2R ABIEESEEHE
approximately $241,399,000 (2022: $202,303,000), which amount £ #9241,399,000c (ZE - " &F :
is not included in the total amounts of employee benefit expense. 202,308,0007T) ’ W ARTARE
A 2 A8
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(FR5AEERAS > BHLBTIIR)

8. FINANCE COSTS 8. RLERZS
An analysis of the Group’s finance costs is as follows: AEBEZREMREADTUT :
2023 2022
—E-= BT TF
$°000 $'000
Fr Tt
Interest on loans from an intermediate — B EERABERF B

holding company (note 32(a)) (FI5E32(a)) 289 9,535
Interest on lease liabilities (note 16(b)) BEAEHNE ¢EE16(0) 21,687 23,818
21,976 33,353

9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION 9. EFHM

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of

FARBELHTRREBLTEGE
383(1)@)~ (o)~ () R(ME R AT (HEES
M E R REIFo N E 2 B E N

Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows: N
2023 2022
—E-= BT
$’000 $'000
F Tt
Fees e 729 738
Other emoluments: HAN % -

Salaries, allowances and e R RBEYET
benefits in kind 9,353 9,838
Discretionary bonuses B TEAL 1,712 1,064
Pension scheme contributions BIREFTEIHRR 139 163
11,204 11,065
11,933 11,803
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9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued)

(BR5 AR » BHLUBTIIR)

EEHN

Directors’ remuneration is as follows: EEHMOT -
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary Scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration
e Bk BikE
ik BMER BETEA HEEEN s st
$'000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T
2023 ZEZC=E
Chairman and executive ~ TREFHTES !
director:
Mr. Ning Qifeng EHELE - 9,353 1,712 139 11,204
Independent non-executive B FEMITES
directors:
Mr. He Zhiping AETEE 243 - - - 243
Dr. Chen Yan FEtET 243 - - - 243
Dr. Teng Bing Sheng BREEL 243 - - - 243
Non-executive directors: ~ JEHTES :
Mr. Ding Benxi TEHEE - - - - -
Mr. Zhang Lin RRLE - - - - -
Mr. Han Xu BRLE - - - - -
729 9,353 1,712 139 11,933
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9. DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION (continued) 9. EEFHM @
Directors’ remuneration is as follows: (Continued) BEEFMUT (B
Salaries,

allowances Pension
and benefits Discretionary Scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses contributions remuneration

e 2K BihE
ik ENER BIETEA AR H st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T T

2022 k- Skt

Chairman and executive ~ TREFHTES !
director:
Mr. Ning Qifeng EHELE - 9,838 1,064 163 11,065

Independent non-executive B FEMITES

directors:

Mr. He Zhiping AETEE 246 - - - 246
Dr. Chen Yan ekt 246 - - - 246
Dr. Teng Bing Sheng BREEL 246 - - - 246

Non-executive directors: ~ JEHTES :

Mr. Ding Benxi TRFALE - - _ _ _
Mr. Zhang Lin RRLE - - - - _
Mr. Han Xu WBEE - - - _ _

738 9,838 1,064 163 11,803
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10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES 10. LR EEHES

IaReHES HF—2REF CF
TTE I RER  HEFEWFBERN L
XHisE9 o FA RERN L RSB FIFES
BE C2__F  NERaHFESRE
B) ZFMsFIRI T -

Among the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one of
them is a director (2022: one director), whose emoluments are
disclosed in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration for the year
of the remaining four non-director highest paid employees (2022:
four non-director highest paid employees) are as follows:

2023 2022

$°000 $'000

Fx FT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ~ ¥7% ~ BAL R EEF] 13,402 14,660
Performance related bonuses RIBHTEAL 2,134 1,233
Pension scheme contributions BB B 415 461
15,951 16,254

REHIFEERFEEZTHRABEEZ
NN FUATEHE !

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid
employees whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as
follows:

Number of employees

EEAH
2023 2022
—E=HF <
$2,500,001 to $3,000,000 2,500,0017t5%3,000,0007T 1 -
$3,000,001 to $3,500,000 3,000,0017t £3,500,0007T - 1
$3,500,001 to $4,000,000 3,500,00175%4,000,0007T 1 1
$4,000,001 to $4,500,000 4,000,0017t%4,500,0007T 1 1
$4,500,001 to $5,000,000 4,500,0017t £5,000,0007T - -
$5,000,001 to $5,500,000 5,000,00175%5,500,0007T 1 1
4 4
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11. INCOME TAX

1. Fri5#

2023 2022
—E== —EF
$°000 $'000
T Tt
Current tax BNERfRIE
Corporate Income Tax (note (i) RZERTISHR (BYEE(ii)
— Charge for the year —REERHY 89,992 106,801
— (Overprovision)/underprovision in —BEEE BREEB)
prior years BHETE (1,090) 1,291
88,902 108,092
Deferred tax IRIEFRIE 382 (42,037)
Total income tax expense for the year REEMERAZRLE 89,284 66,055

Notes:

U

(i)

(i

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of Bermuda and the British
Virgin Islands (“BVI"), the Group is not subject to any income tax in
Bermuda and the BVI.

Except for the income tax provided at the applicable income tax rate
of 28.505% (2022: 28.505%) on the assessable profits for Wanda
Chicago Real Estate LLC, a subsidiary of the Company registered
in the USA, no provision for Hong Kong profits tax or overseas
corporate income tax has been made as the Group did not have
assessable profits in Hong Kong or overseas for the year.

Corporate Income Tax (“CIT”)

The provision for the PRC CIT has been made at the applicable
income tax rate of 25% (2022: 25%) on the assessable profits of
the Group’s majority subsidiaries in Mainland China, except for
the subsidiaries of the Company established in Horgos, Xinjiang
Uygur Autonomous region, which enjoy PRC corporate income tax
exemptions in accordance with the relevant tax rules, a subsidiary
of the company was recognised as High and New Technology
Enterprises in October 2023 and was entitled to a preferential tax
rate of 15%, and the subsidiary of the Company established in
Zhuhai, Guangzhou Province, which enjoy a preferential tax rate of
15% and certain subsidies are subject to preferential tax rates for
small-scale taxpayers. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rate of tax prevailing in the countries in which
the Group operates.

(i)

(i)

REBRERRBREYES ((HER
QEE)) RAURER  AEBRER
EREBREYEEDAGMEMRME
Mo

B AABEEEFMZMELF
Wanda Chicago Real Estate LLCiE&
FE SRR R T 2 8 A P 1517 23£28.505%
(ZZT 45 1 28.505%) IR EFER
b MR E BRI BRIEIMEERT
BRIEHEE REBNEBRRAKF
EAESENEIN BERRET)

LEFSIR (TEZEMFR)

RECEMSRZBENRERAER
REBEAMZ TEHB AR ZERR
BEABERSRELR (T2
F125%) fFH R BEEER
BEEBRIMIZARBWERF
(EREEERBERAZETIEE
FriSiizate) A AB—BENB AR R
TEC-Ft+PRHIRADWEMEE
TEBEERRIGHENERELKE
BRizANBNBAR (H=ZHEER
ME15%) UKRZE/NREARAE
EMENETHEB RSN Hfhith
B2 ERRMaN IR A EBLE X
FIERRZ ERIREFE o
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(BR5 AR » BHLUBTIIR)

11. INCOME TAX (Continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at
the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and
the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at
the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the applicable rates

1. FIER @

BRARBREFEN B AT FEMMILZ
BEEEAERESABBERRIFRANE
MZMBERARBRRIRATZNG
BERZHRMERARE EVEERER) A

(i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax rates, are as follows: EEMEZHRWT :
2023 2022
—E-=F -
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Profit before tax BRI AT A 280,334 299,031
National tax calculated at rates applicable to ZEBRNRBRARKTEEE 2@

profits in the tax jurisdictions concerned ZHREFEZER 62,258 67,495
Adjustments in respect of current tax of B HERI BN ERTR B 2 A %R

previous periods (1,090) 1,291
Profits attributable to joint ventures SEPEBEEF 2 (60)
Income not subject to tax BB 2 WA (6,086) (8,995)
Expenses not deductible for tax ENCIE E b2 9,070 7,306
Tax losses not recognised KR MIBEIE 6,611 542
Effect of withholding tax at 5% on the HAREE PR B QB EHD K

distributable profits of the Group’s EFHURE%TEINR 2 &

PRC subsidiary 1,169 1,615
Tax losses utilised from previous periods BB ESBRIBEIE (1,224) 661)
Deductible temporary difference not KR oA R =2

recognised 18,574 -
Tax losses recognised from previous periods B+ EAR BRI IEA 18 - (2,478)
Tax expense at the Group’s effective rate BAREBNERREZFTEN

RIEFE 89,284 66,055

12. DIVIDEND

The directors of the Company did not recommend the payment of
a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).
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13. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE A

PARENT

(a) Basic earnings per share

Notes to Financial Statements

The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the

profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the

parent, and the weighted average number of ordinary shares
of 4,697,347,000 (2022: 4,697,347,000) in issue during the

year.

The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are

RAFS R MY EE

(FR5AEERAS > BHLBTIIR)

13. BRABEBERFE ARG

BREAREF

SREABRANDEFAG AT
ZERFEAEGENRFEA
BEECTEZERZMEFTEH
4,697,347,0008% (ZE——
4,697,347 ,0008%) 5t & o

BEREARBERMNOEDR
BUTRIESE

based on:
2023 2022
—E=F B F
$°000 $'000
T Tt
Profit attributable to ordinary equity BRetESREA RS ERF
holders of the parent, used in the BAREERTEAERGEZ
basic and diluted earnings per share ;&
calculation 165,154 193,242
(b) Diluted earnings per share ) EREEERF

The Group had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in issue
during the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: Nil).

BHE_Z_-—#+"_FB=+—H
FEE AERTEBETHEZ D

BOSER(CE-—F 8-
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NG =1
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y12~ BB K551
Furniture,
fixtures and Motor Leasehold Construction
equipment vehicles improvements in progress Total
R EE g
R&th pat:l MERE fERIE st
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T T T T T
31 December 2023 ZZZ=F+ZRA=+—H
At 1 January 2023 R_E_=F—HA—H
Cost [N 45,571 2,716 149,027 4,941 202,255
Accumulated depreciation ST ERRIE

and impairment (23,327) (2,716) (29,072) - (55,115)
Net carrying amount REFE 22,244 - 119,955 4,941 147,140
At 1 January 2023, net of RIZZ=F—F—H

accumulated depreciation (0P EEHTE KRR E)

and impairment 22,244 - 119,955 4,941 147,140
Additions NE 4,034 23 10,832 2,515 17,404
Disposals HE (283) - - - (283)
Depreciation provided during FRHREZITE

the year (6,499) 8) (10,316) - (16,823)
Transfers to intangible assets EEREELEE (:H17)

(note 17) - - - (3,190) (3,190)
Exchange realignment ERAE (272) (1) (548) (71) (892)
At 31 December 2023, net of W_E_=F+"B=1+—H

accumulated depreciation (B EHTERAE)

and impairment 19,224 14 119,923 4,195 143,356
At 31 December 2023 i

+-A=+—H
Cost DN 48,587 2,752 155,568 4,195 211,102
Accumulated depreciation RETERRIE

and impairment (29,363) (2,738) (35,645) - (67,746)

Net carrying amount REFE 19,224 14 119,923 4,195 143,356
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (contivee) ~ 14. Y%~ R B R %E @

Furniture,
fixtures and Motor Leasehold  Construction
equipment vehicles  improvements in progress Total
R B HE
B bl e TEIRE st
$'000 $000 $'000 $000 $'000
T Tt T Tt Tt
31 December 2022 —2-__#+-RA=+-H
At 1 January 2022 RZZ2Z”"F—HF—H
Cost [N 46,416 2,716 158,896 7141 215,169
Accumulated depreciation ST ERRIE

and impairment (21,959) (2,716) (20,522) - (45,197)
Net carrying amount REFE 24,457 - 138,374 7,141 169,972
At 1 January 2022, net of KRIZEZZHF—F—H

accumulated depreciation (0P EEHTE KRR E)

and impairment 24,457 - 138,374 7141 169,972
Additions NE 3,783 - 3,013 1,949 8,745
Disposals HE (16) - - - (16)
Depreciation provided during FREHEZITE

the year (4,081) - (10,092) - (14,173)
Transfers to intangible assets EREErEE (:H17)

(note 17) - - - (3,544) (8,544)
Exchange realignment EREE (1,899) - (11,340) (605) (13,844)
At 31 December 2022, net of W_E__F+-B=1+—H

accumulated depreciation (O RFHNERAE)

and impairment 22,244 - 119,955 4,941 147,140
At 31 December 2022 i S—

+ZB=+—H
Cost DS 45,571 2,716 149,027 4,941 202,255
Accumulated depreciation RETERRIE

and impairment (23,327) (2,716) (29,072 - (65,115)

Net carrying amount REFE 22,244 - 119,955 4,941 147,140
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15. I EY)E

$°000

T

At 1 January 2022 R - _F—H—H 1,663,122

Net loss from a fair value adjustment (note 7) NABERAEEEFE (:27) (24,549)

Exchange realignment E A% (131,361)
At 31 December 2022 and M_v__¢+ B=t—HRK

1 January 2023 —E2=F—F—H 1,407,212

Net loss from a fair value adjustment (note 7) NABEBAEESEFE (7)) (7,780)

Exchange realignment bE 2 FHEE (20,057)

At 31 December 2023 W_E_=—fF+"HF=+—H 1,379,375

Investment properties, including both land and building elements
held by the Group, were revalued at the end of the year based
on valuations performed by an independent qualified valuer,
Cushman & Wakefield Shenzhen Valuation Co., Ltd. (“Cushman
& Wakefield”). Cushman & Wakefield is an industry specialist
in investment property valuation, which has the appropriate
qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of similar
properties in the relevant locations. The valuation for the
completed investment properties was arrived at by considering
the capitalised income to be derived from the existing tenancies
and the reversionary potential of the properties, where appropriate,
by reference to market evidence of transaction prices for similar
properties in the same locations and conditions. There were no
changes to the valuation techniques during the year.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included in
note 16 to the financial statements.
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REMECRAIEEBFEN T KIE
FHERERRBBISBERMLER
Cushman & Wakefield Shenzhen Valuation
Co., Ltd. (FCushman & Wakefield 1) #4T7R9
& {E3#E1T &1t - Cushman & Wakefield2 %
EMETEITENESOO THABFEE
& E AT 25 SR ITAB RA M B RV B U4
FETENER B TIREMEZFHE
Thi&E R ERBRAOFELENERL
WA RBEWAEND WHER) > 2F18
[FIh 2L F iR B ER LI ZE R T 5 RSB
FHF o F A E S A A AT EE)
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15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq)

Fair value hierarchy

The following table illustrates the fair value measurement hierarchy
of the Group’s investment properties:

15. KEWYZE »

AREEER

TREAEBREY X ANBES

SEMR:

Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2023 using

RIBEZ=F+ZA=+—HZAREBENEFEH

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIERET S EXRTHR EAFITHE
ZHRME BA2Y BWA2Y
(BE—%H) (B4 (B=%) “st
$°000 $°000 $’000 $’000
Fr T T T
Recurring fair value REMANEBEE
measurement for:
Commercial properties [E)zEk7ES - - 1,379,375 1,379,375
Fair value measurement as at 31 December 2022 using
R_ZE__F+-R=1+—HZRARBEFEEH
Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
INET b ERAHR BAFIHE
ZHRE BAZEY BWAZH
(BE—#) (€t (BE=4) Kt
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Tt T T T
Recurring fair value REMANBETE:
measurement for:
Commercial properties [k ES - - 1,407,212 1,407,212

During the year, there were no transfers between Level 1 and Level
2, or transfers into or out of Level 3 (2022: Nil). The Group’s policy
is to recognise transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy
as at the end of the reporting period in which they occur.

TR E—REF R ETmEGR
TEEF=ZMEBATEBL CT - "F:
) AL BRBNEEBIRTRE
HRMESB A MBERRE 2 &k
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15.

(BR5 AR » BHLUBTIIR)

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continueq) 15.

The Group’s management has discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the valuation is
performed at each reporting date.

Set out below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and
the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties:

KEYZE @

RERSHRETGHER  ~EEEE
BEgatEmymbERRhGEES
o

UTEHAEREYXEGERERZMGES
AREBHMASE M

Significant
Valuation techniques unobservable inputs Range
HEAR EATAHRBAZH e
2023 2022
—EZ= B HF
Shopping mall Investment approach Prevailing monthly RMB63 RMB61
market rent -RMB300 -RMB290
per square metre
[k BEZX FRABFTAKRTHHREET ARKITE ARE6ITE
AE#3007t  AK2907T
Reversionary yield Mall: 7.0% Mall: 7.0%
Store: 6.0% Store: 6.0%
R mE % 1 7.0% % 1 7.0%
[EME : 6.0% JEE : 6.0%
Car parks Investment approach Prevailing monthly RMB368 RMB370
market rent per lot
FHE% BEX SASM@A®EMRTMHEEE AR¥68T  ARMEI70T
Reversionary yield 5.0% 5.0%

TR

232

Prevailing market rents are estimated based on the independent
valuer’s view of recent letting transactions within the subject
properties and other comparable properties. The higher the rent,
the higher the fair value is. The reversionary yield is estimated by
the independent valuer based on the risk profile of the properties
being valued. The higher the yield, the lower the fair value is.
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1
16. LEASES 16. 1HE
The Group as a lessee REBEREMEA
The Group has lease contracts for various items of office, hotel AERBERANHEESBSEZHAE
buildings and machinery used in its operations. Leases of offices BIEEF MR ZHESN AT
generally have lease terms of between 2 and 6 years, and leases HEEEAZERF VERIEFT 2
of hotel buildings generally have lease terms of between 15 and 20 BEATEEZ S Mg 2 HEASE
years, while machinery generally has lease terms of between 2 and BACE-F o HMPHAETE REXK
3 years. Other office space, equipment and warehouse generally BEZAEEA T ZEATIUTR
have lease terms of 12 months or less and/or is individually of low HERBEEE
value.
(a) Right-of-use assets () FREEE
The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and rEEFRAEEEZRABERE
the movements during the year are as follows: BN -
Hotel
Offices buildings Machinery Total
MAE BIEETF 128 L]
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T T

As at 1 January 2022 R _-Z T

—B—H 19,505 358,175 526 378,206
Additions RE 8,795 - - 8,795
Depreciation charge RS (9,023 (23,483) (422) (32,928)
Exchange realignment  FER % (1,264) (29,342) (26) (30,632)

As at 31 December 2022 N _& -
and 1 January 2023 +—-A=+—H

TEC=F
—B—H 18,013 305,350 78 323,441
Additions RE 3,391 - - 3,391
Depreciation charge TR (8,989) (22,326) (77) (31,392
Exchange realignment  FER % (152) (4,205) 1) (4,358)
As at 31 December 2023 R & - =
+-BA=+—H 12,263 278,819 - 291,082
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=,
16. LEASES (continuea) 16. THE @
The Group as a lessee (Continued) KEBEAEEAN @
(b) Lease liabilities (b) HE&®E
The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements HMEaBZ REERFREEN
during the year are as follows: T
2023 2022
—EZ= B F
$°000 $'000
T T
Carrying amount at 1 January R—B—HBZEEE 387,997 424,436
New leases WEIEE 3,391 8,795
Accretion of interest recognised FRER RI1LH S (1EE8)
during the year (note 8) 21,687 23,818
Payments INEN (52,237) (32,182)
Exchange realignment b 2 5E EE (5,646) (36,870)
Carrying amount at 31 December R+ZB=+—HZKHEE 355,192 387,997
Analysed into: DA
Current portion BNEA 25,566 31,808
Non-current portion JEBNER 329,626 356,189
355,192 387,997
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 35 HEaBZ MBI MR HR
to the financial statements. FMIEES5IEE o
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16. LEASES (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continueq)

(c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases
are as follows:

16. THE @

KEBEREEAN @

© ME=ERZEERESENT

2023 2022
—EZ= T F
$°000 $'000
T T
Interest on lease liabilities (note 8) HEaGH 2 (YsEs) 21,687 23,818
Depreciation charge of FRAREEITERS (1516()
right-of-use assets (note 16(a)) 31,392 32,928
Expense relating to short-term leases 245 #AFA & K H fth 2 & 48 BF
and other leases (included in cost of 2 B3 (5t ASHE A< &
sales and administrative expenses) TEES) (:E7)
(note 7) 6,540 6,777
Expense relating to leases of low-value SR BEEZEEHEERBA X
assets (included in cost of sales and (Bt ASHE A AR ITEBIS)
administrative expenses) (note 7) (M5E7) 6 52
Total amount recognised in profit or loss i 18 7 i 58 2 4828 59,625 63,575

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 29(c) to
the financial statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties in Guilin, Guangxi
Zhuang Autonomous Region under operating lease arrangements.
The terms of the leases generally require the tenants to pay
security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was $89,006,000 (2022:
$98,191,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the
financial statements.

0 MHEERERDEEANYHREM
5T29(CHR EE ©

REEFHHEA

AEERBLCEMELH HBEMRE
AR EAeEMZREY X ZHE
ZIER—RER A LA RESWARE
EFMREHRAEREE AERBFRE
582 FH< U A %89,006,0007t (ZE -
£F 198,191,0007T) > A R IBE N MR
e EST
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1= .
16. LEASES (continuea) 16. 18 &
The Group as a lessor (Continued) NEBRFA/HBA @
At 31 December 2023, the undiscounted lease payments RE-B-_=F+ZA=+—H0'&%H
receivables of the Group in future periods under non-cancellable RBEMBEFET I 2 AR RS EEERN
operating leases with its tenants are as follows: FIRHARE 2 FEWCRARIRFAE MU T -
2023 2022
—EC=HF —ETTF
$’000 $'000
Tt T
Within one year —FR 71,966 68,676
After one year but within two years —FEEMERN 41,448 45,532
After two years but within three years MERB=FNAN 26,071 30,853
After three years but within four years —FRENERN 20,680 21,213
After four years but within five years MEBERFER 17,429 18,031
After five years A% 54,174 71,837
231,768 256,142
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(FR5AEERAS > BHLBTIIR)

7. BB E

Computer
software
ES e
$'000
Tt
31 December 2023 —E-=H+=-HA=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2023, net of accumulated AR =F—B—HZmE

amortisation &R st 10,088
Additions wE 7,849
Transfer from property, plant and equipment HERYE BEREE H:E14)

(note 14) 3,190
Amortisation provided during the year FREHRZ EH (2,922)
Exchange realignment P % (123)
At 31 December 2023 RIEZ=f+"HA=+—H 18,082
At 31 December 2023 NRIEBEZ=F+"A=+—H

Cost D%N 22,832

Accumulated amortisation RETEY (4,750)

Net carrying amount ERmEFE 18,082
31 December 2022 —EZZH+ZH=+—H
Cost at 1 January 2022, net of accumulated AZETF—H—HZHA

amortisation PR 2R 5t #E 25 3,586
Additions NE 4,841
Transfer from property, plant and equipment HEEYE BB REE (WeE14)

(note 14) 3,544
Amortisation provided during the year F TR 2 #iH (1,650)
Exchange realignment PE A% (233)
At 31 December 2022 R_B__F+_A=+—H 10,088
At 31 December 2022 and at 1 January 2023 Ef_ = __¢+ A=+—H&

—E=%—HF—H

Cost DN 11,964

Accumulated amortisation RET (1,876)

Net carrying amount ERmERE 10,088
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18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES RIERIEE EME
The components of the Group’s deferred tax assets/(liabilities) REBRGEHERRRER ZIELER
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position and HEE/ (8B MO RERESHUNT !

the movements during the year are as follows:

Withholding
tax on
distributable
Revaluation profits
of fromaPRC Right-of-use Lease
properties subsidiary assets liabilities Others Total
HrE R
AEAHRS R
ptili= 0
MEESR BNR  EREESE HEsR Htth st
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T T T
At 31 December 2021 WZBZ-£+-B=+-H (175,710) (42,964) - 13,149 54,428 (151,097)
Effect of adoption of amendments FAE A &5t £ 5125 (551 4)

o HKAS 12 (note 2.2(0) 282 (H52.20) - - (62,239) 62,239 - -
AT January 2022 restated) "B —E—F—H (EFF) (175710 (42,964) (62,239) 75,388 54,428 (151,097)
Deferred tax credited to the  AEEFt ABRR ZELRIE |

statement of profit or loss

during the year: 55 23,823 4,902 (1,810) 15,067 42,037
Exchange differences EREHE 14,881 4,074 4,069 (5,315) 4,919) 12,990
At 31 December 2022 (restated) R -_E_"&+_"B=+—H

(1R E5) (160,774) (14,867 (63,268) 68,263 64,576 (96,070)
At 31 December 2022 RZEZ_&+-"A=+—H (160,774) (14,867) - 14,995 64,576 (96,070)
Effect of adoption of amendments ¥4 E B sHER5125% (1851 4)

o HKAS 12 (note 2.2(0) 282 (H52.20) - - (53,268) 53,268 - -
A1 January 2023 restated) RO BE-Z&E—A—H (EEF)  (160,774) (14,867) (53,269) 68,263 64,576 (96,070)
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to AEE 5t A/ (IR E) B R

the statement of profitor loss ~ ZiEIERIE

during the year. (3,839) 980 3673 (8,646) 7,449 (382)
Exchange differences ERER 2,325 292 736 (916) (927) 1,510
At 31 December 2023 “ECZE+TAT+-H (162,287) (13,59) (48,859) 58,701 71,008 (94,942)
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18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

18 IEEIRIBEEREE @

(Continued)

Reconciliation to the consolidated statement of financial position: EEMBRRZ R
2023 2022
—EZ= TET T HF
$°000 $'000
T T
Deferred tax assets IRILIRIAE 79,376 79,064
Deferred tax liabilities FIERIBEE (174,318) (175,134)
(94,942) (96,070)

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
following items:

AT RFLU IR B HEDIELEIRIEES
E:

2023 2022

2= BT F

$°000 $'000

T F

Unused tax credits RXEBRIEK D 26,130 2,169

The above tax losses mainly arose in the PRC (2022: the PRC).
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the
above items as it is not considered probable that taxable profits will
be available against which the above items can be utilised.

LR EB RN R (CE T TF
FPED EE o NSRBI RIRER RN
) B BN AR _E TR B 4 EE S Rt b
IR B RS IRER IR S 2 ©
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18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 18. IEIEMRMIBE EREE @
(Continued)

RIERREBEFRERE LA ERE
BREEERKRENFTEBRIIZINEDR
= BIEE EBUR10% A0 © i AP B 25
AR EEMBE AR HMESRGE
5 A EREBENRREER LA
EEMS BREMEA N - RZZTZ=
F+ZH=+—H>k1,169,0007t (Z=F
— T4 1 1,615,0007T) BYIEIERRIBE SE—
BEFPERIINEEENBABRMED
DBAEF DI SEBENRIN ) 1
WAL B EPE KB E A BB
MINTEIIMHREL BB THTE
NREREMIEERIE - EERA > ZF
M AR A Bk 2k A R ARV
R R-MN_Z_=ZF+_A=+—H"
BRPENE AN ERENERR
M 48EELY A1,898,652,00070 (ZE -
£ 1 1,731,628,0007T) °

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from
the foreign investment enterprises established in PRC. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty between
PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. For the Group,
the applicable rate is 5%. As at 31 December 2023, except that
the deferred tax amounting $1,169,000 (2022: $1,615,000) being
recognised for withholding taxes on dividends will be distributed
by a non-wholly-owned subsidiary established in the PRC in
respect of a portion of its earnings, no other deferred tax has been
recognised for withholding taxes that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the
Group’s subsidiaries established in the PRC. In the opinion of the
directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount of
earnings associated with investments in subsidiaries in the PRC
was approximately $1,898,652,000 as at 31 December 2023
(2022: $1,731,628,000).

KRB RERERIKA R B ARMEPE

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment

of dividends by the Company to its shareholders. s o

19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 19. B S BINEER BN EE
2023 2022

—E-= o

$°000 $°000

T T

Trade receivables =y 351,974 325,706
Impairment BE (162,974) (116,742)
189,000 208,964

Bills receivables ENERE 110 5,701
189,110 214,665
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19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continuea)

Receivables from leasing properties are normally settled on an
advance receipt basis, where the lessees are required to pay in
advance for several months’ rental payment and pay a security
deposit as well. However, in the case of long-standing customers
with good repayment history, the Group may offer these customers
credit terms.

For the business of hotel operations, receivables are normally
settled in advance. However, the Group may offer credit terms to
certain corporate clients.

For the business of hotel management services, hotel design and
construction management services, the Group’s trading terms
with its customers are mainly on credit. The Group has set out
policies to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. The Group also reviews regularly the recoverable amount of
each individual trade receivable balance to ensure that adequate
provision for impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements over such trade receivable balances. Trade
receivables are non-interest-bearing.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of loss
allowance, is as follows:

9. BZRIFIEREREE

(#)

REAEYERBURE—RUTAW TS
NEE  AEARBAXNBAREL
ARG o 2AT > B A RIFIERECHR Z
REPME AEENERAZERR
RHEEER™R

B EEERMES  BUWRIE—RM
ETRSEEE AT AERRMETAE
ERERBEERR

FUBE SRR BERFTREREE
RHBEHZMS  ~EERATFZES
EREBUEERXET - EECH
TEBUR R R AR ETE R AR
B AEETEHERSREGE S E
W R TE A B <z P U (O] 2 28 > IR (R B
Pl EIERREH TR 2 RER R R
AEBI B ZE E 5 RUERGERE
BREABFRNFHEMEEERE
HEo B BURRIER St R o

RIFEZEH RS HRNGREERE
B2 ESRBRIEZ REC DTN T

2023 2022

$°000 $'000

T Tt

Within 3 months =X (EP=I 85,831 101,658
Over 3 months but within 6 months BilE=EAEEAN 19,940 15,350
Over 6 months but within 12 months B@ENMERE+_EBERN 19,460 15,682
Over 12 months BB+ @A 63,769 76,274
189,000 208,964
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19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 19. B ZEINRRIE R EURER
(#)
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade BoREWREZ REBEREEHN
receivables are as follows: T
2023 2022
—EZ= T F
$°000 $000
T T
At 1 January W—A—H 116,742 117,048
Impairment during the year, net (note 6) FRRE 35 (fI5E6) 48,344 10,114
Exchange realignment bl TS EE 2,112) (10,420)
At 31 December BW+-B=+—H 162,974 116,742
The increase in the loss allowance was due to certain outstanding BEBEEINSHERETRERENE
contractual amounts which were considered as default and the R RIEIB A R AN S B K A] S BN
Group is unlikely to receive such outstanding contractual amounts EERIREEENERE
in full.
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by RERSHBELTRBEIBZEERR
reference to the credit risk characteristics of receivables, either BHEGETRED T (RamERIEER) ©
individually or collectively. For receivables with credit risk identified MiEERRBERICZERKFIENS
deteriorated significantly, management makes provision on the BEBEERENEEFHEE T B
individual basis, otherwise, management uses a provision matrix TR REBEEETEHREWRIBZTE
to measure expected credit losses for the rest of the receivables. EEBE -BEXDRERMESSE
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings MBEBREXZZERF R DI ETHHEM
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns. The AT B#GTE c ZETE R IR FIAZEN
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time BRER GEBRERNBRSHATEZ
value of money and reasonable and supportable information BREBEEE BRI MG R R R E
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current HEAZ GERAFEER

conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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19. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continuea)

As at 31 December 2023, the trade receivables amounting to
$103,989,000 (2022: $102,196,000) were assessed individually
and considered to be unlikely for the Group to receive as

outstanding contractual amounts and were fully impaired.

There are no credit enhancements held by the Group on such

outstanding amounts.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure

on the rest of the portion of the Group’s trade receivables using a

provision matrix:

As at 31 December 2023

9. BZRIFIEREREE

(#)

A _E_—F+_"_B=+—H B85
JE U 70 TE103,989,00070 (Z&F — —
102,196,0007T) J5 3248 Bl B 25T > 48
REEEABFERDREEENEEE
ERBERE AERTERZERER
SEFEEEIGRZH-

AEETLERBRFRERS2E 5 BUGK
Bz HEFSoMERZ EERBRERS

I

WZZ2-=F+"HA=+—H

Past due
Less than 3to6 6to 12 Over
Current 3 months months months 12 months Total
Dt =z RnE i)
ENER =fER ~EA +Zf@R +Zf@R st
Expected credit loss rate BHEEEEX 0.995% 5.375% 5.895% 8.250% 50.836% 23.785%
Gross carrying amount ($'000)  4BERME(E (T7T) 86,694 21,073 15,927 16,754 107,537 247,985
Expected credit losses ($'000) BHESEE (T 863 1,133 939 1,382 54,668 58,985
As at 31 December 2022 A BT TF+_A=+—H
Past due
eIkt
Less than 3t06 6012 Over
Current 3 months months months 12 months Total
N =F RE fihc)
BPiA @A ~EA +Z@R +ZEA et
Expected credit loss rate FHEEREX 0.814% 1.537% 2.200% 3.311% 22.056% 6.508%
Gross carrying amount ($'000) RREE (Fr) 102,464 15,554 13,863 37,567 54,062 223,510
Expected credit losses ($'000)  BHAEERIE (F) 834 239 305 1,244 11,924 14,546
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20. CONTRACT ASSETS 20. BHEE

2023 2022
—ZE== BT TF
$°000 $'000
T T

Contract assets arising from: UTEBMELZEHNEE !

Hotel design and construction BN REREEIRE

management services 127,490 113,524
Impairment HE (29,672) (13,367)
97,818 100,157

BB R 5T IR TS R AR (AR R SR 5t AR TSP
BRI Z B m )RR A ENEE ) RE

Contract assets are initially recognised for revenue earned from
hotel design services and the provision of related design services

as the receipt of consideration is conditioned on having reached
certain milestones of the design and customers confirming the
design results. Upon completion of certain milestones of the
design and acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised
as contract assets are reclassified to trade receivables.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract assets
as at 31 December is as follows:

BAEBRENRE UERE TR R
B REFPEDRAERBAIE Tl
ETRAERMIRERZMNE Bt
BEERBEEZSHEENMNERES
FEWGRRIA °

R+ZB=+—BHKOsEEENEE
ZTRHERRSRIAN T

2023 2022

—E-= =T F

$°000 $'000

T T

Within one year —FR 72,248 87,925
After one year —F% 25,570 12,232
Total contract assets SHEELEE 97,818 100,157
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20. CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract
assets are as follows:

0. BHEBEE ®

GREEZREBERFEESNT

2023 2022

$°000 $'000

Tt Tt

At 1 January R—A—H 13,367 8,034
Impairment losses (note 6) BEETE (M5E6) 16,612 6,279
Exchange realignment b A (307) (946)
At 31 December R+-_B=+—H 29,672 13,367

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date by
reference to the credit risk characteristics of contract assets,
either individually or collectively. For contract assets with credit risk
identified deteriorated significantly, management makes provision
on the individual basis, otherwise, management uses a provision
matrix to measure expected credit losses for the rest of the
portion. The provision rates for the measurement of the expected
credit losses on the contract assets are based on those of the
trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables
are from the same customer bases. The provision rates of contract
assets are based on days past due of trade receivables for
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss patterns.
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.

As at 31 December 2023, the contract assets amounting to
$18,573,000 (2022: $11,759,000) were assessed individually and
considered to be unlikely for the Group to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts and were fully impaired. There are no credit
enhancements held by the Group on such outstanding amounts.

RERSHRSEENEEZEERR
BREETRED T (FamERSHHEE) °

EEEERENEEFHER HEHS
TR FHERESEHERE D ZRIE
EBE -mANENEEKRE S BIERIE
TRERBEERE AU EENEE
BREERREZBEXTVREES B
MIAEZBREEBERAERH -aE
EZBHXDRERERELBERET
BnzZERRDEBZBEZRUTIRE
HZ BEGHE - ZEtERRSAR M
ER EBRRERNKRESEHAIR/ZA
FBEFER ERERRAREEE BN
ARz BERAIEER

R ZF+_A=+—H a8E&
E18,573,0007T (ZZ =24 : 11,759,000
70) ThiRE B B2 E 0 AR AN EE R
BIENEIREEGNEEEC2ERA
B AEBEIEMZEREESETE
EEIGRZH-
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20. CONTRACT ASSETS (continued) 20. BHEBEE ®

FrERERAEBERNBGNEEHRR
BoZEERBERESIWT

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure
on the rest of the portion of the Group’s contract assets using a

provision matrix:

2023 2022

$°000 $'000

Tt T

Expected credit loss rate FEHRE ERSIELEE 10.190% 1.580%
Gross carrying amount ($'000) HEARmEE (Fo) 108,917 101,765
Expected credit losses ($'000) TERREEEIE (T 11,099 1,608

OTHER ASSETS

21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND

21. FAMHTRIE ~ A EIRIE

REMEE

2023 2022
—E”= =
Notes $°000 $°000
B 5 T T
Current portion BNEAER 53
Prepayments FafIRIB 22,834 37,251
Deposits and other receivables 1% 55 K Eth FE W 718 88,727 70,249
Amounts due from related parties FEUIRBAE A 718 (@) 5,503 5,315
Amounts due from intermediate  FEUR I BIIZAR A B FIE
holding companies (@) 11,333 14,082
128,397 127,797
Impairment allowance EEE (b) (18,016) (15,064)
110,381 112,733
Non-current portion JFEENHEAER 5
Long-term receivables RHIE WA (© 1,963,471 1,832,874
Impairment allowance HEEE (© (84,500) (48,937)
1,878,971 1,783,937
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21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 21. T I~ EthEURTRIE
OTHER ASSETS (continued) REMEE @

(@ The amounts due from related parties and intermediate @
holding companies are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

(b)  The movements in provision for impairment of other (b)
receivables during the year are as follows:

ERREAN LT RPEERAB Z
MIETSERT S R E RIRERE

o

pil

FER > EhEUWRRIB Z R E RS
;s

2023 2022

$’000 $'000

Tt Tt

At 1 January BR—A—H 15,064 15,745
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) R 1B 2~ BE, CEERE)

during the year in profit or loss, 2758 (M5E6)

net (note 6) 3,065 (93)

Exchange realignment b 2% (113) (588)

At 31 December W+—B=+—H 18,016 15,064

Other than the aforementioned impaired other receivables,
the financial assets included in the above balances relate
to the receivables for which there was no recent history of
default and past due amounts.

Bk Lt ERLE R B FEUGRIE S -
StA LSRR SR E & H T A
W R IE AV EC B S L A = BRBY B IR
TRIEAERE o
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21. PREPAYMENTS, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND
OTHER ASSETS (Continued)

(©

The long-term receivables amounting to approximately
$1,938,247,000 (equivalent to approximately
US$247,992,000) represented the initial deferred amount
arising from the disposal of the Company’s interest in
Parcel C LLC (“Parcel C") of $1,590,508,000 (equivalent to
approximately US$203,500,000) and the relevant interest
generated of $347,739,000 (equivalent to approximately
US$44,492,000). Portion of the deferred amount is
secured by a mortgage on certain condominium units of
Parcel C. As the debtor extended the initial maturity date
of the receivable, an additional impairment of long-term
receivables of $35,401,000 was recognised during the year
by management using the debtor’s cash flow projections
and applying appropriate discount rate. Further details of
the repayment terms have been set out in the Company’s
circular dated 29 September 2020.

(BR5 AR » BHLUBTIIR)

21. FRITRRIE ~ HthFEKTRIR
REMEE @

©

£ %E491,938,247,00070 (FBER
#9247,992,000%7T) Z REBEIK
FIBIEHE AR A T A Parcel C LLC
(TParcel C1) Z#mFIESEZ Y]
AR IE £ 281,590,508,0007T (18
= #9203,500,000% 71) K48
RAF] B£.347,739,0007T (FBEL
44,492,0003=7T) © D IRIEETERLL
Parcel CZETAB BN ZIZIBIE
EF - BREBAIERERRIEZ
TEEIE R MEEER FREA
BEHEAZRESRERALERE
&AL IR X R REINR EAE R IE
2 1E35,401,0007T BB KR
E—SHBENAARESHEAET
LTEREAB -+ AHZER -

The movements in provision for impairment of long-term FARRPERKRIEBEZ RERBE
receivables during the year are as follows: E LN
2023 2022
g = =
$°000 $'000
T T
At 1 January nw—A—H 48,937 19,418
Impairment during the year FRERRE (I:E6)
recognised (note 6) 35,401 29,5625
Exchange realignment bE SR EE 162 6)
At 31 December W+-A=+—H 84,500 48,937
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22. RESTRICTED BANK BALANCE AND CASH

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2. ZIRHRITEFRUARIRE

RIREFEY)

2023 2022
—E=HF B
$°000 $'000
T T
Cash and bank balances RE MIRTTAEER 359,169 1,013,751
Time deposits TEHIERR - 67,170
359,169 1,080,921
Less: restricted bank balance B ZREERITAS BR (13,021) (13,210)
Cash and cash equivalents HWEKRIREEEBEY 346,148 1,067,711

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and cash equivalents
of the Group denominated in RMB amounted to $298,456,000
(2022: $893,494,000). The RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, and Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates or the agreed deposit rates. The time deposit
is made for period of three years. The bank balances and time
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent
history of default.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group has a bank balance under
restriction for a litigation amounting to $13,021,000, as disclosed
in note 30.

RBRERR AEBUAREEZR
& RIS HEY5298,456,00070 (Z
— T 1 893,494,0007T) > ARHEABIE
HRBRAEMER A RIEHERN
2 90 B B IR K 1G] o A5 B ~ 5 BB R T B
BERE AEEEEFEBRERE
SMNEXFBEZIRITHARBRAHME
mé_,zo

RITERRBESRRTERNRIANE
ERAKRBTBHNE - ERERSH
ZFRITHE RN EMERF AL
mENT Iz BEERIT

B _=F+_A=+—H WKz
SOFTINEE » AEEE —FHFA 2 ZIREH
$R1TA5ER13,021,0007T
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+
23. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 23. B ZFERRIE ~ ELfth (T
=+ 2
ACCRUALS RIEKEETE A
An analysis of trade payables, other payables and accruals as at REREEAR - B Z BRI Mt
the end of the reporting period are as follows: BRESAERZ AT
2023 2022
—E== —ETTF
Notes $°000 $'000
B EE T T
Trade payables B Z N RIE a 34,443 23,479
Other payables and accruals Hih e HRIB R ESTE B 274,315 254,864
Interest payable to an intermediate & — B PRI AT F &
holding company - 71,350
Amounts due to an intermediate  FE{J— B P REIZER A B IE b
holding company 80,138 665,734
Amounts due to related parties ~ FE{TRAE A L7R1E b 24,610 288,073
413,506 1,303,500
Notes: Bd5E -
a. None of the Group’s trade payables are expected to be settled after a. MEAEEESEMRBERRNE
more than one year (2022: Nil). B—FREE CTZTTF E) o
The ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the RIBFZBELH RBREHRZEZE
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: IFIEZ RE DU ¢
2023 2022
—E-=H BT
$°000 $'000
T Tt
Within 3 months =@EBEWN 26,462 15,099
Over 3 months but within 6 months 838 =182 E/XMEB A 392 2,899
Over 6 months but within 12 months ~ #8i@/XE BB+ @2 K 48 11
Over 12 months BB+ @A 7,541 5,470
34,443 23,479
b.  The amounts due to an intermediate holding company and related b. EBN—EFEZERABRKRBEALTZ
parties are repayable on demand and all these balances are RIBHEREREER MZEERE
unsecured and interest-free. EAEEREREE
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24. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(FR5AEERAS > BHLBTIIR)

2023 2022

—E== B

$°000 $'000

T T

Sale of goods ERiAE 3,350 4,419

Loyalty programme management services Bt EI B IRARFS 55,332 38,463

Hotel management services JBEEIRRT 141,615 66,600
Hotel design and hotel construction B RBIEER EIERE

management services 16,491 17,534

Other services HAARTS 981 1,220

Total contract liabilities BHEaERE 217,769 128,236

Analyses into: DA

Current portion EDHRER > 109,998 62,401

Non-current portion JERPEREE 107,771 65,835

217,769 128,236

BEBERRAMRAT 251

TSR



Notes to Financial Statements

RS MY EE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated) (BxBAEEAS » HLGETTHITR)

25. LOANS FROM AN INTERMEDIATE HOLDING
COMPANY

Loans from an intermediate holding company were repayable as
follows:

25. —[EPEZER AT

&

£k
3 A

\

—EREER AR EMRZERRUNT -

2023 2022
—EZ= T F
$’000 $'000
T T
Loans from an intermediate —EFEER AR ER
holding company 4,342 11,404

Notes:

a. The carrying amounts of all the Group’s loans from an intermediate
holding company during the year were denominated in Hong Kong
dollar (“HK$”). The denominated amounts at the year end are as

a. FRorEER-BPEERASZE
BERZERAEBEILUET (TET) 5t
B-RERZEBSHESENT !

follows:
2023 2022
—E-=HF BT
$°000 $'000
T T
HK$ loan and borrowing BITERRER 4,342 11,404

This loan bears interest at a rate of 4% per annum.

b. Interest incurred during the year ended 31 December 2023 and
interest payable to an intermediate holding company as at 31
December 2023 are set out in notes 8 and 23, respectively.
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26. SHARE CAPITAL

26. f&7

2023 2022
—ZE== BT TF
$°000 $000
T Tt
Issued and fully paid: BEITRER
4,697,346,488 (2022: 4,697,346,488) 4,697,346,488f% (& _F:
ordinary shares 4,697,346,488(%) @& 469,735 469,735

27. RESERVES

(a)

(b)

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 146
to 147 of the financial statements.

Nature and purpose of reserves
Share premium

The application of the share premium is governed by the
Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda.

Statutory reserve

In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC and
the respective articles of association of the PRC group
companies, each of the subsidiaries of the Group that is
domiciled in the PRC is required to allocate 10% of its
profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the PRC
Accounting Regulations, to the statutory surplus reserve
until such reserve reaches 50% of its respective registered
capital.

Exchange reserve

The foreign currency translation reserve represents
exchange differences arising from the translation of the
financial statements of the Company and foreign operations
whose functional currencies are different from the Group’s
presentation currency.

27.

() RAEERBEEE AEHZ

146EBIATEZ IR RIBEER
eI

L) FEEEERBR
B iEE

RIVBEZERZERE—NN\—
FREERE

EEfER

BEREABRERTHER QT
ZAERRMER SR NEEN PR
Mz &M B QB ERERDE10%
BIRRIR & m ] (IRB PR 5tHE
B EAERGHEE BEEZSF
HHREESBEMELRRB0%-

ERNE

SNEMBERBEIRREART R
SEERANRAEEZ2IEEZ
BN EB M BRERAEEZ
FERERRC
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27. RESERVES (Continued)

(b) Nature and purpose of reserves (Continued)

Special reserve

The special reserve of the Group represents (i) the difference
between the aggregate nominal value of the share capital of
the Company’s subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value
of the shares issued by the Company in connection with
the Group’s reorganisation; and (i) adjustments made to the
amounts of controlling and non-controlling interests to reflect
the change in the relative interests as a result of changes in
the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in a
loss of control.

Merger reserve

The merger reserve represents (i) the difference between
the fair value of the consideration paid to Wanda HK, an
intermediate holding company to the Company, for the
acquisition of the entire interest in Wanda Hotel Management
(Hong Kong) Co. Limited and its subsidiaries, which are
under common control of Wanda HK, and the carrying
amounts of the net assets of Wanda Hotel Management
Group acquired; and (ii) the difference between nil
consideration and carrying amounts of the net assets of
Wanda Hotel Design and Research Institute Co., Ltd, which
was acquired under common control of Wanda Commercial
Management.

Distributable reserves

The Company’s share premium, special reserve and retained
earnings as at 31 December 2023 may be distributable
to shareholders, after netting off with the convertible bond
reserve in certain circumstances prescribed by Section 54 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981.

As at 31 December 2023, the aggregate amount of reserves
available for distribution to equity holders of the Company
was $1,386,113,000 (2022: $1,330,893,000).
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(b)

HEEERBR @
5

FEBESRIFEBIE)ESATIFTRE
MEABZRAEEMBERLA
B AEREMRFRETZROE
BZERR ; RUIERKRIFERE
mEFRIFH 2B URRE A&
ERMEARZ EmES (LEE
BUREERI) PREE 2 B #m

28

aitfEE

aftFEHERIMEEREBSEEE
(BB BRRE EBEEE (—
AP REER A B]) ZRHEER) RE
WEBASMRSRESBEXMAE
ZARBEEMEEBEERESE
EEEFECREEZHNESE;
Kl @B = B IR RS TS
NEEBERAEREAERAE
(Wanda Hotel Design and Research
Institute Co., LidIZ R EHRE EF
BZREBEZENELRE

A IR

A BT =ZFE+_B=+—H%
RBVZ AR R E  FER BB KRB
BIRBRE—NN—F28E
BEMEFTAE 2 ETIER TN
MR ESEERAIEDIKTR
o
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28. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 28. HER EAIFIEE R RYER
MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS NHEARB AT
The following tables list out the information relating to subsidiaries TRENAEBREEEAFIERER
of the Group which have material non-controlling interests (“NCI”). (MR )) BUME A B &Rl e T X
The summarised financial information presented below represents R R BRI EA R E TR AR
the amounts before any inter-company elimination. MEERYEEE
Wanda
Wanda Americas
Properties Real Estate
Investment Investment
Limited Limited
Group Group
BEEN
BEBERE MERE
BIRATEER BRATEH
$’000 $’000
T T
2023 —E-=
Percentage of equity interest held by NCI JEIEfE T AR B O L 49% 40%
Profit for the year allocated to NCI PDEFIEERERNAFE R 17,480 8,416
Dividends declared to NCI BEIRTIFERETHNRE 61,066 -
Accumulated balances/(deficit) of NCl at R R &5 B ARV IEIE R e 25 2 5t
the reporting date ihER (B4t 605,089 (26,674)
2022 g
Percentage of equity interest held by NCI QH’EHXE AN EmE DL 49% 40%
Profit for the year allocated to NCI PDEFIEERERNAFE &N 14,941 24,793
Dividends declared to NCI ST IEERERINRE 194,310 -
Accumulated balances/(deficit) of NCl at 7 ¥R &5 H HIRYIEIE R i 2 B 51
the reporting date iEER 7 (B4 656,924 (36,789)
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28. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH

(BR5 AR » BHLUBTIIR)

28. A EAIFEREmAYER

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS NHEENBEAT @
(Continued)
Wanda
Wanda Americas
Properties Real Estate
Investment Investment
Limited Limited
Group Group
BiEENMN
BEBERE MEKE
BRAEEHE BRAFEH
$°000 $°000
T T
2023 ==
Revenue Lléz* 89,006 -
Total expense and other net (loss)/gain 4858~ & E fth (§518) Wz 528 (53,332) 21,038
Profit for the year AEEn A 35,674 21,038
Total comprehensive income for the year Z~FEE 2 EUX A 4858 18,837 25,286
Current assets TRBNE E 85,499 1,172
Non-current assets ERBEE 1,379,376 1,853,746
Current liabilities kI =N (55,683) (1,921,603)
Non-current liabilities ELEIR=R (174,318) -
Net cash flows from EXZRERE TR
— operating activities — TR 7,854 (2,191)
- financing activities —RLE R (124,624) -
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [EXEE) > 22 &8 (69) 3
Net decrease in cash and cash ReEMIRESEYRL FEE
equivalents (116,839) (2,188)
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28. PARTLY-OWNED SUBSIDIARIES WITH 28. ¥ER E R HEZR AV 1

MATERIAL NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS NHEENBEAT @
(Continued)
Wanda
Wanda Americas
Properties Real Estate
Investment Investment
Limited Limited
Group Group
BEENM
BEBERE MEKE
BERRTEH BERREEH
$'000 $'000
Tz Tt
2022 —ZE-=
Revenue & 98,191 -
Total expense and other net (loss)/gain 488X K& HoAth (518) W 358 (67,699) 61,983
Profit for the year RER @A 30,492 61,983
Total comprehensive (loss)/income AEEZE (518) IRALLEE
for the year (73,916) 61,718
Current assets MENEE 153,964 3,360
Non-current assets JERBEE 1,407,214 1,792,410
Current liabilities ViEZI=NE (46,426) (1,887,741)
Non-current liabilities JEREEE (174,091) -
Net cash flows from EXZIREREFEHE
— operating activities — R 26,474 345
— financing activities —REES) (1,390,885) -
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [E K& )~ §/ £ (3,676) -
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReRREEEY (R
and cash equivalents EAFEE (1,368,087) 345
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  29. &8 IR&nERMI:E
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Major non-cash transactions () EXIERERS
During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to TR REE R F] 433,391,000
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of $3,391,000 7T (ZE "4 :8,795,0007T)
(2022: $8,795,000) and $3,391,000 (2022: $8,795,000), 53,391,000t (& - =
respectively, in respect of lease arrangements. 8,795,0007T) BRIEEZHHERF
AEEERBEEBZIFRER
=,
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) REZEFFIEENEEES
2023 ==
Loans Interest Amounts
froman payable to an due to an
intermediate  intermediate  intermediate
holding holding holding Lease
company company company liabilities

—f fEfd—f fEft—F
PRERAE FEERAE PRERAR
ZER A} W HE&RE

$000 $000 $000 $000
T T T T

At 1 January 2023 R_E2_-%—H—H 11,404 71,350 665,734 387,997
Changes from financing cash flows BHERERELT) (7,062) (76,213) (585,606) (52,237)
New leases EIHE - - - 3,391
Interest expense F 2% - 289 - 21,687
Exchange realignment R AR - 4,574 10 (5,646)
At 31 December 2023 R_E_=F+"A=1—H 4,342 - 80,138 355,192
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  29. &8 IR&REaRMT @
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) BB EBIFFELEMNSEES)
(Continued) #)
2022 = S—
Loans Interest Amounts
foman  payable to an due toan
intermedliate intermediate  intermediate
holding holding holding Lease
company company company liabilities

—f8 Ef—m Fef—mM
TEERAR PEERAT TEHERAT

ZEm ZFIE 2B HEaR

$'000 $'000 $000 $'000

T T T T

At 1 January 2022 RZZ-_F—-F—H 873,000 256,589 786,930 424,436

Changes from financing cash flows HEREREED (861,59) (194,765) (121,075) (32,182)

New leases mEIE - - - 8,795

Interest expense FERYZ - 9,535 - 23,818

Exchange realignment EREE - 9 (121) (36,870)

At 31 December 2022 RIZZZE+ZA=+—H 11,404 71,350 665,734 387,997

() Total cash outflow for leases (¢ MHERERL4EEE
The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of FARERERZEERSRME
cash flows is as follows: 4BERUNS -

2023 2022

—E=H TEC

$°000 $'000

F T

Within operating activities KSR 6,546 6,829

Within financing activities MEEFRN 52,237 32,182

58,783 39,011
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29. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  29. &8 IR&REaRMT @
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(d) Total taxes paid (d) BIRIB4EEE
The total taxes paid during the year were: FRBENRIEAREE

2023 2022

== S

$’000 $'000

T Tt

Operating activities: KEEE) .
PRC CIT paid B PEREME 59,653 79,915
30. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 30. AREE
In August 2022, a plaintiff, a hotel owner who had engaged a RIZEZ_FENR —HEBEREAEEH
subsidiary of the Group to provide hotel management services, —EE A BREAEEEEREIVAS
commenced a legal proceeding against the subsidiary, alleging E=FEAREHZNBEARIRL EEN
that the subsidiary of the Group was in breach of the hotel o BBAERNZNBARERTZ
management services contract signed previously. The plaintiff B AEEIERBE SN - BERE
is now claiming loss and damages in the sum of approximately K%@E’]aﬁﬁﬁ?@ﬁ%ﬁ%%ﬁ%&?ﬁ%ﬁ%
RMB11,800,000 (equivalent to approximately $13,021,000) B4 AR #11,800,0007c FEERH
against the subsidiary of the Group. The operation of a bank 13,021,0007T) ° FIL > 3N B 75 3R P e
account of the subsidiary of the Group with a bank balance of 20PN EE > AEEZEM B AT —EIR
$13,021,000 was therefore restricted by the court as disclosed in TIER (R1T74588713,021,0007T) HIEE
note 22 to the financial statements. Given the internal assessment EEEPERE o IRIE AT R BILE
and the legal advice from an independent legal advisor, the ZEENZERR AR EEDRAR
directors of the Company are of the opinion that the outcome of VAS R i AR ©

the hearing cannot be ascertained.

31. COMMITMENT 31. 7KIE
The Group had the following commitments provided to joint REBEPEGZSRERMBAVEENT !
ventures:
2023 2022
$°000 $'000
T T
Contracted, but not provided for: EETHERERE
Capital contribution to joint ventures AEEtETE 4,855 4,366
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32. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY 32. ERFEBEATRS

TRANSACTIONS
(a) The Group had the following significant transactions with (@) ZFEEREREREATETY
related parties during the year: TEARS
2023 2022
—E-=F BT F
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Companies controlled by REERIRREGZ
the ultimate controlling NCII
shareholder:
Sale of goods EmifE 25,036 26,108
Financial shared MBEZRBHZ
service expense 2,868 1,075
Property management MEESERBEHS
service expense 4,062 4,613
Hotel service received BB RS 2,005 570
Hotel design service income  SEE R 5T ARFS WA 19,536 28,014
Hotel construction BIEEFEERBUA
management service income 6,529 1,236
Hotel management BIEEERBEIA
service income 82,355 55,002
Rental income HEUWA 6,833 5,907
Rental expense HERY 12,010 14,191
Advertising expense EERE 850 307
Training expense B 263 44
Maintenance cost 3 I 241 7
Entrusted management L EERBM:
services expense 21,991 25,008
Rendering of technical service 12 (551l AR 75 976 -
Interest on loans (note 8) EFFAE (H5E8) 289 9,535
Recharge of (BB EERE
entertainment expenses - 21
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32. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) The Group had the following significant transactions with
related parties during the year: (Continued)

The above transactions rendered were made according to

the mutually agreed prices and conditions offered to the
major customers of the Group.

(b) Transactions with key management personnel

The remuneration of key management personnel of the
Group, including amounts paid to the Company’s directors,

32. EXKAEALTRG @

(a)

(b)

REBPFAEBEATETL
TERRS : (&)

ERRZIRBERETAEEE
BERZHERHE BB RIFFE
Ho

HIEFEWABZRS

REEZ TEEEASHW (B4
ENEARNEFZHR) WNT

is as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= BT HF
$°000 $'000
T Tt
Short-term employee benefits RHREBET 27,404 16,371

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s
emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial
statements.
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32. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY

TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

RAFS R MY EE

(FR5AEERAS > BHLBTIIR)

32. EXKAEALTRG @

(c) Outstanding balances with related parties (© AR AL ZREEBEERR
2023 2022
—E-= B
$°000 $'000
T Tt
Trade receivables and contract WU TALTZE G EWRRIER
assets due from ENEE
Fellow subsidiaries EENEYNE] 155,210 147,077
Prepayments and other FEWIA T AL ZFEAHRIEREM
receivables due from FEW RIS
The intermediate holding companies ~ FE1ZR A F 11,333 14,982
Fellow subsidiaries EENEYNE] 10,724 20,493
Receipt in advance from WERL T AT ZFE(TRRIE
Fellow subsidiaries EENNEYNE] 3,122 143
Contract liability sHaE
Fellow subsidiaries EENEYNE] - 4,148
Trade payables and other U TALTZEZEEGRIER
payables due to HfEdmRE
An intermediate holding company —RIREIERAE] 80,138 737,084
Fellow subsidiaries BRMEAE] 35,977 288,073
Loans from B
An intermediate holding company —RIFR IR AT 4,342 11,404

Except the loans from an intermediate holding company, the
other balances are unsecured, interest-free and have no fixed

terms of repayment.

FRHR

Br—EhEER A Z &I
fhig A EIRN R REEEE

i

B
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32. SIGNIFICANT RELATED PARTY
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(d) Applicability of the Listing Rules relating to

connected transactions

The related party transactions in respect of the sale of
goods, property management service expense, hotel
design service income, hotel construction management
service income, hotel management service income, rental
income, rental expense and entrusted management services
expense disclosed above constitute continuing connected
transactions or connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

The related party transactions in respect of loans from
an intermediate holding company and other related
party transactions disclosed above constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined
in Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules. However, they are
exempt from the disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 3B HEHE D ZzERMT A
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial R ERR > FENEMT A REE
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows: AW
Financial assets ERBEE

Financial assets
at amortised cost

ST RZEMEE
2023 2022
—E-= BT
$’000 $'000
T Tt
Long-term receivables RHEAEW IS 1,878,971 1,783,937
Trade and bills receivables B 5 I K E N R 189,110 214,665
Financial assets included in prepayments AN REREMEWREIEY
and other receivables SRIEE 70,196 61,908
Restricted bank balance SRR TAE BR 13,021 13,210
Cash and cash equivalents BERIBEEEY 346,148 1,067,711
2,497,446 3,141,431
Financial liabilities TRaE
Financial liabilities
at amortised cost
HBHEHR ST IRz EMEHE
2023 2022
—E= TETTF
$°000 $'000
FT Tt
Lease liabilities HEaE 355,192 387,997
Financial liabilities included in trade S AEBZENRIE EMtMEATR
payables, other payables and accruals BREFERZEHEE 282,918 1,168,382
Loans from an intermediate holding company — R IR A T & 4,342 11,404
642,452 1,567,783
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34.

35.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY
OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial instruments
reasonably approximate to their fair values.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade and bills receivables, financial assets included
in current portion of prepayments and other receivables, financial
liabilities included in lease liabilities, trade and other payables
and accruals and loans from an intermediate holding company
approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to the short-
term maturities of these instruments. The fair value of the long-term
receivables have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for receivables with
similar terms, credit risk and remaining maturities.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise cash and
cash equivalents and loans from an intermediate holding company.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance
for the Group’s operations. The Group has various other financial
assets and liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and trade
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments
are foreign currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group
does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading
purposes. The directors review and agree policies for managing
each of these risks and they are summarised below:
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. SRt AGEIEEELREE

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Foreign currency risk

The Group’s business was principally conducted in RMB. The
functional currency of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC was
RMB and these subsidiaries do not have significant monetary
assets or liabilities denominated in currencies other than their
respective functional currencies.

The Group’s exposure to currency risk during the year was
primarily through the long-term receivables and the amount
payable to an intermediate holding company that are denominated
in USD.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the

(#)
SN LB

FEBZEBIBEUARBET K&
ERPEZNEARZEEEBAR
> BZEMNBATLRFAEURES
BINBEERLUN ERFHEZEAER
BEYEE

FEERFTFETERUETHEZE

HAREWGR IR R R — R R EER AT Z
FIAMAZ EEEE-

TRITEERZ BTN RS IR E

reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the exchange R BIBAEEF 2 BURE
rates on the Group’s equity.
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease)
exchange rate in equity
BELH R,
(FER) (R
% $'000
T
2023 —z-=
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against the US$  {HE TR ETTiE 1 18,111
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against the US$ i 78 70 7 =T iE (& (1) (18,111)
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against the RMB #8757 AR K82 (& 1 3,150
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against the RMB #7875 57 A R #8182 (& (1) (3,150)
2022 TETCHF
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against the US$  {HB TR E iz & 1 10,597
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against the US$ #7875 7 E T E 1) (10,597)
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens against the RMB & 757 A R Bz (& 1 7,828
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens against the RMB {78 7t 7 A R 12 & (1) (7,828)
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk

The Group has no concentrations of credit risk. The extent of the
Group’s credit exposure is represented by the aggregate balance
of cash and cash equivalents, restricted bank balance, trade
and bills receivables, contract assets, prepayments and other
receivables and long-term receivables.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 December. The amounts presented are
gross carrying amounts for financial assets and the exposure to
credit risk for the financial guarantee contracts.
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. £RiAMG S IEEHERKE

AND POLICIES (continueq) #)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE ®
As at 31 December 2023 RIE_=F+"HA=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12{8R
HEHiEE
B FERHEEHE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage3  approach Total
F1EE FPEER IR MEAHE st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T T T Fr T
Long-term receivables* REARMFUE
- Normal —IF® 25,225 - - - 25,225
— Doubtful —Al&E - 1,938,246 - - 1,938,246
Trade and bills receivables* B S IR FEIR
- Normal —1F® - - - 248,095 248,095
- Doubtful —nJ&¢ - - - 103,989 103,989
Financial assets included in 5t AR RUE K HA
prepayments and other EWFIEZ &/t
receivables* BE"
- Normal - 73,463 - - - 73,463
- Doubtful — o]k - - 14,749 - 14,749
Contract assets* BNEE
- Normal —IF® - - - 108,917 108,917
- Doubtful —oJ5¢ - - - 18,573 18,573
Restricted bank balance ZIRFIRITAER
- Not yet past due — R AER 13,021 - - - 13,021
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY
— Not yet past due — BRI 346,148 - - - 346,148
457,857 1,938,246 14,749 479,574 2,890,426
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. SRR GEIEEEREE

AND POLICIES (continueq) (&)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE ®
As at 31 December 2022 RW_E-—F+"A=+—H
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
12188
BHEE
#5158 FERBEEHE
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
1R FEoPEER FEIMEER BIEA % st
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Fr T T T T
Long-term receivables* REAE R E 1,832,874 - - - 1,832,874
Trade and bills receivables* B 5 BRI K K
- Normal ~IF5 - - - 229,211 229,211
- Doubtful —Al&E - - - 102,196 102,196
Financial assets included in SABATRIERE M
prepayments and other WHRIBz SHEE
receivables™
- Normal —1E% 61,908 - - - 61,908
- Doubtful —Al&E - - 15,064 - 15,064
Contract assets® BHNEE"
— Normal ~Eg - - - 101,765 101,765
- Doubitful —oJ5% - - - 11,759 11,759
Restricted bank balance R IRFIRITAER
- Not yet past due — R 13,210 - - - 13,210
Cash and cash equivalents RehBEEEY
- Not yet past due — e R 1,067,711 - - - 1,067,711
2,975,703 - 15,064 444,931 3,435,698
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. SRt AGEIEEELREE

AND POLICIES (continueq) (#)

Credit risk (Continued) EERRE @

* For trade receivables and contract assets to which the Group - MAEEEBBLREREZZERRE
applies the simplified approach for impairment, information based on BWREREHNEEMS  BENEEE
the provision matrix is disclosed in note 19 and 20 to the financial fe > B B B P 3R R MO 5E 1920
statements, respectively. 55 o

*  The credit quality of the financial assets included in long-term ** st ARBAEKRIE AN RIERE
receivables, prepayments and other receivables is considered to be fFE U R IE 2 & R 22 0 SR i HR B iR
“normal” when they are not past due and there is no information BENETZESTHNEEZFERR
indicating that the financial assets had a significant increase in credit BEERLIREEEN A EEE
risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the BEWEAIER SAZEcHEE
financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”. ZIEEERWAAAIRE ©

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to BERAE B 5 e WRIE K EWE

credit risk arising from trade and bills receivables, contract assets B aNEEURENRIEREMEK

and prepayments and other receivables are disclosed in note 19, MBS Mz EERE S EEED

20 and 21 to the financial statements, respectively. AR BA TSR FRMI5E19 20 214K B8 ©
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= LA £ s
35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  35. &Rt R EIEBEREE
AND POLICIES (continueq) (#)
Liquidity risk MENE RS
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring REBRFBREERBERHETARE
liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both RHEFTRMRZAR -ZTAB A&
its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade and bills EEvERTEANTSHEE GIUNEZIE
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. WERIE R FEU ZR15) 2 BIHA B MU FaRA AR
EREBIRERE
The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity REBRZBRAGEEZENRIERE
of funding and flexibility through trade payables and other ENTIE  ER—BTEIZERATE
payables, use of loans from an intermediate holding company and AR EEBERE SRR B E
lease liabilties. DN i AR T
The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end R|ERR AEBENRBEFTAOXRITR
of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted NRzemaBrIREROT
payments, is as follows:
2023
—EZ=
Less than
1 year or on 1to2 2to5 Over
demand years years 5 years Total
—ERE
BRER —ERFE WELFE BRLIF st
$°000 $°000 $°000 $°000 $°000
T T T T T
Lease liabilities HEEE 45,788 38,165 112,605 312,413 508,971
Loans from an intermediate  —RIPREIER AT ER
holding company 4,516 - - - 4,516
Trade payables and other B 5T E R E A FE
payables FIE 282,918 - - - 282,918
333,222 38,165 112,605 312,413 796,405
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES  35. &RiE SR B &R
AND POLICIES (continueq) (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEBEEREE @
2022
g THF
Less than
1 year oron 1t02 2t05 Over
demand years years 5 years Total
—FRR
BEX —EME MERE BEaF st
$000 $'000 $000 $'000 $000
Tt Tt Tt Tt Tt
Lease liabilities HE&E 53,490 44,086 112,726 355,358 565,660
Loans from an intermediate ~ —fEPREIER AT ER
holding company 11,860 - - - 11,860
Trade payables and other B 5B T IE R E A FE
payables A 1,168,382 - - - 1,168,382
1,233,732 44,086 112,726 355,358 1,745,902

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk
characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the
capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to
shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the year.

BErEE

FEBEAEBE TEERERRELRE
BRAREECEZENRERREZ
BARLER UXFHHEBRBERSR
RZfEE

AEEERREARRE  LRIEERR
EHREREEZ ARFEEREE-
WEFRNABERRE  FEEN D
EORRIKE BRREBEEAREET
MR - AEETERELEENER
HREZF &g -
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 35. £ptESGEIEEHEREER
AND POLICIES (continueq) (&)

Capital management (Continued) BEXREE @
FERTRERGBLERREHBHEE
EREEER - BAEBRLEEREREAU
BEFERUEEPEREEDR Wﬁ‘?ﬁ
E-BEFHEEE—MPEERASE
m)\ﬁfﬁ%&fﬁﬁﬁﬁw°Tﬂ‘%¥ﬁ§§tt
ERDEaBERERBRRENAERE
MBEBE - NREARZELREBELEE

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio and a debt-to-
asset ratio. The gearing ratio is defined as net debt divided by
net debts and total equity or total assets. Net debt comprises
loans from an intermediate holding company less cash and
cash equivalents. The debt-to-asset ratio is total liabilities net of
advances from customers and contract liabilities divided by total
assets. The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting period

were as follows: wmr
As at 31 December
®w+=ZBA=+—H
2023 2022
—E-= BT TF
$°000 $'000
Fr T
Total debts EF54EER (4,342) (11,404)
Less: Total cash and bank balances* IR RIRTTASERARRE 359,169 1,080,921
Net cash REFE8 354,827 1,069,517
Total equity aress 3,286,433 3,187,483
Total assets EEE 4,552,607 5,261,205
Gearing ratios: BAAGELE
Net debts over aggregate of net debts and {75 B RBR LB BEEH Net Cash Net Cash
total equity MmN REFEE REFEB
Net debts over total assets B RRERUEEE Net Cash Net Cash
H&FEE IR
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35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

The debt-to-asset ratio as at the end of the reporting period was

(FR5AEERAS > BHLBTIIR)

35. TRbEEEEBERECR

&)

BAEE ®

RREARZEBHEELRNT ¢

as follows:
2023 2022
—E-= B
$°000 $°000
T Tt
Total liabilities RSN 1,266,174 2,073,722
Less: Receipts in advance B BREB® (9,842) (7,360)
Contract liabilities BHEE (217,769) (128,236)
1,038,563 1,938,126
Total assets BEE 4,552,607 5,261,205
Debt-to-asset ratio BEHEELX 22.8% 36.8%

As at the date that these consolidated financial statements were
approved, there is no event after the reporting period which should

be disclosed.

36. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

36. IREHAREIE

RESEEVHRREMLEDDR BiE

ATREZHREHRER
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. A BIBATEIRA R

THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

RE|BEHR > TR BN RTE R

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

2023 2022
== TEICF
$000 $'000
T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FrRBEE
Right-of-use assets FRESE 2,167 3,612
Investments in subsidiaries RRBARZEKE 1,087,035 1,087,035
Total non-current assets FRBEERE 1,089,202 1,090,647
CURRENT ASSETS MENEE
Other receivables HAh W 3,240 3,059
Amounts due from an intermediate e — FEﬂEF‘F'EﬁTIE UNCIE
holding company 1,871 5,382
Amounts due from subsidiaries BB ARIZIE 1,180,616 1,099,777
Cash and cash equivalents RERIREEEY 52,252 90,268
Total current assets TREBEAE 1,237,979 1,198,486
CURRENT LIABILITIES mEaRE
Other payables HMENRIE 3,538 5,739
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHE A BIFIE 461,217 467,698
Loans from an intermediate holding company —EREERABE 4,342 11,404
Interest payable to an intermediate FE— R R R A
holding company - 24
Lease liabilities HEaE 1,477 1,399
Total current liabilities MEBEAE 470,574 486,264
NET CURRENT ASSETS MENBEEEE 767,405 712,222
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES #“EERFEEE 1,856,607 1,802,869
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 3le§ﬂﬁ1*
Lease liabilities EafE 759 2,241
Net assets BEFE 1,855,848 1,800,628
EQUITY e
Equity attributable to owners BAEEE AELER
of the parent
Share capital g7 469,735 469,735
Reserves & 1,386,113 1,330,893
Total equity 4R 1,855,848 1,800,628
Ning Qifeng Han Xu
s e
Execuz‘/ve Director Non-executive Director
HITEER FEHITEE
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37. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 37. RATIBFBAR AR @
THE COMPANY (Continued)
Note: B 5E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: RABIHEBEBHENT
Share Special Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
5 iRE YR E Retksig st
$’000 $'000 $'000 $'000
T Tt Tt T
At 1 January 2022 W_E__&F—H—H 1,935,266 127,961 (916,042) 1,147,185
Profit for the year and total REEBMRAEE
comprehensive profit @A AEER
for the year - - 183,708 183,708
At 31 December 2022 and RIZE__H+"-B=+—H
1 January 2023 r_E_=F—HA—H 1,935,266 127,961 (732,334) 1,330,893
Profit for the year and total REE RN R AFE
comprehensive profit 2E = 4E%E
for the year - - 55,220 55,220
At 31 December 2023 RoZ-—&+-"A=+—0 1935266 127,961 677,114) 1,386,113

38. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  38. #L/EBIFRERR

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue MBRAN_ZTOFE=RZ+HAK
by the board of directors on 25 March 2024. EEGHAERIRET) o
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Financial Summary

M2

Year ended 31 December

HE+_A=+—HLEE

2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
“F-NF CZIIF "B ZT°°F "BI=E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FiEx FET TET TER
Continuing operations FEREER
Revenue W& 812,948 655,419 873,659 816,780 983,068
(Loss)/profit before tax from RELEEB ZBRRA
continuing operations (B8 /R (596,711) 135,508 390,924 299,031 280,334
Income tax credit/(expenses) from  FFELE £ 5 2 FriEi
continuing operations K%/ FED) 78,643 (39,409) (139,664) (66,055) (89,284)
(Loss)/profit for the year from FEREER I REE
continuing operations (#518) /&F (518,068) 96,099 251,260 232,976 191,050
Discontinued operations RIHRE R
Profit for the year from BIEREEB 2 AEE
discontinued operations el 129,444 134,057 - - -
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (518 /&F (388,624) 230,156 251,260 232,976 191,050
(Loss)/profit attributable to ISYNSIE 7PN/
owners of the parent (&518) /& (150,387) 165,131 233,070 193,242 165,154
Non-controlling interests JEER R (238,237) 65,025 18,190 39,734 25,896
(Loss)/profit for the year AEE (518 /& (388,624) 230,156 251,260 232,976 191,050
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AT E

At 31 December

®+ZB=+—H
2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
Z2-hEF IZE2IZF BT -F ITRITE IZBI=E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHET FHET FHET FHT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BERARE

Total assets BEE 9592979 6,568,754  7,205384 5261205 4,552,607
Total liabilities ek 6,949,660 3,782,161 3,357,763 2,073,722 1,266,174
Net assets EEFE 2,643,310 2,786,593 3,847,621 3,187,483 3,286,433

Equity attributable to owners (SYNSIEZZSDN/ Sy g

of the parent 1,921,479 2,219,981 2534421 2,567,348 2,708,018
Non-controlling interests JEER R 721,831 566,612 1,313,200 620,135 578,415
Total equity R 2643310 2,786,593 3,847,621 3,187,483 3,286,433
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Property Portfolio
ESES

1. PROPERTY HELD FOR INVESTMENT 1. FHEREYE

Gross Group’s Term of
Location Existing use floor area interest lease
iig RS BEEDR TEENEE faHA

(sq-m.) (%)

(5K

The Shopping Mall of Commercial 162,440 51% Medium
Site P05, north to [EES AR

Huan Cheng Nan Road

No. 1, Guilin, Guangxi Zhuang
Autonomous Region, the PRC
FEEALREERE
HEMTIRBE —
PAIEPOSH 1R 5 35
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